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Preface

I became a legal historian of the South quite by accident. My students 
made me do it. My conversion, like this book itself, began in “Law and 
Society in American History,” a course I teach at Davidson College 
in North Carolina. Determined to expose my students to the joys of 
legal-historical research, I experimented with a format that, for me, 
was novel: collaborative scholarship. All of my seminar students and I 
would work together to produce a single research paper. I intended this 
effort to be a training device. The collaborative research exercise would, 
I hoped, teach students the techniques that they would need in order to 
write good individual papers at the end of the term.*

Immediately, however, the collaborative research project outgrew its 
role as a pedagogical means to an end and became an end in itself. Stu-
dents loved working as a team and were passionate about their shared 
topic. When the time came to shift to individual papers, they pleaded 
for permission to continue with their group project. I granted their 
motion. The result, multiplied by eight, is now in your hands.

All eight chapters in this volume originated as group papers in my 
collaborative research seminar. In each case, additional research and 
writing followed the end of the seminar, resulting in the versions of 
the papers that appear here. All chapters concern the legal history of a 
single state: North Carolina. Because each seminar student must visit 
at least one research archive during the term and because I teach in 
North Carolina, a steady diet of home-state topics seemed a practical 
necessity. This necessity, however, quickly became a virtue. My students 
and I discovered that North Carolina has a fascinating but little studied 
legal history. Because all chapters concern law in a single state, common 
themes and characters recur, weaving the papers together into a single 
tome. And because North Carolina is a southern state, its history is rich 

*See John W. Wertheimer, “The Collaborative Research Seminar,” Journal of American 
History 88 (Mar. 2002): 1476–81.



with disputes concerning issues—race, religion, cultural values—that 
resonate powerfully to this day.

This book is collaborative in more than its classroom genesis. Many 
people helped bring it to fruition. Editors Michele Gillespie and Wil-
liam A. Link provided guidance and much-appreciated encourage-
ment. To their credit, they viewed the project’s unorthodox origins as a 
strength, not a weakness.

Several generous readers offered valuable feedback regarding one or 
more of the chapters. Eight of these readers were kind enough to make 
personal—and always productive—visits to my seminar over the years:  
Pamela Grundy, Suzanne Cooper Guasco, Nancy Hewitt, Martha 
Hodes, Stephen Kantrowitz, Brian Luskey, Rebecca Scott, and Richard 
Wertheimer.

Seven of my seminar students deserve special acknowledgment for 
continuing to work on their chapters after their seminars ended: Brian 
Luskey, Michael Daly, Mark Jones, Alison Kalett, Charles Rayburn, 
Elizabeth Halligan Black, and James McNab. Davidson College’s gen-
erous support of student research made their work possible.

Three of the chapters have previously appeared in print, under 
slightly different titles. They are: Michael Daly et al., “State v. William 
Darnell: The Battle over De Jure Housing Segregation in Progressive 
Era Winston-Salem,” in Warm Ashes: Issues in Southern History at the 
Dawn of the Twenty-first Century, edited by W. B. Moore et al. (Colum-
bia: Univ. of South Carolina Press, 2003), 255–79; Mark Jones et al., 
“Pinkney and Sarah Ross: The Legal Journey of an Ex-Slave and His 
White Wife on the Carolina Borderlands during Reconstruction,” South 
Carolina Historical Magazine 103 (Oct. 2002): 32–50; and Brian Lus-
key et al., “‘Escape of the Match-Strikers’: Disorderly North Carolina 
Women, the Legal System, and the Samarcand Arson Case of 1931,” 
North Carolina Historical Review 75:4 (Oct. 1998): 435–60.

Davidson College promoted this project in additional ways. Grants 
from the college’s George L. Abernethy Endowment and the office of 
the vice president for academic affairs provided financial support, the 
staff at Davidson’s E. H. Little Library provided wonderful research 
support, and my colleagues in the Department of History provided my 
students and me with intellectual and moral support.

My greatest debt, however, is to the seventy-two students with 
whom I coauthored this book. Thank you for believing in this project 
and working so well with each other.

�  Preface
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Introduction

Early in the twenty-first century, when many educated Americans can 
name all nine U.S. Supreme Court justices but struggle to identify even 
a single member of their home state’s highest court, it may seem odd to 
devote an entire book to scenes from the legal history of a single state. 
But there are good reasons to do so.

Prior to the dramatic increase in the scope and power of federal 
law during the twentieth century, state law was prominent. As late as 
1936, when Harvard Law School dean Roscoe Pound compiled a list 
of the ten top judges in American history, he included six judges who 
had served exclusively on state benches and another two whose careers 
included time on both state and federal benches. Only two of his top 
ten had served exclusively at the federal level.1 As Pound’s list suggests, 
the most prominent nineteenth-century state judges—James Kent of 
New York, Lemuel Shaw of Massachusetts, Thomas Ruffin of North 
Carolina—were once household names. Even somewhat less prominent 
occupants of nineteenth-century state benches, such as William Gaston 
and Leonard Henderson of North Carolina, were leading public figures. 
Indeed, I write these words just a short drive from both Gaston County 
and Henderson County, North Carolina. My neighbors and I may not 
pay much attention to state law, but our historical predecessors did. We 
should not antedate today’s obsession with federal law.

Over the broad span of U.S. history, the day-to-day impact of state 
law on the lives of most Americans has arguably surpassed that of federal 
law. In part, this is because the sorts of issues handled in state courts (e.g., 
property law, contracts, marriage, divorce, and crime and punishment) 
have tended to touch American lives more directly than have the sorts of 
issues typically handled in federal courts throughout American history 
(e.g., admiralty law and patent law). The proximity of state law to people’s 
lives eases one of the legal historian’s central challenges: how to link law to 
society—that is, how to describe legal and social change in light of each 
other. This volume seeks to meet this challenge by carefully exploring 
several key episodes in the legal and social history of North Carolina.
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In the spirit of Alexis de Tocqueville, who observed long ago that 
all American political questions eventually become legal questions, this 
book’s eight chapters all concern disputes that began in North Carolina 
society and found their way into North Carolina courts. The time peri-
ods of these disputes and cases range from the 1830s to the 1980s. None 
of these cases previously has received careful scholarly attention.

This book takes an “external” approach to the study of legal history. 
It foregrounds the impact of extralegal factors—social, political, and 
economic—on legal development. It moves well beyond the question 
of doctrinal change to consider the many different ways in which law 
and society have been interwoven throughout North Carolina history. 
Its fine-grained, case-study approach reveals in sharp detail the rich 
textures of this historical interweaving. The resulting legal history is less 
about the law in books than about the law as lived in society. It is legal 
history with an emphasis on the latter. Rather than viewing the past 
only through the peepholes of reported appellate opinions, this book 
combines traditional legal research with a full range of archival, oral-
history, and other sorts of historical research techniques, resulting in 
eight unusually detailed portraits of particular legal disputes, their fac-
tual contexts, and the social history surrounding the cases. The book’s 
social-history emphasis casts legal disputes in a light that legal scholars 
do not regularly see; its legal emphasis, meanwhile, sheds new light on 
several standard themes of southern social history, including race rela-
tions, the role of religion in society, gender roles, and cultural mores.

As portrayed in these pages, the impact of North Carolina law 
could be felt well beyond courtroom doors. We find that it performed at 
least six distinct functions. First, it resolved particular disputes. Could 
African American tobacco worker William Darnell legally occupy 
a house that he owned, in defiance of a residential segregation ordi-
nance in Winston? Could M. F. Boyles operate a risqué roadhouse in 
a quiet residential neighborhood, in defiance of his neighbors’ wishes? 
In the 1870s, could Pinkney and Sarah Ross, an interracial couple, live 
as husband and wife in North Carolina, a state that barred interracial 
marriage? The North Carolina legal system answered these and other 
specific questions.

A second, and less tangible, function of state courts was to provide 
a high-profile forum in which North Carolinians debated fundamental 
values. Litigants frequently took culturally charged disputes to court in 
search of judicial validation. Lawyers translated their clients’ cultural 
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concerns into legal arguments. Judges, for their part, sometimes used 
particular legal disputes as occasions for airing their personal views on 
controversial issues.

Third, state litigation at times functioned in ways that might loosely 
be deemed “political.” Litigants and lawyers went to state court in pur-
suit of political change that was unattainable through legislation. Addi-
tionally, some activist litigants and lawyers used state-court litigation to 
start grassroots movements. The publicity and fund-raising opportunities 
surrounding even doomed legal campaigns helped activists energize and 
expand their constituencies. The law’s “political” function, as described 
here, became increasingly common during the twentieth century, as 
social-reform groups grew more sophisticated and as North Carolina’s 
legal system became accessible to a wider array of individuals.

A fourth function of state courts was to provide a venue in which 
some North Carolinians might regain lost personal honor. Reverend 
James R. Pentuff, an anti-evolution crusader, used the courts in this 
way, as did Marville Scroggins, a white husband who charged that his 
white wife had humiliated him by giving birth to a “mulatto” baby. Scrog-
gins sought a formal divorce not only to alter his legal status so he could 
remarry, and not only to negate any legal claim to his estate the wife might 
make after his death, but also to denounce his wife’s misdeeds in a public 
forum and thereby regain personal honor. Concern with honor was not 
unique to the American South, but it did have special resonance there.2

The state courts’ fifth function was to provide social therapy. Alien-
ated and furious Native Americans in Robeson County found it at least 
somewhat curative to air their complaints about forced school desegre-
gation before an attentive and respectful court. White members of the 
North Carolina bench and bar found it at least somewhat curative to 
listen.

This broad range of functions demonstrates the richness of state 
law as a historical subject. It also affirms the value of venturing beyond 
“book law” (contained in law reports) to “living law” (experienced in 
society). When we venture forth in this fashion, we can note a sixth 
function of the law: it serves, as Oliver Wendell Holmes Jr. noted, as a 
“magic mirror,” wherein we see reflected not just our predecessors’ lives 
but also our own.3

	 Three sorts of actors dominate the stage in the chapters that 
follow: litigants, judges, and lawyers. The litigants most purely repre-
sent the “society” aspect of the “law and society” phrase used in this 
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book’s title. Among them are men and women; youngsters and old- 
timers; blacks, whites, and Native Americans. A few were professionals, 
but most were workers or farmers. A few were economically comfort-
able, but most were lower middle class or poor. As a group, they were 
strikingly characteristic of North Carolina’s population as a whole.

Some of the litigants were dragged into court against their will. 
Their only wish, once inside the legal system, was to get out and resume 
their lives. Other litigants, however, went to court intentionally. Some 
sought economic or other tangible gains. Litigation appealed to them 
because of the powerful remedies it offered victors. Others simply 
sought vindication. Litigation appealed to them because it was public, 
high profile, and authoritative. Some members of oppressed minority 
groups hoped that litigation, even if it failed in court, would expose 
injustice and provoke reform. Litigation appealed to them because, as 
minorities in a majority-rule democracy, they saw little hope of prevail-
ing in other ways. All litigants benefited from the relatively open and 
accessible doors of the North Carolina courts. It was neither particu-
larly difficult nor particularly expensive to have one’s day in court.

The judges described in these pages best represent the “law” of the 
title. They were much less representative of the state’s population than 
were the litigants. All of the judges described herein were white and 
male. Compared with state averages for personal wealth, particularly in 
the nineteenth century, judges were markedly well heeled.

These judges analyzed particular cases in light of two general con-
siderations: established law and personal preference. Different judges 
weighed these two considerations differently. Their styles of writ-
ing opinions also varied. Some judges preached from the bench. They 
reached beyond the specifics of particular cases to hold forth about hot-
button cultural matters. In 1832, Justice Thomas Ruffin used a divorce 
ruling as an occasion to lecture North Carolinians (and all others who 
would listen) on courtship and marriage. Chief Justice Walter Clark 
imaginatively invoked the English subjugation of the Irish and Rus-
sian anti-Semitism to caution Progressive Era North Carolinians not to 
treat African Americans too harshly. Justice Heriot Clarkson’s rulings 
from the period between the world wars occasionally read like fire-and-
brimstone sermons, heartfelt and faith based. At other times, however, 
judges, realizing that they were, in effect, untitled aristocrats in a demo-
cratic system, sought to mask rather than flaunt their power. They used 
carefully crafted written opinions and astutely calculated courtroom 
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actions to placate the masses, not lecture them. On some occasions, 
this meant conveying respect for majority views. On other occasions, it 
meant conveying sympathy for potentially offended (and noisy) minor-
ity groups.

Mediating between litigants and judges, between social disputes 
and the legal system, between law and society, were the lawyers. The 
lawyers who people this book were marginally more diverse than the 
judges; not all of them, for instance, were white males. But like the 
judges, these lawyers almost uniformly had higher social status than 
the litigants they represented. The lawyers in these pages fall into three 
categories. Some were simply hired guns, or advocates, as most liti-
gators are. They argued a particular position for a fee but would just 
as happily (and just as forcefully) have argued against that particular 
position. Other lawyers were paternalists—elite attorneys who agreed 
to help poor litigants, either out of compassion or conviction. These 
upper-class lawyers typically defended lower-class litigants against bul-
lying from society’s middle ranks. Finally, there were “movement law-
yers,” true believers in their clients’ causes. These crusading attorneys 
shared their clients’ ideological commitments and, in some cases, their 
social origins. The movement lawyers described in these pages ranged 
from the civil rights left to the anti-evolution right.

Both chronologically and thematically, the eight chapters of Law 
and Society in the South form three parts. Part I, “Drawing Lines,” con-
tains three chapters, each of which describes a “legal” effort to sharpen 
the demarcations of North Carolina’s racial hierarchy. Each episode 
occurred during a different period of southern history: the slavery era, 
the Reconstruction era, and the Jim Crow era. Predictably, some of 
the whites discussed in part I’s chapters sought to use the law to but-
tress their position of supremacy over nonwhites. Less predictably, their 
attempts at racial line-drawing were not particularly successful.

Chapter 1 details an attempt to etch racial lines into North Caro-
lina divorce law. In 1832, two white husbands simultaneously sought 
divorces after their white wives gave birth to allegedly “mulatto” babies. 
Although the legal barriers to divorce were formidable at the time, 
the husbands claimed that the racial circumstances in their cases were 
so extreme that judges should open special “mulatto baby” loopholes 
through which they could escape their marriages.

Chapter 2 involves the racial lines inscribed in North Carolina’s 
marriage laws. In 1873, a black man legally married a white woman in 
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South Carolina. Three years later, the couple, having moved to North 
Carolina, where interracial marriage was prohibited, was arrested for 
cohabiting without the benefit of marriage. Like twenty-first-century 
judges in cases involving out-of-state gay marriages, the judges in this 
case had to decide whether or not to recognize the legitimacy of a mar-
riage that, though illegal in North Carolina, was lawfully performed in 
a different state.

Chapter 3 recounts an effort, spearheaded by white residents of 
Winston (soon to be Winston-Salem) to draw racial lines on the city’s 
residential map. A municipal ordinance passed in 1912 made it a crime 
for people of one race to occupy residential property on a city block 
where people of another race predominated. William Darnell, an Afri-
can American tobacco worker, was the first person arrested under this 
measure. His case, State v. Darnell, questioned the legitimacy of resi-
dential segregation ordinances in North Carolina.

Together, the three chapters of part I demonstrate the persistent 
obsession of some nineteenth- and early-twentieth-century whites with 
the “legal” drawing of racial lines, as well as the persistent determination 
of others, black and white, to blur or erase those lines. Part I demonstrates 
that the South’s legalized racial hierarchy was affected not just by block-
buster statutes, constitutional amendments, and rulings by the Supreme 
Court of the United States but also by routine, state-level litigation.

The three chapters of part II, “Modernity and Tradition,” explore 
cultural conflict between the world wars. During the 1920s and 1930s, 
industrial development, urbanization, scientific advances, and commer-
cialized leisure produced widespread cultural tensions. Such tensions 
often generated litigation in state courts.

Chapter 4 details a North Carolina libel case that grew out of one of 
the hottest cultural debates in the South during the 1920s: whether or 
not to allow the teaching of Darwinian evolution in the public schools. 
In 1926, the Raleigh Times lampooned the “ignorance” of Reverend 
James R. Pentuff, a creationist preacher and one of the leading advo-
cates of North Carolina’s proposed ban on teaching evolution. Reverend 
Pentuff sued the Raleigh Times for libel, claiming, among other things, 
that members of the clergy deserved enhanced defamation protection, 
since they, in their professional capacities, were uniquely vulnerable 
to character assault. Pentuff v. Park contains some surprises for those 
whose knowledge of the day’s evolution conflict begins and ends with 
the Scopes “monkey trial” in neighboring Tennessee.
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Chapter 5 concerns North Carolina’s legal response to the per-
ceived delinquency of young white women in the age of textile-based 
industrialization and cultural modernism. The state sought to enforce 
traditional “womanly” behavior for white females through a mixture of 
legal chivalry (treating young white women with unique gentleness) 
and a harsh double standard (enforcing upon them a uniquely restric-
tive code of conduct). Errant young white women were “reformed” at 
the Samarcand Manor Industrial Training School, founded in 1918. By 
the early 1930s, conditions at Samarcand had grown so wretched that 
residents tried to burn it down to escape its horrors. The ensuing arson 
trial shows how the legal system both affected and was affected by these 
transgressive women.

Chapter 6 concerns another major cultural issue of the interwar 
years: alcohol prohibition. Reflecting the modern-day obsession with all 
things federal, conventional historical narratives assume that this issue 
evaporated, like so many droplets of spilled bathtub gin, following the 
repeal of national prohibition in 1933. But chapter 6 suggests that some 
local conflict over alcohol intensified following national repeal.

Together, the three chapters of part II suggest that interwar cultural 
traditionalists were quicker than their modernist rivals to invoke state 
law. Such hallmarks of cultural modernism as secularization and loos-
ening sexual mores were organic responses to broad social forces. Their 
purveyors did not frequently resort to law. Those promoting traditional 
cultural ends, in contrast, were quick to employ novel legal means. They 
sought such legislation as alcohol prohibition and bans upon the teach-
ing of evolutionary theory. They also creatively employed litigation, as 
these chapters demonstrate. Although these interwar cultural conserva-
tives were notably quick on the legal draw, their record in courtroom 
showdowns was mixed. They fared better in state supreme courts, where 
elite religious conservatives predominated, than in trial courts, where 
popular juries, defying the “Bible Belt” stereotype of the culturally con-
servative southern populace, proved surprisingly unsympathetic to tra-
ditionalists’ concerns.

Part III, “Civil Rights,” ventures into the mid-twentieth century 
and explores two different sorts of civil rights activism by two different 
ethnic groups in two different parts of the state. The disputes described 
in chapter 7 took place in a region of northeastern North Carolina 
where the majority of the population was African American. There, 
from the mid-1950s through the early 1960s, James R. Walker Jr., a 
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black attorney and political activist, led a surprisingly effective grass-
roots legal campaign for African American voting rights. The chapter 
reminds us that the history of African American civil rights litigation 
extends well beyond Thurgood Marshall and the National Association 
for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP).

The case that is the focus of chapter 8 arose in the 1970s in Robe-
son County, a southeastern North Carolina county shared by three racial 
groups: whites, blacks, and Native Americans. Prior to Brown v. Board 
of Education, a three-way form of educational segregation prevailed in 
Robeson County. Each racial group attended its own public schools. 
Native Americans had developed a sense of ownership regarding their 
segregated schools, so when desegregation became law, some Native 
Americans protested. Their protests landed them in state court, where 
they argued that school desegregation laws should apply to blacks and 
whites but not to American Indians.

Taken together, parts I, II, and III reveal several trends. The book’s 
chronologically arranged chapters trace the increasing institutional 
complexity of North Carolina life. The legal disputes described in part 
I all concerned the most basic of social institutions: the single-family 
household. The legal disputes in parts II and III involved larger and 
more complex institutions, both private and public. As North Carolina’s 
social life became more complex, so did its legal history.

This book’s chapters also serve to trace the state legal system’s 
increasing openness to diverse voices. Ethnic minorities and women are 
important presences throughout the book, but their voices are almost 
never directly heard in the book’s early chapters. Social hierarchy best 
explains this silence, but legal rules helped. In the 1830s, the decade in 
which chapter 1’s case played out in court, the vast majority of African 
Americans in North Carolina were slaves. Although the state’s legal 
system dealt extensively with slavery, it muzzled slave voices. Slaves, of 
course, could not serve as lawyers, much less judges. They also could not 
sue, and legal rules even barred them from testifying in court against 
whites. Women’s participation in the legal system was minimized by 
similar, albeit much less severe, social and legal constraints. According 
to the doctrine of “coverture,” for instance, the legal identity of a mar-
ried woman, for many purposes, disappeared into that of her husband, 
leaving her, in the words of one North Carolina Supreme Court ruling, 
“under a personal incapacity to act.”4

During the twentieth century, minority and female voices became 
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much more audible within the state’s legal system. As the book’s later 
chapters show, twentieth-century representatives of these groups went 
to court to sue, argue, testify, and agitate. Several factors explain the 
enhanced ability of women and minorities to go to state court for relief. 
Some early twentieth-century women leveraged their domestic author-
ity as wives and mothers to gain legal authority. Other women became 
lawyers and sought to defend women’s rights through the legal system.

The legal experiences of African Americans were distinct but not 
entirely different from those of white women. The African Americans 
described in part I sought their desired legal ends by teaming with 
paternalistic (or self-interested) whites. Following World War II, a crit-
ical mass of African American lawyers emerged; these southern black 
lawyers played important (and still underappreciated) roles in the legal 
history of civil rights. In addition, national groups—from the Southern 
Conference Educational Fund to the American Friends Service Com-
mittee to the federal government itself—further enhanced the claims-
making ability of local minority litigants. And by the 1970s, at least 
some white lawyers and judges listened to minority grievances with 
unprecedented—and unfeigned—interest.

This book also traces the increasing reach of federal law. The older 
North Carolina cases discussed herein had nothing to do with federal 
law. The more recent cases took place in the shadow of federal law. 
Although this trend reflects the themes of the cases involved (family 
law and civil rights, respectively), it also reflects the tremendous expan-
sion of federal law during the twentieth century.

One final thought regarding federalism: when scholars discuss state 
law in the South, they often contrast it to federal law and portray it as 
almost uniformly antithetical to progress and change, especially in the 
area of race. This view is too simplistic. Admittedly, and unquestion-
ably, law in North Carolina undergirded such oppressive institutions as 
slavery and Jim Crow segregation. Law and Society in the South contains 
ample evidence of this “legal” oppression. But the North Carolina courts 
acted in complex ways. The first three chapters, for instance, describe 
racist attempts to use North Carolina law to bolster the domination 
of whites over blacks. Each time, the North Carolina Supreme Court 
thwarted these politically popular attempts. Likewise, the book’s later 
chapters show that the North Carolina courts became an important and 
often effective venue within which racial minorities in the twentieth 
century presented grievances in their own voices. This book suggests 
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that the courts of North Carolina, and perhaps other southern states, 
played an underappreciated role in limiting the reach of white suprem-
acy. Those who think that Alabama’s conviction of the Scottsboro Boys 
in the 1930s or Mississippi’s failure to convict Byron De La Beckwith in 
the 1960s says all that needs saying about law and society in the South 
might need to think again.
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Chapter 1

White Couples and 
“Mulatto” Babies
Jacksonian Age Divorce 

and Democratization 

For centuries, from the colonial period at least through the Jim Crow 
era, North Carolina law buttressed racial hierarchy. Elite whites, such 
as those who adopted North Carolina’s slave codes, authored most of 
North Carolina’s legalized racism. But the nature of  Tar Heel democ-
racy was such that even non-elite whites could attempt to inscribe racial 
distinctions into law. This chapter concerns two such attempts from 
the 1820s and 1830s, launched by two non-elite white men: Marville 
Scroggins and Jesse Barden.

Marville Scroggins was a white yeoman farmer in Buncombe County, 
North Carolina. Late in the 1820s, he came to a realization that alleg-
edly “dissipated all hopes of happiness on this side of the grave.” His 
white wife, he concluded, had given birth to a “mulatto” child. Scroggins 
sued for divorce.1

Jesse Barden, too, was a white yeoman Tar Heel. In the late 1820s, 
he also had a realization that “completely ruined his peace and happi-
ness for life.” He concluded, “to his utter horror and astonishment,” that 
his white wife had birthed a “mulatto” child. Like Scroggins, he sued for 
divorce.2

Charles Rayburn, Patrick Baetjer, Diana Bell, Thomas Bevan, Jessica Bogo, Edward 
Bonapfel, Douglas Elkins, Erin Kane, Michael Kaplan, and Nancy Kohler contributed 
to this chapter.
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Both men lost in superior court and appealed. During the North 
Carolina Supreme Court’s term of December 1832, Justice Thomas 
Ruffin authored unanimous rulings in both cases. Strikingly, although 
the two men’s claims were nearly identical, Marville Scroggins lost and 
Jesse Barden won.3

Scholars have uniformly explained this conspicuous divergence 
in terms of a presumed (and presumably racist) “public outcry.” His-
torian Martha Hodes writes that a “public outcry” following Justice 
Ruffin’s ruling in Scroggins “forced the court” to reverse direction in 
Barden. Legal historian Hendrik Hartog concurs. “Ruffin’s opinion 
in Scroggins,” Hartog states, “was reversed shortly thereafter because 
of a public outcry.” Peter Bardaglio qualifies that assertion somewhat 
but nonetheless suggests an identical conclusion. “Apparently,” Barda-
glio carefully writes, “the public opposition generated by Ruffin’s first 
opinion was enough to surmount the court’s commitment to common- 
law tradition” of adherence to precedent. All three scholars suggest 
that Justice Ruffin’s refusal to grant a “mulatto-baby divorce” in Scrog-
gins provoked so much racist outrage that an intimidated court backed 
down in Barden.4

This chapter reaches a different conclusion: that Ruffin, having 
issued the strongly antidivorce ruling in Scroggins, did a superficial 
about-face. Bowing conspicuously to public opinion, he ruled weakly 
in favor of Jesse Barden—though in a way that invited future courts to 
ignore his reversal and abide by the powerful pro-marriage reasoning in 
Scroggins. By appearing to bend the formal law to the public will, Ruffin 
preempted popular outrage and inoculated his court against democratic 
reform. He used democratic language to preserve elite power.

In addition to presenting the argument outlined above, this chapter 
introduces several themes that are pervasive throughout the book. First, 
the state’s legal system was accessible. To be sure, courthouse doors were 
all but sealed to many North Carolinians, most notably the one-third 
of the state’s population who were slaves as of 1830. But the ability of 
decidedly non-elite white men such as Marville Scroggins and Jesse 
Barden to seek divorce in court is significant. Men of comparable social 
standing would not have been able to seek divorces in local English 
courts. In England, a private bill issued by Parliament was the only 
path to divorce; it was a narrow path, open only to the rich and well 
connected.5 Divorce and many other legal remedies were compara-
tively accessible in North Carolina. Over the next century and a half, 
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as future chapters will show, the state’s legal system would grow even 
more accessible.

Second, in their divorce petitions, Scroggins and Barden urged 
judges to draw racial lines into state law. Justice Ruffin and his elite 
brethren, however, were reluctant to do so. Subsequent chapters describe 
similar efforts to persuade elite judges to inscribe white supremacy into 
law and similar judicial reluctance to do so, or to do so as fully as peti-
tioners wished.

Finally, in Scroggins and Barden, we see how cultural conservatism—
in particular, the elite judiciary’s staunch opposition to divorce—entered 
North Carolina common law. In future chapters, cultural conservatism 
reappears in judicial responses to the theory of evolution, to religion, 
and to alcohol prohibition. Like racial hierarchy, cultural conservatism is 
an enduring theme of southern history. This chapter suggests that, like 
racial hierarchy, cultural conservatism traces at least part of its ancestry 
to the institution of slavery.

In analyzing the two nearly identical 1832 divorce appeals, we might first 
consider some alternate explanations for Scroggins’s loss and Barden’s 
victory. Class bias fails to explain Justice Ruffin’s divergent opinions 
in the two cases, not because Ruffin was free of class bias but because 
both litigants came from the same social class: yeoman farmers. White 
yeoman farmers in the South at the time possessed modest amounts of 
land and owned no slaves or just a few (up to about ten). In the social 
order, they ranked above slaves, free blacks, and landless whites but 
below “planters,” whose land and slave holdings vastly exceeded theirs. 
Unlike soft-handed planters, whose slave labor was sufficient to sup-
port their households, yeomen and their families had to labor in the 
fields themselves, whether or not they owned a few slaves. Yeomen were 
proud of their productive labor, their social superiority over the land-
less, and their presumed racial superiority over blacks.6 In order to be 
granted a divorce, however, even the most self-reliant yeoman had to 
win the approval of the elite planters who dominated the state’s legal 
machinery.

At the time of their marriage, Marville Scroggins and Lucre-
tia Brigman belonged to the yeomanry, as did Jesse Barden and Ann 
Bradbury. The four future spouses and their families all occupied the 
more prosperous end of the yeoman category, some owning as many 
as eight slaves or as few as none. This relative wealth makes the later 
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need for divorce logical in a social sense. The wealthier the couple, the 
greater the need to formalize a split through official divorce, in order 
to resolve property disputes. Poor couples, however incompatible, had 
both fewer means and less incentive to hire lawyers and prepare formal 
divorce petitions. As members of the middling yeomanry, Scroggins 
and Barden were financially comfortable, which explains their interest 
in filing—and ability to file—for divorce. It fails, however, to explain 
why Scroggins ultimately lost and Barden won.7

The lawyers who worked on the respective cases did not cause the 
divergent outcomes. Both litigants hired lawyers to prepare their ini-
tial divorce petitions. But whereas Scroggins hired a second lawyer to 
argue his appeal in the North Carolina Supreme Court, Barden sent his 
appeal to Raleigh without the benefit of counsel, a practice that, though 
not uncommon, was more risky. Yet it was the lawyer-less Barden who 
won.

A much more important distinction involves the timing of events 
described in the divorce petitions themselves. According to Marville 
Scroggins’s allegations, his wife gave birth four and a half months after 
their wedding. Scroggins, thus, would not have seen the child until after 
saying “I do.” Ann Barden, in contrast, gave birth prior to her marriage 
to Jesse Barden, meaning that the latter did have the opportunity to 
inspect the child before saying “I do.” Scroggins’s case for divorce thus 
seems much stronger. Yet it was Barden, not Scroggins, who won.8

Perhaps the explanation for the different results in each case lies 
inside the court itself. Justice Ruffin, who wrote both opinions, implied 
as much. “Upon the merits,” he wrote in Barden, “I confess that, I am 
individually inclined” to rule against Jesse Barden “for the reasons upon 
which the [Scroggins] case . . . was decided. . . . But my brethren think 
there is a difference.”9

Justice Ruffin’s suggestion that his “brethren” strong-armed him 
into voting (and writing) in favor of Barden is unpersuasive. Ruffin, who 
already enjoyed a national reputation and who would later make Har-
vard Law School dean Roscoe Pound’s 1936 list of the top ten judges 
in American history, was not easily strong-armed. He was reputed to 
have “dominated” his two “less-talented brother judges.” Neither of his 
colleagues was in a strong position to challenge him. Joseph Daniel was 
at the very beginning of his judicial career. Chief Justice Leonard Hen-
derson was at the very end and would die eight months after the Barden 
decision (Ruffin succeeded him as chief justice). More importantly, no 
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evidence suggests that either Daniel or Henderson favored divorce lib-
eralization. Neither, after all, had dissented in Scroggins. Indeed, both 
endorsed that decision. Subsequent to Barden, moreover, the court con-
sensually reverted to its firm antidivorce stand. Ruffin’s claim that his 
brethren imposed the Barden decision upon him is unconvincing.10

Thus, internal factors—social class, the merits of the petitions them-
selves, bench politics—fail to explain the Scroggins-Barden divergence. 
Perhaps the answer lies outside the court, in the realm of public opin-
ion. Again, Justice Ruffin implied as much. At the end of his opinion 
in Barden, he provided the following explanation for his departure from 
the strongly antidivorce reasoning of Scroggins: “This is a concession to 
the deep rooted and virtuous prejudices of the community upon this 
subject.”11

Previous scholars have uniformly concluded that Scroggins touched 
off a racist firestorm so fierce that the court backed down in Barden. 
“Ruffin’s opinion in Scroggins,” reads one typical analysis, “was reversed 
shortly thereafter because of a public outcry.”12 The “public outcry” 
hypothesis may be correct, but there are two serious problems with it. 
First, no scholar has yet produced any evidence that a public outcry 
occurred. Second, a “public outcry” explanation would require a sub-
stantial time gap between Scroggins and Barden, as follows: (1) the court 
rules on Scroggins, (2) news of the Scroggins ruling spreads, (3) an outcry 
materializes, (4) word of that outcry gets back to the court, and (5) the 
court factors the outcry into its Barden ruling.

But no such time gap existed. The North Carolina Supreme Court 
heard and decided both Scroggins and Barden in its term of December 
1832, which lasted less than three months. In that brief span, the court 
issued eighty-eight written opinions. The written opinions in Scroggins 
and Barden seem to have been released consecutively, at about the same 
time. All surviving records of the court’s business that term—newspaper 
reports, official case reports—list the two divorce rulings right next 
to each other, as the term’s final two law cases. Surviving newspaper 
accounts did not report either ruling until both had been released. It is 
technically possible that the “public outcry” explanation could be cor-
rect, but it seems highly unlikely.13

This chapter’s alternative hypothesis is that, while no public outcry 
occurred, Justice Ruffin used Barden to defuse the popular anger that he 
expected Scroggins to generate. Ruffin recognized that Scroggins would 
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be controversial, in part because the case’s central conflict—marital 
sanctity versus “racial” purity—divided antebellum whites along class 
lines. Ruffin and other planters tended to give higher priority to marital 
sanctity. Yeoman farmers, whose social status was less secure, tended to 
give higher priority to white supremacy. Because planters dominated 
the courts, they could render a decision that strongly bolstered mar-
riage, hence the Scroggins decision. Recognizing, however, that yeo-
men might howl and might mobilize against continued elite control of 
the judiciary, Ruffin tossed them a legally insignificant (but politically 
effective) bone, hence the Barden decision. By appearing to bend to the 
public will, Ruffin averted an outcry and helped to deflect Jacksonian-
type attempts to democratize the North Carolina Supreme Court.

Democratizing political trends associated with President Andrew Jack-
son provide an important context for the Scroggins and Barden decisions. 
In November 1832, just one month before Ruffin and his judicial breth-
ren convened in Raleigh for the term that included the two divorce 
cases, President Jackson’s powerful anti-elitist rhetoric propelled him to 
a decisive reelection victory. Ruffin and company were keenly aware of 
Old Hickory’s popularity. In North Carolina, Jackson beat his nearest 
rival by roughly a 5-to-1 margin.14

Believing that, as the newly established People’s Press of Wilming-
ton, North Carolina, proclaimed on its masthead, “the People can do 
no wrong,” the Jacksonians prescribed the same remedy for all pub-
lic ills: democratization. They urged expanded white male suffrage and 
the conversion of as many public offices as possible from appointive to 
elective. Jackson and his followers believed that the spread of majority 
rule would break the elite’s unearned monopoly on power, give virtu-
ous farmers and mechanics the public voice they deserved, and create a 
fairer and better nation.15

Democratizers found an inviting target in the elite, unelected judi-
ciary. President Jackson routinely thumbed his nose at the federal courts. 
He even proposed that federal judges should no longer be appointed for 
life; rather, they should be popularly elected for seven-year terms. Jack-
sonians were similarly critical of state judiciaries, since they, too, were 
unelected. State judges “should be made responsible to the people by 
periodical elections,” demanded the Jacksonians, who wanted “no part 
of our government independent of the people.” In 1832, just prior to the 
Scroggins and Barden appeals, Mississippi became the first state in the 
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nation to require its judges to stand for election. Other states, including 
North Carolina, appeared poised to follow.16

In Raleigh, as the North Carolina Supreme Court convened for its 
December 1832 term, several propositions designed to clip the North 
Carolina judiciary’s wings were in the legislative pipeline. One proposal 
would have slashed the salaries of state Supreme Court justices by 20 
percent. Another sought to weaken the state bench’s important power 
to impose punishments for contempt. A third bill proposed popular 
election of court clerks. “[I]f we adopt this system,” one conservative 
critic sniffed, “our Judges will [soon] ascend to office through the por-
tals of a grog shop.” The law passed.17 

A fourth bill, introduced just as Ruffin and his colleagues con-
vened for their December 1832 term, was even more radical. It called 
for the abolition of the North Carolina Supreme Court. The bill would 
divide the state into seven judicial circuits. Judges would rotate around 
these circuits and would take turns serving on a supreme tribunal that 
would hear appeals. The existing judicial pyramid would flatten into 
seven swirling circuits. No judges would enjoy the permanent eleva-
tion that Ruffin and his two privileged brethren enjoyed. “Much to my 
astonishment,” one conservative editor wrote after reporting on this 
bill’s introduction, “I find it has many advocates, and doubts are seri-
ously entertained whether it may not succeed.” Although the bill fell 
two votes shy in the state senate, its message for Ruffin and company 
was clear: Public opinion has you in its crosshairs. Beware!18

Scroggins and Barden were potential snares for the North Carolina 
Supreme Court because they pitted two of the day’s top social val-
ues—marital sanctity and white supremacy—against each other. Deny-
ing the divorces would appear to give judicial sanction to mixed-race 
households and sex between black men and white women. Granting the 
divorces would weaken marriage by providing subsequent divorce seek-
ers in North Carolina with legal precedent. The dilemma was especially 
tricky because Ruffin’s strong preference for denying the divorces placed 
him at odds with the views of the state’s mobilized democratizers.

Ruffin’s elite social status was so firmly established that whiteness, 
as such, was of comparatively minor concern. A little blurring of racial 
lines among the lower orders was less threatening to him than it was to 
whites of lower social standing.19 Marriage, on the other hand, was of 
central concern. As a judge, Ruffin knew of, and supported, the com-
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mon law’s longstanding presumption against divorce. Aware that legal 
loopholes have a tendency to grow, he was reluctant to create one for 
any class of divorce, even when so “odious” a circumstance as interracial 
infidelity was present. (Ruffin may have been aware of the situation in 
neighboring Virginia, where “mulatto baby divorces,” having started as 
an exceptional loophole, had cleared a path for other sorts of divorces 
and remained, as of the 1830s, the single most common sort of divorce 
granted to Virginia husbands.)20

As a devout Christian, Ruffin believed that God was a “witness” to 
all proper marriages. He regarded the resulting marriage bonds between 
husband and wife to be unbreakable.21 Moreover, his personal expe-
riences as a plantation patriarch appear to have affected his views on 
family life, including divorce. In his well-known 1829 ruling in State 
v. Mann, Ruffin articulated a slavery-based understanding of domestic 
relations that accurately predicted his subsequent approach to divorce 
law. In State v. Mann, Ruffin argued that even well-intended state 
attempts to protect slaves from abuse (in this case, the state sought to 
punish a white master who had disciplined a female slave by shooting 
her) would ultimately be bad for masters and slaves alike. Slaves who 
knew that law courts were peering over their masters’ shoulders would 
inevitably misbehave, prompting masters to “bloody vengeance.” Judi-
cial oversight of the master-slave relationship would thus intensify the 
very conflict that it sought to redress.22

Three years later, in Scroggins v. Scroggins, Ruffin transferred this 
slavery-based reasoning to divorce law. Just as slaves who thought that 
the courts would protect them would be more likely to misbehave and 
thus suffer at their masters’ hands, Ruffin reasoned, spouses who knew 
that divorces were available would be less likely to make the sacrifices 
necessary to achieve happy, or at least tolerable, marriages.

Justice Ruffin, consistent with his class, ranked marital sanctity above 
racial purity and white supremacy. North Carolina yeomen did the 
reverse. Lacking both large plantations and formal legal training, yeo-
men cared relatively little about divided estates or common law pro-
scription of divorce. An article in the anti-aristocratic Greensborough 
Patriot in 1832 suggests something of the day’s relatively relaxed popu-
lar attitude toward divorce. The piece concerned a pair of modestly situ-
ated newlyweds who sought a divorce soon after their wedding. The 
local officer who had married them “until death [did they] part” agreed, 
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for triple the marriage fee, to divorce them. He instructed the unhappy 
newlyweds to hold opposite ends of a cat, severed the animal with an ax, 
and proclaimed, “Death has now parted you!”23

Yeomen cared more about race than they did about the sanctity 
of marriage. Situated in the middle of the social hierarchy, yeomen 
sought to elevate themselves by suppressing blacks. In North Carolina, 
as elsewhere, the same anti-elitist, Jacksonian populists who sought to 
reduce social distinctions among different classes of whites sought to 
increase such distinctions between whites and others. In the year before 
the December 1832 term of the state’s Supreme Court, North Carolina 
lawmakers, even as they democratized public life for whites, imposed new 
constraints upon nonwhites. New measures prohibited “free persons of 
color” from preaching in public, limited their ability to “hawk and peddle,” 
and established exclusively for such persons a convict leasing system.24

To be sure, yeoman farmers were not the only North Carolinians 
who supported such racial measures. Indeed, in the aftermath of Nat 
Turner’s slave rebellion in neighboring Virginia in 1831, these propos-
als enjoyed widespread white support. But yeoman farmers were the 
bone and muscle of a Jacksonian political movement that fought to ele-
vate the political status of middling whites and to suppress the political 
status of free blacks. Amendments to the North Carolina constitution 
adopted between the mid-1830s and mid-1850s reflect the success of 
this movement. These “democratizing” constitutional revisions shifted 
political power from the state’s planter-rich east toward its yeoman-
rich west, expanded white male suffrage by removing property qualifi-
cations, and disfranchised blacks entirely. (North Carolina was not the 
only state during the Jacksonian age where suffrage barriers were low-
ered for whites but raised for free blacks.)25

Thus, Jacksonian democratizers sought, among other things, to 
sharpen racial distinctions. Mulatto babies in white families, in con-
trast, threatened to blur racial distinctions in ways that troubled the 
racist majority. One of the most significant privileges attached to white 
manhood, after all, was exclusive sexual access to white women.26 Justice 
Ruffin apparently sensed that denial of “mulatto baby divorces” risked a 
political backlash. Neutralizing this delicate situation would require all 
of Ruffin’s skills as a legal stylist and political strategist.

As an elite judge in a democratic age, Ruffin was careful. He deftly 
coated controversial legal rulings with a layer of political spin designed 
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to immobilize potential critics. State v. Mann (1829) again proves 
instructive. John Mann, a slave renter, shot and wounded Elizabeth 
Jones, a rented slave, in the course of disciplining her. North Carolina 
convicted Mann of assault and battery. Ruffin overturned this convic-
tion on the hard-hearted grounds that slave owners and renters needed 
“full dominion over . . . the slaves” in matters of discipline. Anticipating 
screams from the budding antislavery movement, however, Ruffin skill-
fully denied personal responsibility for his own ruling. As a compas-
sionate man, he suggested in the decision’s famous opening paragraph, 
he would like nothing better than to follow his “feelings” and give the 
brutal shooter his comeuppance. But as a judge, he could not do so. The 
law “impose[d]” a “severe” and “imperative duty” upon judges to follow 
rules, not emotions. Legal obligation “compelled” a “reluctan[t]” Ruffin 
to let John Mann go unpunished.27

This was not so, however. No law compelled Ruffin to overturn 
Mann’s conviction. There was no controlling statute. There was no 
controlling case law. The decision was all Ruffin’s. So effective was the 
opening disclaimer, however, that abolitionist author Harriet Beecher 
Stowe, though finding the result in State v. Mann “dreadful,” had noth-
ing but admiration for its author. “No one can read this decision,” Stowe 
wrote, “without feeling at once deep respect for the man [Ruffin] and 
horror for the system.”28 Three years after Mann, Ruffin would utilize 
the same technique in his Scroggins and Barden opinions.

The hard core of Ruffin’s ruling in Scroggins v. Scroggins was a pow-
erful restatement of the legal argument against divorce. As in State v. 
Mann, however, Ruffin added a sort of Teflon coating, designed to 
deflect criticism. This time, Ruffin defensively pointed the finger not 
at the iron command of “the law” (as in Mann) but at the cowardice of 
the state legislature. At issue was an 1827 statute that empowered the 
North Carolina courts to grant divorces “whenever they may be satisfied 
of the justice” of doing so.29 Unlike a previous statute, which specified 
impotence and adultery as the only allowable justifications for judicial 
divorce, the 1827 statute offered no explicit legislative guidance.

Although Ruffin, a great legal innovator, was perfectly comfortable 
exercising expansive discretionary power, he began his Scroggins opinion 
in apparent anguish. “This act,” he wrote of the 1827 measure, “imposes 
a task of great difficulty on the courts, and one, perhaps less agreeable 
than any they can be called on to perform, that of acting upon a most 
important subject without a rule laid down for them by the legislature.” 
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Judges such as himself, he claimed, are “lost in the mazes of discre-
tion” and told by mush-brained legislators “to do what is right, but not 
told what they deem to be right.” He advised would-be critics not to 
blame him or his judicial colleagues but to blame the state legislature 
instead.30

Ruffin’s discussion of divorce began with an acknowledgment that 
many marriages were miserable. But if sympathetic judges terminated 
every marriage that turned unhappy, he reasoned, total unhappiness 
would increase, not decrease. Successful marriages were possible only if 
spouses “feel that they are ever to remain” married. Only that belief can 
“impress upon each, the necessity of mutual forbearance, of . . . over-
coming antipathies and contributing to the enjoyments of each other.” 
A liberal divorce policy might appear humane, but the “wiser, better, 
kinder” course was to declare marriages “insusceptible of modifica-
tion.”31 This logic, which closely paralleled (and may have been derived 
from) Ruffin’s views on slavery, would prevail in the Scroggins case.

Marville Scroggins’s divorce petition claimed that Lucretia had 
committed premarital “fraud” by concealing the paternity of her unborn 
child. Justice Ruffin was skeptical. Concealment of defects prior to 
marriage is not fraud, he observed. It is courtship. Marville must have 
noticed that Lucretia was halfway to motherhood at the time of their 
marriage. The groom’s failure to gauge the bride’s character made him 
“criminally accessory to his own dishonor.” Allow this divorce for “con-
cealed paternity,” Ruffin cautioned, and North Carolina would be on 
a slippery slope toward divorce for concealed “uncleanness . . . idle-
ness, sluttishness, extravagance, [and] coldness.” The only safe policy 
was “that persons who marry, agree to take each other as they are.” 
Buyer, beware. Inspect your betrothed thoroughly in advance, Ruffin 
cautioned; once you tie the knot, you may not untie it. “[N]othing could 
be more dangerous than to allow those who have agreed to take each 
other, in terms for better, for worse, to be permitted to say, that one of the 
parties is worse than was expected, and therefore, the contract ought to 
be no longer binding,” Ruffin argued.32 The Scrogginses would have to 
remain married.

Scroggins v. Scroggins reflected the deeply held antidivorce views of 
Ruffin and his colleagues. By employing powerful and easily general-
ized language, the court hoped to ensure that Scroggins, barring leg-
islative revision to the state’s divorce law, would influence judges and 
lawyers for years to come. But Ruffin was politically savvy enough to 
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realize that the day’s pervasive racism and burgeoning egalitarianism 
made Scroggins a ticking time bomb. He used a companion opinion, 
Barden v. Barden, to defuse this bomb.

Barden is a curious decision, and not just because it ran so counter to the 
recently decided Scroggins case. Other Ruffin opinions draped politi-
cal wrappings around legal cores. Barden, in contrast, contained almost 
nothing inside its political cover. Legally, it was nearly hollow. Ruffin 
worked hard to ensure that future courts would ignore Barden in favor of 
Scroggins. He had peppered his Scroggins ruling with the sorts of pithy, 
quotable, general statements that make for powerful legal doctrine: 
“persons who marry, agree to take each other as they are”; “the wife may 
prove much better than the husband expected; so if she turn out worse, 
he must keep her because he chose her.” The fact-specific Barden ruling 
contained no such “doctrine-able” lines. Furthermore, Ruffin plastered 
Barden with detour signs urging future jurists to ignore what they were 
reading and return to Scroggins. So tentative was Ruffin’s voice in Barden 
that the law reporter who prepared the case’s official headnotes took the 
highly unusual step of attributing the ruling to “Ruffin, J., hesitant.”33

Ruffin’s tone was hesitant from the outset. “Upon the merits,” he 
wrote in the fourth sentence of Barden, “I confess that I am individually 
. . . inclined to concur with the judge of the Superior Court [who had 
denied Jesse Barden’s divorce petition], for the reasons upon which the 
case of Scroggins v. Scroggins was decided at this term. But my breth-
ren think there is a difference.” Ruffin began his explanation of this 
supposed difference by noting that the child was black, a fact “of deep 
die [dye],” in Ruffin’s words. He then proceeded, weakly, to distinguish 
Scroggins from Barden and explain why the petitioner in the latter case, 
unlike the former, might deserve a divorce. If Jesse Barden had mar-
ried before the child’s birth, he would have run risks “and must patiently 
abide the results,” as Marville Scroggins must do. But because Jesse 
waited until shortly after the child’s birth before marrying Ann, “it is 
but reasonable to conclude, that the birth of the child and the belief that 
it was his own, constituted a prevailing . . . motive” for Jesse’s decision to 
go through with the marriage.34

Few jurists would have found this reasoning persuasive. By the 
tenets of caveat emptor (buyer beware), Jesse, who had the opportunity 
to inspect the goods before purchase, as it were, had a much weaker 
claim to divorce than did Marville, who could not inspect the child 
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until after the marriage. Ruffin acknowledged as much. “The obstacle 
with me upon this part of the case,” he wrote, is that “color is an object 
of the senses.” Jesse had the opportunity to inspect the baby. Surely no 
man would marry a woman under these circumstances “without being 
drawn, even by curiosity, not to say, instinctive affection, to see the child 
itself.” “But it may be,” Ruffin speculated, “that in so young an infant, 
whose mother was white, it might not be in the power of an ordinary 
man, from inspection of the face and other uncovered parts of the body, 
to discover the tinge” of blackness. Thus, unlike Marville Scroggins, 
Jesse Barden, Ruffin unenthusiastically concluded, deserved a chance to 
return to superior court to petition anew for a divorce.35

Although the ruling guaranteed that Jesse Barden would have 
his day in superior court, it did not guarantee that Barden would pre-
vail there. Indeed, Ruffin warned Barden that he had “many difficul-
ties before him.” In order to win his superior court case and secure his 
divorce, Barden would have to prove six things: that the child was “of 
mixed blood”; that Barden was white; that his wife Ann was white; 
that, at the time of the marriage, Barden believed that the newborn was 
white and was his; that these beliefs were “created by the . . . defendant” 
by “false representations and active means”; and that, as of the time of 
the marriage, Jesse “did not, and could not, from inspection, ascertain 
the truth” regarding the child’s lineage—that is, Jesse would have to 
prove that “upon inspection at that time the real color was not so obvi-
ous as to be detected by the petitioner, or a person of ordinary diligence 
and intelligence, and not otherwise communicated to the petitioner.”36 
Jesse Barden faced steep odds.

Ruffin’s distinction between Barden and Scroggins was tortured. 
The point of Barden, however, was not legal analysis but political spin. 
Bowing extravagantly to public opinion, whose wrath he feared, Justice 
Ruffin, in the decision’s final and only memorable line, stated that the 
Barden ruling was “a concession to the deep rooted and virtuous preju-
dices of the community.” This brilliant bit of rhetoric implied two use-
ful things: that the public had already voiced its disapproval of Scroggins 
(and thus no additional protests were necessary) and that the North 
Carolina Supreme Court respected public opinion (and thus no further 
judicial democratization was necessary).37

Ruffin’s rulings had their desired legal effect. Future courts paid atten-
tion to Scroggins, not Barden. They also had their desired political effect. 
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Democratizing assaults on the North Carolina Supreme Court abated. 
North Carolina’s constitutional revisions of 1835 called for the popular 
election of the state’s governors but not its judges. Indeed, the North 
Carolina judiciary would not be elected directly by the people until after 
the Civil War. Scholars have attributed this delay largely to Ruffin’s 
personal popularity. His political skill, in cases such as Scroggins and 
Barden, deserves greater appreciation.38

Regarding the relation between law and public opinion, we offer 
two final thoughts. First, public opinion may sometimes exert less of an 
impact on law than historians assume. Scholars have discussed Scroggins 
and Barden as cases in which public opinion forced judges to reverse 
themselves. We suggest, however, that in these cases elite judges cre-
ated the illusion of public influence in order to prevent such influence 
from materializing. In other words, elite and unaccountable judges co-
opted the language of democracy to mask—and thus bolster—their 
own power. Future scholars might profitably seek other examples of 
this phenomenon. Finally, just as historians should not exaggerate the 
influence of society upon law, legal scholars should not exaggerate the 
law’s influence on society. Under North Carolina law, Marville Scrog-
gins remained forever married to Lucretia Scroggins. But in a fron-
tier nation, with a state-by-state system of family law, North Carolina 
Supreme Court decisions did not always prevail in practice. Marville 
and Lucretia Scroggins split. Marville moved to Alabama, married a 
South Carolina woman, and raised a new family, unconcerned that he 
was technically a bigamist. Perhaps this was the final accommodation: 
the elite would retain control of the book law, while the yeomanry would 
write their own living law. “Justice Ruffin has made his decision,” Mar-
ville Scroggins seems to have said. “Now let us see him enforce it.”39
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Chapter 2

A Former Slave 
 and His White Wife 
during Reconstruction 

The Case of Pinkney and Sarah Ross

Two alleged sexual relationships between black men and white women 
played important off-stage roles in the previous chapter. In this chapter, 
another such relationship—a marriage, in fact—takes center stage. The 
setting is the 1870s, after the Civil War, by which time white opposi-
tion to intimate relationships between black men and white women 
was even more intense than it had been prior to emancipation. Some  
Reconstruction-era whites used mob violence to suppress interracial 
liaisons. Others, such as those described below, used the legal system.1

On 31 March 1873, “amidst the firing of guns, the ringing of bells, the 
waving of handkerchiefs and the shouting of the multitude,” the first 
passenger train between Charlotte, North Carolina, and Spartanburg, 
South Carolina, pulled into the Spartanburg depot.2 Its route through 
the Piedmont of North and South Carolina would become familiar to 
Pinkney and Sarah Ross, a couple who repeatedly shuttled back and 
forth across the state line during the 1870s. Pinkney Ross, a black South 
Carolinian, and Sarah, a white North Carolinian, courted in North 
Carolina, married in South Carolina in the spring of 1873, and settled 
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as newlyweds in North Carolina shortly thereafter. Three years later, 
North Carolina indicted them for “fornication and adultery.” Following 
a trial in Charlotte and a state Supreme Court appeal in Raleigh, they 
moved back to South Carolina, where they lived out their days.

Interracial sex and marriage in the post–Civil War South have 
recently received considerable scholarly attention. Historians have doc-
umented both the “book law” and the “mob law” that combined to pres-
ent increasingly formidable obstacles to interracial couples during these 
years, as whites sought new ways to enforce the old racial hierarchy 
following the end of slavery. Although this scholarship has cast clari-
fying light on a topic once shrouded in myth and denial, it has tended 
to be “top down” in nature. By emphasizing the actions of dominant 
groups—legislatures and lynch mobs—these works have tended to por-
tray interracial couples themselves as passive victims who, in the face of 
overwhelming opposition, exercised little control over their destinies.3

In this chapter, we attempt a “bottom-up” history of one interracial 
couple from the era: Pinkney and Sarah Ross. One of the Rosses’ prin-
cipal assets, we find, was their mobility. Living on the border between 
the Carolinas, they were aware of the opportunities and risks that com-
munities in each state offered at different times. Like many other inter-
racial couples of the day, they moved from place to place as necessary 
to exploit opportunities and avoid risks. Their experience, therefore, 
was not consistent with the static “book law” of either state but was a 
dynamic lived legal experience of a borderland people.

Reflective of the “top-down” scholarship on interracial marriage 
generally, previous scholars who have studied State v. Ross have looked 
only at the North Carolina Supreme Court ruling.4 But the Rosses’ 
experience can teach us more. Pinkney and Sarah Ross were more than 
flat names on the pages of a court record. They were thinking, feeling 
people who made calculated decisions to protect themselves, as well 
as they could, from legal and social dangers. Perhaps surprisingly, they 
succeeded.

Justice Ruffin’s previously discussed habit of wrapping legal deci-
sions in a layer of political rhetoric shows one way in which law and 
politics can interact. The present chapter suggests two additional ways. 
First, and somewhat depressingly, it shows how political shifts in the 
ranks of public officials—caused, in this case, by the local victories of 
conservative Democrats over “Radical” Republicans toward the end of 
Reconstruction—can alter legal outcomes dramatically, even absent any 
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formal changes in the written law. More encouragingly, this chapter also 
shows that legal analysis sometimes transcends politics. Twice during 
the Rosses’ legal odyssey, judges overcame strongly held personal and 
social biases and enforced the law’s dictates. The phrase “rule of law,” we 
happily conclude, is not always empty.

The future Sarah Ross was born to Samuel and Harriet Spake in 1845, 
the second of eight children. During Sarah’s youth, the Spakes, who 
were white, moved frequently as they struggled to wring a livelihood 
from the red clay soil of the western North Carolina Piedmont. By 
1870, they had settled on a small Lincoln County farm, about twenty 
miles north of the South Carolina state line. Owning land, the Spakes 
were better off than some, but by no means were they wealthy. Their 
farm was one of the smallest in their relatively poor, rural community.5

According to a somewhat suspect family genealogy, young Sarah at 
some point married a white man, Perry Williams. Their marriage must 
have been brief, however, since Sarah was listed as single and living with 
her parents in both the 1860 census (when she was fifteen) and the 1870 
census (when she was twenty-five). It seems likely that she and Perry 
married in the early 1860s and that he died soon thereafter, probably a 
Civil War casualty. With no husband and little money, Sarah returned 
home to her parents.6

As Sarah mourned the loss of her husband and helped her family 
eke out a living, Pinkney Ross (or “Pink,” as he was commonly known) 
sought to take advantage of the new freedoms and mobility open to 
African Americans after the war. The son of Dock and Julia Ann Ross, 
Pink was born in Spartanburg County, South Carolina, around 1850. 
He almost certainly spent his childhood as a slave. The 1860 census 
reports that Spartanburg County contained 7,533 enslaved blacks but 
only twenty-six free blacks, making it extremely unlikely that Pink grew 
up free. Furthermore, if Pink’s parents, who were also born in Spartan-
burg County, had been among the county’s tiny group of free blacks, 
their names should have appeared in the South Carolina census’s popu-
lation schedules in the decades before emancipation, for these schedules 
listed free people, though not slaves, by name. Neither parent is listed in 
any population schedule between 1830 and 1860, reinforcing the likeli-
hood that the Rosses were slaves. The northern Spartanburg County 
location, a surname in common, and sheer numbers suggest that Pink 
could well have belonged to D. B. Ross, who owned far more slaves 
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than anyone else in the northern district of the county. (Among D. B. 
Ross’s sixty-one slaves in 1860 was a ten-year-old boy. This may well 
have been Pink.)7

After emancipation, a teenaged Pink Ross left Spartanburg County, 
South Carolina, and headed across the state line to Cleveland County, 
North Carolina. He settled on John Byars’s farm near Camp Creek, 
where he found work as a farm laborer.8 By 1870, then, a twenty-year-
old Pink Ross and a twenty-five-year-old Sarah Spake were living in 
the same state, less than twenty-five miles apart. Somehow, they came 
together. They may have met through an apparent link between their 
respective extended families. Sarah Spake’s mother was a Dellinger. Sev-
eral Lincoln County Dellingers had owned slaves, some of whom would 
likely have been named Dellinger, too. The 1870 census of Lincoln 
County lists a black Dellinger family living together with a black Ross 
family. Interestingly, this Ross family had a one-year-old son named 
Pink. This young boy could have been named after a relative, perhaps an 
uncle, perhaps Pink Ross of Spartanburg County, South Carolina. Had 
this Pink visited this Ross family, he could have run across nearby Sarah 
Spake.9 Alternatively, Sarah may have gotten to know Pink while visit-
ing relatives on her father’s side in Cleveland County. The 1870 census 
lists two families of Spakes living in Camp Creek, close to John Byars’s 
farm, where Pink lived and worked.10

However they met, Pink and Sarah took to each other, courted, 
and decided to marry. The decision to wed is always a big one, but it 
was especially momentous for these two, given that the state in which 
they lived barred people like them from marrying each other. Interracial 
marriage had been illegal in North Carolina since colonial times. In 
Pink and Sarah’s day, the controlling law was the Marriage Act of 1838, 
which banned “all marriages . . . between a white person and a . . . person 
of color to the third generation.” Violators risked fines and imprison-
ment for up to ten years.11

Often harsher than the formal law was the court of public opin-
ion. Interracial couples risked injury or death at the hands of lawless 
whites. The danger was particularly pronounced for couples like Pink 
and Sarah, a black man and a white woman. “If the negro [man] mar-
ries an outcast white woman—of course no white woman who is not an 
outcast of the worst possible sort would ever think of marrying him,” 
thundered one white North Carolina man in 1867, “both he and she 
ought to be hung.”12



The Case of Pinkney and Sarah Ross  31

Extralegal threats of this sort existed throughout the Carolinas. 
Legal barriers to interracial marriage, however, existed only north of the 
shared Carolina state line. Perhaps aware that some interracial couples 
had gotten into legal trouble when they risked marriage in North Caro-
lina, and perhaps aware that other interracial couples had avoided legal 
trouble by heading south of the state line to celebrate their nuptials, 
Pink and Sarah opted for a South Carolina wedding.13

In May 1873, only a month after that first Charlotte train reached Spar-
tanburg, South Carolina, the Ross-Spake wedding party arrived there. 
Although tradition dictated marriage on the bride’s home turf, not the 
groom’s, a Spartanburg wedding was prudent for this couple. Pink had 
family in the area. Spartanburg apparently was a good place for quick 
and easy marriages. Most importantly, in Spartanburg an interracial 
marriage was legal.14

Before the Civil War, when interracial marriage bans were common 
elsewhere, South Carolina had none; its social taboos against interra-
cial marriage were so strong that none seemed necessary. But in 1865, 
South Carolina’s white leaders, frightened by the end of slavery, passed 
a series of measures designed to maintain a lower-caste status for Afri-
can Americans. Among these measures was an interracial marriage ban. 
It did not last long. Within a few years, a majority-black Republican 
government won control of the state legislature. At no other time in the 
history of South Carolina—a state where blacks outnumbered whites 
almost three to two—had the government been so representative of its 
constituents. In 1868, the state legislature repealed South Carolina’s ban 
on interracial marriages.15

After legalization, interracial marriages did not proliferate in South 
Carolina, but their tiny numbers did increase. Some of this increase had 
in-state origins. The war had taken the lives of approximately one-third 
of the state’s white men of military age. Tens of thousands of white 
South Carolina women lost husbands or suitors. A few of these women 
married black men.16

Decriminalization also attracted mixed couples from other states. 
Exploiting their freedom of movement—and demonstrating legal 
savvy—interracial couples trickled into South Carolina after the 1868 
repeal. Most migrants appear to have settled just inside South Car-
olina’s boundaries. For instance, according to the 1880 census, Fort 
Mill, South Carolina—just across the state line from North Carolina— 
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contained fifteen times as many interracial couples as did Broad River, 
a community of roughly similar size and demographics in the middle of 
the state. The majority of Fort Mill’s interracial couples had migrated 
there from North Carolina.17

Thus, when Pink Ross and Sarah Spake chose to wed in South 
Carolina, just across the North Carolina line, they were part of a broader 
movement. Their moving, however, would continue. Conditions in the 
Palmetto State, where war and Reconstruction had exacted a heavy toll, 
apparently discouraged the newlyweds from staying there long. Deeply 
in debt, South Carolina had raised taxes to burdensome levels. Locally, 
midwestern grain, shipped cheaply on new rail lines, had undermined 
Spartanburg’s corn-based economy. Pink, a farm laborer, could well have 
found himself without work. Equally troubling to the Rosses may have 
been the gruesome prevalence of Ku Klux Klan activity that appeared 
to accompany the collapse of the local corn economy. Spartanburg, in 
other words, was a great place in which to marry but a poor place for the 
Rosses to live. In August 1873, three months after their marriage, Pink 
and Sarah headed northeast to the bustling border town of Charlotte, 
North Carolina.18

Interracial marriages were just as illegal in North Carolina in August 
1873 as they had been in May. But having been married legally and hav-
ing lived for three months elsewhere, Pink and Sarah may have believed 
that their legal risks had been reduced, that their South Carolina mar-
riage was transferable to North Carolina.

In any event, Charlotte’s call must have been hard to resist. The 
town, which had escaped damage during the Civil War and which 
benefited from a postwar cotton boom, was flourishing. Its position at 
the junction of multiple rail lines had made it a regional trading center 
and had transformed it from an “unpretending village” in 1850 into 
the economic “‘hub’ of this whole region.” “A new era has dawned for 
this town,” one observer gushed early in 1874. “[S]he will speedily be 
transformed into a full fledged city, ambitious of being second to none 
of the interior ones in the South.” Charlotte’s population quadrupled 
between 1850 and 1870 and experienced another burst of growth in the 
1870s.19

As of 1873, the year of the Rosses’ move to Charlotte, Republi-
cans still controlled much of the local government. Consequently, legal 
risks in the Ninth Judicial District seemed modest. Republican solicitor  
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W. P. Bynum did not prosecute interracial couples aggressively. Repub-
lican superior court judge George Logan had a reputation for leni-
ency. That reputation seems well deserved. In State v. Reinhardt and 
Love (1869), Alexander Reinhardt, a “person of color,” and Alice Love, 
a white woman, had married in North Carolina, notwithstanding the 
Marriage Act of 1838. Although the violation seemed clear, Judge 
Logan ordered a verdict of “not guilty.” Conservatives were outraged 
but not surprised, for they regarded Judge Logan as a Radical Republi-
can who, as one Democratic newspaper put it, “would decide in favor of 
the negro everytime.”20

In the elections of 1874, anti-Reconstruction Democrats set their 
sights on pro-Reconstruction Republicans in the Ninth Judicial District 
and across the state. For the office of solicitor, local Democrats nomi-
nated W. J. Montgomery, a Confederate veteran and a loyal party man. 
To challenge Judge Logan, the Democrats nominated David Schenck, 
a promising young attorney and a former Ku Klux Klan chief. Just three 
years previously, a federal grand jury had indicted Schenck on charges 
of “Ku Kluxing” in Lincoln County, where Sarah Spake lived before 
marrying Pink Ross. Schenck’s legal prowess, his KKK connections, 
and his conviction that African Americans were “poor, deluded, igno-
rant creatures” apparently made him an attractive judicial candidate to 
the Democrats. “Logan is the representative of the negro party,” the 
local Democratic press blared, and “Schenck is the representative of the 
white man.”21

The politics of race proved successful for the Democrats. Mont-
gomery and Schenck swept to victory in the Ninth Judicial District, just 
as their fellow Democrats did across the state. In words that must have 
made the Rosses shudder, Charlotte Democrats applauded the 1874 
election returns: “all white men who are in favor of a white man’s Gov-
ernment, achieved a great victory.”22

North Carolina Democrats, in step with resurgent Democrats else-
where in the former Confederacy, exploited their electoral momentum 
the following year by calling a state constitutional convention. Their 
goal was to do away with the “Reconstruction Constitution” of 1868, an 
instrument that, Democrats insisted, had been imposed on an unwilling 
people. One proposed change was the addition of an interracial mar-
riage ban. Although this provision would not alter the state’s crimi-
nal law—interracial marriages were already illegal—it would shine a 
political spotlight on the issue of interracial marriage. Charlotte Demo-
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crats considered the interracial marriage amendment to be one of the 
new constitution’s “important features” and cited it as one of a hand-
ful of reasons why “every honest white man” should support the new 
constitution.23

The new constitution went into effect in 1876, the same year in 
which Democrats completed their political sweep of North Carolina by 
retaking the office of governor. For the Rosses, the Democratic triumph 
was ominous news. Although local Democrats insisted that their lead-
ership would benefit black and white residents alike, they made clear 
their intention to impose specific boundaries that blacks would not be 
allowed to cross. The Charlotte Democrat explained: “While white men 
intend to rule in the county and State Governments, and do not want 
any negro office-holders, they . . . intend to accord to the negro all rights 
in law and equity. But imprudence and social equality will never be 
tolerated or permitted.” In Democratic eyes, few instances of “impru-
dence and social equality” could have been less tolerable than marriages 
between black men and white women.24

In the summer of 1876, Solicitor Montgomery brought record num-
bers of fornication and adultery (F&A) cases against interracial couples. 
Previous solicitors had prosecuted F&A cases, but only occasionally. 
In 1873, the year before Montgomery’s election, F&A prosecutions 
accounted for between 1 and 2 percent of the criminal cases heard in 
the Mecklenburg County superior court. In contrast, fully 10 percent 
(12 out of 120) of the criminal cases that Montgomery brought in the 
same court in the August 1876 term were for F&A.25

Besides increasing the quantity of F&A prosecutions, Solicitor 
Montgomery also changed their nature. Previous solicitors had gener-
ally invoked the charge against unmarried, same-race cohabitors. Dur-
ing the spring 1872 term of the Mecklenburg County superior court, 
for instance, the state tried William Bryan and Mary Blythe for F&A. 
Bryan and Blythe were an unmarried, same-race, cohabiting couple. 
The 1870 census lists them as sharing a household, their last names 
suggest that they were not married to each other, and the census catego-
rized both as “white.”26 The Democratic solicitor Montgomery, in con-
trast, systematically targeted interracial couples for F&A prosecution. 
We have positively identified the races of six out of the twelve couples 
tried for F&A in August 1876. All six couples consisted of black men 
paired with white women. Among these were Pink and Sarah Ross.27
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Two days before hearing State v. Ross, superior court judge Schenck 
heard another F&A prosecution: State v. Isaac Kennedy and Mag Ken-
nedy. Since the Kennedys’ story resembled the Rosses’, their case was 
highly relevant. Isaac Kennedy, a black North Carolina man, and Mag 
Dulin, a white North Carolina woman, had joined the first wave of 
post-repeal migrants by traveling to South Carolina in 1869 to get mar-
ried. Immediately after their wedding, the Kennedys returned to Char-
lotte, North Carolina, where they lived as husband and wife for seven 
years, until their indictment for F&A in 1876.28

The Kennedy case raised what the Charlotte Observer termed a “very 
interesting and novel” legal question: would North Carolina, which 
barred in-state interracial marriages, recognize the legitimacy of out-
of-state interracial marriages? Because the North Carolina Supreme 
Court had not yet ruled on this issue, lawyers on both sides agreed that 
the Kennedys would be tried by “special verdict.” This meant that a 
jury would find the facts and then Judge Schenck, based on those facts, 
would pronounce the Kennedys either “guilty” or “not guilty.” In his 
jury charge, Judge Schenck formulated a legal rule to govern couples 
who, like the Kennedys, sought to circumvent North Carolina’s inter-
racial marriage ban by marrying out of state. Schenck declared that 
North Carolina residents could not evade North Carolina marriage 
law simply by going to another jurisdiction to marry and then return-
ing to live in North Carolina. The marriage law of another state would 
apply, Schenck ruled, only if defendants could prove that they were 
both residents of that other state at the time of their marriage. Isaac 
and Mag Kennedy could make no such claim. The jury found that they 
were both North Carolinians at the time of their marriage and that they 
never intended to move to South Carolina. Based on the jury’s find-
ing of fact, Judge Schenck found the Kennedys guilty and sent them 
to jail.29

The jailing of the Kennedys boded ill for the Rosses. Judge Schenck’s 
jury charge, however, opened a legal loophole for them. In order to slip 
through this loophole, the Rosses sensed, they would need legal help. 
Many other criminal defendants of the day, including some interracial 
marriage defendants, opted to appear without the benefit of legal coun-
sel. The Rosses took no such chance. They prudently hired the same 
lawyers who had represented the Kennedys: William Shipp and Wil-
liam Bailey.30

Both Shipp and Bailey were top-drawer lawyers. Their law office’s 
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tony address, one block from “The Square” in downtown Charlotte, 
bespoke their professional prominence. Shipp had served as superior 
court judge in the Ninth Judicial District until 1868, when the Repub-
lican, Logan, defeated him. Between 1870 and 1872, Shipp was North 
Carolina’s attorney general. He then practiced law in Charlotte for sev-
eral years, gaining a reputation as one of the “best-informed lawyers in 
the State.” In 1881, when Judge Schenck retired from the Ninth Judi-
cial District bench, Shipp replaced him.31

William Bailey’s legal résumé was equally impressive. Like Shipp, 
he had once served as North Carolina’s attorney general. He also had 
written several law books and had distinguished himself as a law profes-
sor. Judge Schenck considered Bailey “perhaps the most learned lawyer 
in the Circuit.”32

The touchy politics of the Ross case fazed neither Shipp nor Bailey, 
for both were, from a political standpoint, fairly independent. Shipp 
was a Democrat, but not a militant one. Prior to the Civil War, indeed, 
he had been a “staunch Whig.” His postwar embrace of the Demo-
cratic Party was sufficiently loose to enable him to become “the only 
Democrat on the ticket” elected in 1870, the year he won the race for 
attorney general. Bailey was even more independent politically. Judge 
Schenck privately characterized him as a former Democrat who, during 
Reconstruction, had “drifted with Radicalism and in all elections lends 
his talents with negros to defeat his own race.” Observers of Bailey’s 
subsequent stint in the state legislature during the 1880s noted that, 
while he generally voted with the Democrats, he was “very liberal and 
independent.”33

Professionally successful and politically independent, the Shipp & 
Bailey law partnership could afford, both financially and politically, to 
represent clients such as the Rosses. The lawyers’ appellate caseload in 
1876, the year of the Ross trial, is instructive on this point. The part-
ners, despite working 170 miles away from the state capital, argued an 
impressive twenty cases before the North Carolina Supreme Court 
that year. Seventeen of these twenty Supreme Court appeals were civil 
cases—typically property and contract disputes, many of which involved 
large sums. With remunerative cases such as these (and deep-pocketed 
clients such as the Salisbury Building and Loan Association), Shipp & 
Bailey could afford to take on a few controversial and nonremunerative 
criminal cases. State v. Neely (1876), in which they defended an Afri-
can American man accused of “assault with intent to commit rape” on 
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a white woman, was one such case. State v. Kennedy and State v. Ross 
were others.34

The Shipp & Bailey partnership was especially well suited to defend 
the Rosses, having represented Isaac and Mag Kennedy just two days 
previously. The Kennedy trial had taught the lawyers that interracial 
couples who left North Carolina to get married and then returned right 
away stood no chance in Judge Schenck’s court. Based on this knowl-
edge, the lawyers and their clients prepared an effective trial defense.

On 30 August 1876, Pinkney and Sarah Ross rose as Judge Schenck 
entered the Mecklenburg County superior court. Solicitor Montgom-
ery read the charges against them. According to local press reports, 
Montgomery could “read a bill of indictment heavier than anyone. . . .  
[W]hen he reads it the jury is sure to convict.” Montgomery charged 
the Rosses with “bed[ding] and cohabit[ing] together, without being 
lawfully married,” contrary to North Carolina law.35

Shipp and Bailey admitted that the Rosses had “bedded and cohab-
ited together” but insisted that the couple was lawfully married at the 
time. To establish the legitimacy of the Rosses’ marriage, the lawyers 
presented two arguments. First, they contended that the right of per-
sons to marry, regardless of color, is “one of the guarantees of American 
citizenship” and as such was protected by the Fourteenth Amendment 
of the U.S. Constitution. In Loving v. Virginia (1967), such an argu-
ment prevailed. Shipp and Bailey, however, were a century too early. 
Both on trial and on appeal, their Fourteenth Amendment argument 
failed, perhaps because it involved what was then understood to be 
a social right, not a civil right. At the time of the Rosses’ case, most 
American courts interpreted the Fourteenth Amendment as having no 
application to social rights such as marriage, as long as marriage laws, 
including bans on interracial marriage, applied “equally” to all racial 
groups.36

The defense lawyers’ second argument had more promise. Shipp 
and Bailey sought to establish that, at the time of the marriage, the 
Rosses were “domiciled” in South Carolina and, therefore, governed by 
that state’s marriage law. For this argument to succeed, they would have 
to convince jurors that Pink Ross was a resident of his native South 
Carolina at the time of the marriage. If the lawyers could accomplish 
this, they could then invoke the doctrine of coverture to argue that Sarah 
Ross, as a wife, had adopted her husband’s domicile at the moment of 
marriage.37
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There was just one problem with the facts that the defense sought 
to establish: they were not exactly factual. As the attentive reader will 
recall, Pink Ross was living in North Carolina, not South Carolina, at 
the time of the 1870 census. While it is theoretically possible that he 
stayed only a short time in North Carolina—perhaps but a single day, 
the day the census was recorded—it seems much more plausible that 
Pink lived in North Carolina for an extended period. How else would 
he and Sarah have courted and decided to marry?38

Nevertheless, the testimony and arguments offered on the Rosses’ 
behalf convinced jurors that Pink and Sarah, prior to their marriage, had 
always resided in different states. This implausible finding, as recorded 
in the “special verdict,” read as follows: “Pink Ross is a native of South 
Carolina, and resided there until August, 1873 [three months after the 
marriage took place]. Sarah Ross was a resident and citizen of North 
Carolina up to the time of the marriage [emphasis added].”39

Based on this finding of fact, Judge Schenck had little choice but 
to rule for the defendants. He found that Pink was a South Carolinian; 
that Sarah, upon marriage, became a South Carolinian, too; that their 
marriage under South Carolina law was bona fide; and that, therefore, 
the prosecution’s “fornication” charge had no merit.

The Rosses walked away from Judge Schenck’s courtroom with their 
marriage intact, but their legal troubles were not over. Their trial, like 
that of the Kennedys, had employed the “special verdict” form, mean-
ing that the jury had found the facts in their case, but Judge Schenck 
had ruled the couple not guilty. At trial, this procedure had worked 
to the Rosses’ advantage. Schenck, despite his Klan background, had 
respected the legal rule that he had devised in the Kennedy case and 
found the Rosses not guilty. The couple may not have been as lucky 
with the jury.40

Although the special verdict procedure was advantageous to the 
Rosses at trial, it became a liability thereafter. The state could not 
appeal jury acquittals, but it could appeal special verdict acquittals, 
“double jeopardy” protections notwithstanding. Indeed, one of the pur-
poses of employing the special verdict form in criminal cases was to 
enable appellate courts to clarify murky areas of the law, whatever the 
trial verdict. As the North Carolina Supreme Court explained in an 
1847 ruling, a conviction or acquittal by special verdict “leaves the mat-
ter of law distinctly open to review in a higher Court. It is for this rea-
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son, principally, that special verdicts are given in criminal cases; so that 
the State, as well as the prisoner, can have the matter of law solemnly 
decided” on appeal.41

There would be an appeal in State v. Ross, however, only if North 
Carolina’s attorney general decided to file one. Again, political changes 
affected the Rosses. When Pink and Sarah married in 1873, North 
Carolina’s attorney general was a Republican. In the election of 1876, 
however, Democrat Thomas Kenan captured the office. One of Kenan’s 
first official acts was to appeal State v. Ross.42

The Ross appeal reached the North Carolina Supreme Court in 
January 1877. Once again, Shipp and Bailey represented the couple. As 
at trial, they argued the “general rule” that a valid home-state marriage 
was valid everywhere. Attorney General Kenan countered that this 
“general rule” had exceptions that were “as well established as the rule 
itself.” He noted that incestuous and polygamous marriages—unions 
that may have been legal elsewhere—were invalid in North Carolina, 
notwithstanding the “general rule” relied upon by the Rosses. Assert-
ing that an interracial marriage was “as unnatural and as revolting as an 
incestuous one,” Kenan argued that the Rosses’ marriage was not valid 
under North Carolina law.43

The North Carolina Supreme Court shared the attorney general’s 
abhorrence of interracial marriage. Justice William Rodman wrote in 
his majority opinion, “The State of North Carolina . . . has declared its 
conviction that marriages between [the races] are immoral and opposed 
to public policy. . . . It is needless to say that the members of this court 
share that opinion.” Fortunately for Pink and Sarah, however, the jus-
tices’ personal views on interracial marriage would yield to the jury’s 
findings of fact and to the rule of law. “[W]e must suppose,” Justice 
Rodman wrote, with a hint of suspicion, “that [Pinkney’s] domicile was 
bona fide in South Carolina” as of the wedding day. And when Sarah 
married Pinkney, he wrote, “the domicile of her husband became hers.” 
Thus, Rodman analyzed the case “as if both parties had been domiciled 
in South Carolina at the time of the marriage.”44

Justice Rodman then addressed the “general rule” that a valid home-
state marriage was valid everywhere. He acknowledged that polygamy 
and incest were exceptions to this rule but concluded that interracial 
marriage was not. Whereas incest and polygamy were outlawed almost 
everywhere, he noted, comparatively few societies prohibited interracial 
marriage. “However revolting to us . . . such a marriage may appear, 
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[this] . . . cannot be said to be the common sentiment of the civilized 
and Christian world.” Rodman’s conclusion that miscegenation did 
not qualify as an exception to the general rule that valid home-state 
marriages were valid everywhere would not long stand. In subsequent 
years—indeed, up until 1967, when the U.S. Supreme Court voided 
interracial marriage bans—miscegenation was the great exception to 
this rule. But this exception had not yet crystallized at the time of State 
v. Ross.45 Thus, a reluctant majority of the North Carolina Supreme 
Court felt “compelled” to rule in the Rosses’ favor. Two justices dis-
sented, arguing that interracial marriage, like smallpox, was an “evil” 
against which the state had every right to shut the door. But Justice 
Rodman’s reasoning prevailed. One can only imagine the relief that 
Pink and Sarah must have felt. They were free.46

Credit for the Rosses’ victory must be shared. The couple’s law-
yers contributed greatly. Given the time and place, their willingness 
to defend clients such as the Rosses—and to do so as effectively as 
they did—was exemplary. So was the professionalism of the trial and 
appellate judges. From all indications, Judge David Schenck and Justice 
William Rodman despised the thought of black men marrying white 
women. Nonetheless, when they saw the balance of legal argument tip 
in Pink and Sarah’s favor, they refrained from pressing racist thumbs 
on the other side. And Pink and Sarah deserve recognition for mak-
ing some shrewd decisions. Taking advantage of the relative freedom 
of movement that the post-emancipation South afforded, they wisely 
joined other interracial couples of the day in locating their wedding 
in South Carolina, where such marriages were legal. Their decision to 
remain in South Carolina for three months after their wedding also 
helped their cause. After their 1876 arrest, they prudently secured the 
services of good lawyers. Working with these lawyers, they managed to 
convince jurors of an implausible set of facts. The Rosses’ story suggests 
that at least some interracial couples in the post–Civil War South had 
more control over their fates than is generally imagined.

Following their escape from legal danger, the Rosses left North Caro-
lina, the state that had sought to take away their freedom, and returned 
to South Carolina, settling just a few miles inside the state line. If their 
hope in moving was to secure the comfort of a state that allowed inter-
racial marriages, their respite was brief. In 1879, South Carolina Demo-
crats, having recaptured power, reinstituted the state’s ban on interracial 
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marriage. Again, the Rosses found themselves living in a state that out-
lawed marriages such as theirs.47

In the following year, 1880, a U.S. Census worker in Spartanburg 
County, South Carolina, found Pink and Sarah Ross living together as 
husband and wife on a farm in Limestone Springs Township. Pink had 
made something of himself. In 1870, he could neither read nor write; 
ten years later he could do both. In 1870, he had been a “farm laborer” 
on someone else’s land; a decade later he was listed as “farmer.” In 
other words, unlike many of his neighbors whose 1880 occupation was 
described as “works on farm,” Pink had been able to acquire land.48

Sarah’s transformation was equally dramatic. In the 1870 census, 
and all previous censuses, she had been white; in 1880, she was listed 
as black. Three possible explanations might account for Sarah’s official 
racial conversion. First, it might have resulted from a deliberate deci-
sion made by a racist census taker. That official might have resolved 
that Sarah Ross, having married a black man, had sacrificed her claim 
to whiteness. Second, and less conspiratorially, Sarah’s being listed as 
“black” might simply have resulted from the carelessness of an over-
worked census taker who simply assumed, rather than determined, 
Sarah’s race.49 More plausible, however, is a third possibility: that Sar-
ah’s racial conversion, like so many previous events in the Rosses’ lives, 
resulted from the purposeful calculation of Pink and Sarah themselves. 
After all, if South Carolina census takers in 1880 had stripped white-
ness from intermarried wives as a matter of course, no interracial cou-
ples should appear in that year’s record. Yet, as previously discussed, the 
1880 South Carolina census is peppered with biracial household list-
ings, especially in border communities such as Fort Mill. Furthermore, 
if Sarah’s 1880 listing as “black” resulted from a simple recording error, 
subsequent reports should have corrected that error. Yet the 1900 cen-
sus, the only other one taken before Sarah’s death (other than the 1890 
census, which was destroyed by fire), also lists Sarah as “black,” despite 
being compiled twenty years later by a different “enumerator.”50

One other bit of evidence suggests that the Rosses may have self-
identified as an African American couple. Mike’s Creek Baptist Church 
was an African American place of worship established in northern 
Spartanburg County in 1865. Among the ministers who served there 
during the 1880s was “Rev. Pinckney Ross.” Although Pink’s service as 
minister falls short as definitive proof of Sarah’s private or public racial 
identification, it does suggest the possibility that Sarah, as the wife of a 
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prominent member of the African American community’s leading insti-
tution, may also have come to identify herself with that community.51

It thus seems reasonable to suspect that the Rosses consciously 
chose to present themselves (to census takers and perhaps to others) 
as an African American couple. No longer able to reduce legal risks 
by crossing geographical borders, the couple resorted to crossing racial 
borders. Apparently, they succeeded. Cultivating a shared life as black 
farmers in upstate South Carolina, they appear to have faced no further 
legal troubles.

The Rosses never produced children, but they did stay together until 
death parted them. Sarah died first. By the time of the 1910 census, she 
was gone and Pink was listed as a widower. Following Sarah’s death, 
Pink moved in with relatives. He died of pneumonia in 1925. Fittingly, 
he was buried about a mile from the state line—the line that he and 
Sarah had crossed so many times, when they were young and free.52
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Chapter 3

De Jure Housing Segregation 
in Progressive Era 
Winston-Salem

The Case of William Darnell

The instances of legal “line-drawing” discussed in the two previous 
chapters concerned the most basic of social institutions: the nuclear 
family. The present chapter suggests that, as North Carolina society 
grew more complex, attempts to inscribe racial lines into North Caro-
lina law grew more complex, too. This chapter concerns a residential 
segregation ordinance adopted by the city of Winston, North Carolina, 
in the second decade of the twentieth century. The story reflects the 
tangible impact on North Carolina life and law of such broad social 
forces as industrialization, urbanization, Progressive Era “reform,” and 
the era’s highly contagious impulse to separate the races.

At the corner of Eleventh Street and Highland Avenue in what is now 
called Winston-Salem, a swing set stands sentinel over land that was 
once the center of an important legal controversy. A tobacco worker 
named William Darnell attempted, in 1913, to move into a house that 
he had recently purchased on this site. For this act, and this act alone, 
he was arrested. A city ordinance passed in 1912 forbade people from 
moving onto blocks where they would be in the racial minority. The 
block’s other residents were white; William Darnell was black. Darnell’s 
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arrest initiated a chain of legal events that, given the time and place, had 
a surprising result: the North Carolina Supreme Court overturned his 
conviction and invalidated the segregation ordinance.

Other than the case that bears his name, William Darnell left but 
a scant paper trail. He was born in 1859, in Guilford County (not far 
from Winston-Salem), making him in all likelihood a slave at birth. As 
a middle-aged man, he moved to Winston-Salem to take up tobacco 
work. He died of stomach problems in his ninetieth year and was bur-
ied in an unmarked grave in Winston-Salem’s Evergreen Cemetery. We 
know little else about him. (Even his surname remains unclear; different 
records and directories referred to him variously as Darnell, Donnell, 
Donald, and Daniel. Like the law reporter in his case, we will refer to 
him as Darnell.)1

As for his lawsuit, it has yet to receive the in-depth scholarly treat-
ment that it deserves. That a Progressive Era southern court invalidated 
a Jim Crow measure in itself justifies greater attention. In addition, 
the case highlights a fascinating New South drama performed by an 
unlikely cast against a backdrop of social change, political conflict, and 
racial tension.

Because State v. Darnell resulted in a defeat for de jure segregation, 
it raises an important historical question: what prevented Jim Crow’s 
“strange career” from advancing even further than it did?2 Some schol-
ars, perhaps mindful of the NAACP’s dramatic victory in Brown v. 
Board of Education, have emphasized the important role played by Afri-
can Americans in resisting—and ultimately reversing—the segregation-
ist tide. One such scholar attributed “nearly every major [pre-Brown] 
courtroom triumph” over Jim Crow, including State v. Darnell, to the 
efforts of African American civil rights crusaders.3 In this vein, schol-
ars have described Darnell as “a victory for Winston-Salem blacks,” an 
inspiring case in which the city’s African American community “chal-
lenged Winston-Salem’s housing segregation ordinance and won.”4

Other scholars have credited “the powerful American commitment 
to economic laissez-faire” with the setting of outer limits on legalized 
racial segregation, especially when private property was at issue, as it 
was in Darnell. The willingness of Progressive Era judges to strike down 
residential segregation ordinances convinces these scholars that “laissez-
faire jurisprudence,” though typically criticized for favoring the privi-
leged over the oppressed, in fact “had positive effects on the welfare of 
African-Americans.”5
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Neither explanation—not “African American resistance” or “laissez- 
faire jurisprudence”—fully accords with the facts in State v. Darnell. 
Although William Darnell, an African American, clearly played a role 
in his lawsuit, he was but one member of a diverse ensemble. A small-
time white realtor and two prominent, elderly, and paternalistic lawyers 
played crucial (and heretofore unappreciated) roles. So, too, did a judge 
who, far from being a conservative proponent of laissez faire, advocated 
greater governmental activism and marched in the progressive vanguard 
of his day.6 In State v. Darnell, the efforts of this varied group combined 
to set an outer limit to Jim Crow’s distressing reach in one southern 
state.

Like the first two chapters, then, this one concerns the drawing 
of racial lines in North Carolina law. It is set in another critical era 
of southern race relations. Chapter 1 concerned the Old South, chap-
ter 2 concerned Reconstruction, and this chapter deals with the period 
famously (though debatably) dubbed the “nadir” of African American 
history: the Jim Crow era.

Viewed from a distance, the plot here is a familiar one. The cen-
tral conflict once again pitted elite whites and downtrodden minorities 
against the social middle. As before, prominent members of bench and 
bar used the judicial system to frustrate the legislatively achieved rac-
ist designs of middling whites. Upon closer inspection, however, these 
broad outlines blur. Some middling whites fought against segregation. 
Some elite whites—and some prominent blacks—did not. These varia-
tions add intrigue.

In 1910, Baltimore, Maryland, became the nation’s first city to adopt a 
residential segregation ordinance. Towns in Virginia, Kentucky, South 
Carolina, Georgia, Oklahoma, Missouri, and Louisiana soon followed. 
Winston, North Carolina, passed such an ordinance in 1912. Winston, 
which would merge with neighboring Salem one year later, was then a 
booming New South city—North Carolina’s largest and fastest growing. 
Its meteoric rise reflected the growth of its powerful tobacco industry.7

By no mere happenstance did North Carolina’s first residential seg-
regation ordinance appear in a tobacco town. Like textiles—the region’s 
other major industrial employer—tobacco work attracted waves of 
rural migrants. But unlike the textile mills, which tended to have their 
own villages and employ mostly whites, Winston-Salem’s tobacco fac-
tories clustered downtown and employed mostly African Americans.  
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R. J. Reynolds, Winston-Salem’s leading tobacco mogul, was particu-
larly dependent on black labor. Reynolds sent special trains to South 
Carolina and eastern North Carolina to recruit African American 
workers. The new arrivals settled primarily in the eastern part of Win-
ston, near the tobacco factories that clustered around the railway lines 
on that side of town. It was in this area of Winston that pressure for a 
residential segregation ordinance built.8

The push there toward de jure housing segregation had three 
sources. First, Winston-Salem’s breakneck growth created a red-hot 
real estate market. In 1890, the city had only three real estate agents; 
by 1910, it had twenty-four. Similar increases occurred in contractors 
and building and loan associations. The housing market’s explosiveness 
pleased builders and real estate agents but unnerved some local whites, 
who feared an influx of black tobacco workers into their neighborhoods. 
Concerned whites initially sought racial stability through “restrictive 
covenants”—clauses written into property deeds beginning in 1890, if 
not before, prohibiting buyers from selling or renting to African Ameri-
cans for specified periods of time, usually five or ten years. By around 
1910, however, these private contractual devices had clearly failed to 
prevent the movement of African Americans into neighborhoods where 
whites did not want them. Disgruntled whites searched for stronger 
alternatives.9

Second, segregation in general was on the rise. Jim Crowism came 
relatively late to the Tar Heel State. Railroad segregation and Afri-
can American disfranchisement both arrived around 1900, a decade 
after their implementation in Mississippi. But once it arrived, segrega-
tion swept through North Carolina’s public and private life. Around 
the time that Winston adopted its residential segregation ordinance, 
it already had racially separate annual fairs, YMCAs, Women’s Civic 
Leagues, insurance firms, and hospitals, to name but a few examples. 
Segregation of residential neighborhoods—by government decree, if 
necessary—might well have seemed a logical next step.10

Third, Winston-Salem’s city government, in step with Progressive 
Era trends elsewhere, was growing more active every year. At the time of 
the debate over residential segregation, the city government was busily 
building regulatory muscle. It adopted a new traffic ordinance, imposed 
speed limits, and hired a milk and meat inspector. In 1912, a support-
ive local editor effectively captured the progressive spirit that underlay 
such initiatives: “The citizens of Winston . . . now have an opportunity 
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of taking a long step forward that will put their city in the forefront of 
Progressive cities of the South. . . . If we fail to provide for municipal 
improvements . . . to make life pleasant and living convenient . . . it can-
not but mean that our growth will be stopped.”11

In 1912, the racially volatile housing market, the general urge to 
segregate, and the Progressive Era trend toward governmental solutions 
for perceived social problems converged in a proposal for a residential 
segregation ordinance. The initial push came from white residents liv-
ing on or around East Fourth Street, a major east-west corridor onto 
which some African Americans had recently moved. Fourth Street ran 
from the overwhelmingly white residential districts on the west side 
of town, through the city center, to a “stable white residential area” in 
the east. In between these two white residential areas, and just to the 
east of downtown, was a low-lying, north-south strip of soggy creek 
beds and noisy rail lines where African Americans traditionally lived. 
Housing here was cheap, owing to the absence of paved roads, sewage 
lines, or street lights and to the presence of occasional flooding, not 
to mention rats, snakes, bugs, and factory-and-rail-yard-related noises 
and smells. Poor tobacco workers could not afford to be picky, however. 
Their turn-of-the-century influx swelled this African American strip in 
an arc to the northeast and southeast. By 1912, African American resi-
dences surrounded predominantly white east Winston on three sides. 
(The remaining side was the city’s uninhabited eastern edge.)12

Increasingly cut off from whites elsewhere in the city and threat-
ened by what they saw as black encroachment, East Fourth Street whites 
grew desperate. They turned to a governmental cure and sought to draw 
racial lines into the law. Their “Movement to Oust Negroes” (as the 
press labeled it) advanced along two different legal paths. First, a white 
plaintiff named J. W. Carter sued a white defendant named James Tim-
ble for violating a restrictive covenant. Carter had sold an East Fourth 
Street house to Timble with a racist string attached to the deed: Timble 
was never to sell or rent the property to any “colored people.” When 
Timble violated this restriction by selling to a “colored person,” Carter 
contended that the property should rightly revert to him. The press 
predicted that a victory by Carter would inspire waves of copycat suits, 
potentially causing “scores of lots in this section [to] change hands.” 
The case, however, apparently went nowhere.13

The second legal path explored by nervous East Fourth Street 
whites appeared more promising: they petitioned the Winston Board 
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of Aldermen for legal relief. On 13 June 1912, at a special session of 
the Board of Aldermen, more than two hundred citizens packed the 
meeting to express their concerns. Not a single African American was 
in attendance.14

The petitioners’ arguments revealed their anxieties. Some criticized 
real estate agents for “robbing the white people” of east Winston by 
“selling them land at exorbitant prices, all the time holding over [them] 
the threat that they will sell it to the negroes.” Others complained about 
East Fourth Street whites who breached their restrictive covenants by 
selling to African Americans. Still others, in line with the Progressive 
Era ethos of technocratic solutions to social problems, contended that a 
segregation ordinance would reduce “friction of the races.”15

Swayed by these arguments, the Board of Aldermen adopted a resi-
dential segregation ordinance. The measure, enacted on 13 June 1912, 
the very day of the protest meeting, was narrowly tailored to meet the 
East Fourth Street neighborhood’s concerns. It prohibited “any colored 
person to own or occupy any dwelling fronting on East Fourth Street, 
between Depot Street [near downtown] and the city limits on the east.” 
The measure also banned white people from residing on specified sec-
tions of Third and Depot streets—sections already wholly settled by 
African Americans. The ordinance called for racial treatment that was 
separate and unequal. It forbade African Americans from owning or 
occupying specified dwellings, but forbade whites from occupying (but 
allowed them to own) specified dwellings. This distinction benefited 
white landlords by allowing them to own houses in “colored” sections, 
as long as they rented to “colored” tenants. In the age of “separate but 
equal,” this disparity exposed the ordinance to constitutional challenge. 
Recognizing the ordinance’s legal vulnerability, proponents of segrega-
tion urged a revision.16

On 1 July 1912, the Board of Aldermen revised the ordinance. 
Henceforth, it would be illegal throughout Winston for any black per-
son to occupy a residence on a majority-white block, and it would be 
illegal for any white person to occupy a residence on a majority-black 
block. Violators faced up to fifty dollars in fines and thirty days in 
prison for each offense, with each day in violation constituting a sepa-
rate offense.17

In order to avoid rupturing relations between black domestic work-
ers and their white employers, the ordinance exempted “servants or 
employees” who occupied residences on blocks where they worked. The 
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ordinance was not retroactive. It applied only to residents who moved 
into dwellings after 1 July 1912. Its principal goal was to prevent any 
additional racial “tipping” of existing housing stock, while imposing 
controls on the racial composition of all future housing stock. (Build-
ers of new residences on previously uninhabited blocks had to state in 
their building permit applications whether future occupants were to be 
“white” or “colored.”)18

The African American response to the revised ordinance was sub-
dued, especially when contrasted with the uproar from that community 
a year later when the city sought to move a segregated black public 
school to a less desirable location. (Irate African Americans then sent a 
protest letter to the Board of Aldermen. The letter opposed the move 
and expressed mock gratitude—“We thank you for the crumbs from the 
table”—for the $20,000 that the city spent each year on black schools, 
as opposed to the $150,000 spent for white schools. African Americans 
also published a protest letter in a local newspaper and secured legal 
representation to make their case before the Board of Aldermen.)19

The residential segregation ordinance of 1912 provoked no such 
outcry. In an era of racial violence, black opponents of segregation held 
their tongues. Some issues—for example, where to locate a segregated 
black school or even how generously to fund black versus white public 
schools—were fair game. Blacks could debate them vigorously without 
challenging the central premises of white supremacy, but the residential 
segregation ordinance was not one of these safe issues. Even staunchly 
opposed blacks kept quiet.20

There is also evidence that not all blacks were staunchly opposed 
to residential segregation. A local white newspaper reported that “there 
was no opposition [to the segregation scheme] . . . and it is understood 
that many of the better class of colored people look with favor upon the 
ordinance.” There is reason to be skeptical of the white press during this 
era, but this particular assertion may not have been groundless. Simon 
G. Atkins, the city’s most prominent black leader, did endorse voluntary 
segregation. Like his role model, Booker T. Washington, Atkins had 
struck a tacit bargain with powerful local whites: Atkins would support 
segregation, and white patrons would support Atkins. Indeed, Atkins’s 
views on segregation must have been conflicted. He must have loathed 
the racial inferiority that it implied. Yet segregation was, in some ways, 
the foundation of his power. He was president of the Slater Industrial 
Academy (today’s Winston-Salem State University), an all-black school. 
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He was the founder of Columbia Heights, a fashionable all-black Win-
ston suburb. Integration might have threatened Atkins’s power more 
than segregation did.21

The housing ordinance had a relatively uneventful first year. In 
the spring of 1913, however, some whites began to grumble about 
lax enforcement. One incident involved an African American grocer, 
George W. Penn. Penn sought a building permit for a lot on a majority-
white stretch of Twelfth Street in east Winston. Under pressure from 
white Twelfth Street residents, Board of Aldermen secretary William 
Holcomb refused Penn’s request, citing the ordinance. Penn hired a 
prominent white attorney and appealed. Penn’s lawyer admitted that 
the particular block in question was mostly white but noted that the 
surrounding area was predominantly black. The board agreed to a com-
promise: Penn could build on the lot, but he could not move in. He 
would have to sell or rent to a white person.22

Although this result does not seem like much of a victory for Penn, 
segregationists viewed it as a setback for their side. They urged stiffer 
enforcement of the ordinance. In response, city leaders reaffirmed their 
support for segregation and warned transgressors that the police would 
soon act against them.23 The police soon acted. On 10 June 1913, they 
arrested their first suspected segregation violator: William Darnell.

In 1906, a forty-seven-year-old William Darnell came to east Winston 
to work in a tobacco factory. At first, he and his wife, Lillie, lived in the 
southeast part of Winston, in an inexpensive Johnson Avenue home 
that was too often flooded by nearby creeks and too often rattled by 
nearby railroad yards. By 1913, the Darnells had saved enough money 
to move to a more expensive home. They sold their Johnson Avenue 
house for $450 and looked forward to a more comfortable life in a home 
worth twice that amount on Highland Avenue in northeast Winston. 
Northeast Winston was in a state of flux.24 Above Seventh Street, the 
neighborhood was predominantly black. Highland Avenue, however, 
was something of an anomaly. It retained a substantial white presence 
well north of Seventh. Prior to the Darnells’ arrival, the east side of 
Highland between Eleventh and Twelfth was exclusively white.

The Darnells purchased “lot 169” on Highland Avenue from a white 
man named Francis M. Sledge, who had owned the property for only a 
month. Sledge was a small-time real estate broker who rented and sold 
properties in all parts of the city to customers white and black. Sledge’s 
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actions in the Darnell case betray a strong dislike for the housing ordi-
nance, perhaps because it reduced the market for any given property by 
at least 40 percent. (Winston-Salem was then about 40 percent African 
American.)25

Sledge took three steps to defy and invalidate the ordinance. First, 
he approached the other property owners on the block, all of whom 
were white, with a striking proposal. “We, the undersigned citizens 
owning property on the East side of Highland Avenue between Elev-
enth and Twelfth streets,” the document read, “do hereby agree to sell 
our property to colored people.” Only one inhabitant of the all-white 
block failed to sign.26 

Second, Sledge sold lot 169 to William Darnell, an African Ameri-
can. By 10 June 1913, just five days after Sledge signed his covenant, 
Darnell had purchased the property and had been arrested. A municipal 
court judge found that Darnell had violated the ordinance and fined 
him five dollars plus court costs. At the time, more than 90 percent 
of litigants who lost in Winston’s municipal court accepted their fate. 
Darnell was not among them. He appealed for a new trial in superior 
court.27 

Third, pending the superior court retrial, Sledge paid Darnell’s 
twenty-five-dollar bail bond. He then appeared in court with Dar-
nell in August, November, and December 1913 to confirm that Dar-
nell would be present for his superior court retrial. Sledge’s continued 
involvement with Darnell after “flipping” the property to him reinforces 
suspicion that this was a test case engineered to challenge the segrega-
tion ordinance.28

At the time of Darnell’s trial and retrial, Winston-Salem had three 
practicing African American attorneys. None of them worked on Dar-
nell’s case, and we do not know why. In this racist era, however, even 
the city’s leading black attorney, John Fitts, made it a point to appear in 
superior court only as the associate of a white lawyer, to avoid damaging 
his clients’ fortunes with potentially racist jurors and judges. Prudence 
suggested the use of white counsel for Darnell.29

Even so, the firm that represented Darnell—Watson, Buxton & 
Watson—catches the eye, much as Shipp & Bailey did on behalf of 
Pink and Sarah Ross in the previous chapter. North Carolina observers 
considered Watson, Buxton & Watson to be “one of the very strongest 
[law firms] in the state.” Cyrus B. Watson was one of  Winston-Salem’s 
most distinguished citizens. After fighting with the Confederate Army, 
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he served terms in both houses of the North Carolina legislature. He 
was the Democratic nominee for governor in 1896. In court, he had few 
peers. Some considered him the greatest criminal lawyer in his state’s 
history to that point. When Watson died, in 1916, the chief justice of the 
North Carolina Supreme Court proclaimed him “the uncrowned king 
of the North Carolina bar.”30 Watson’s law partner, John C. Buxton, also 
had an impressive record. He had served as mayor of Winston and as a 
state senator, and for twenty-six years he chaired the city’s school board. 
Like Watson, Buxton had a “splendid” courtroom reputation.31

What motivated these two prominent Democrats to represent a 
black tobacco worker in a modest criminal appeal? It is possible that 
Watson and Buxton took Darnell’s case simply because it was offered to 
them, because their representation of Darnell would create no conflict 
of interest, and because the fee for their services would be paid. Pater-
nalism may also have played a part. Watson and Buxton represented 
a class of elderly, elite southern whites whose sense of noblesse oblige 
drove them to seek at least some justice for African Americans. Both 
lawyers were in their sixties, members of a pre–Civil War generation of 
whites that was less captivated by Jim Crowism than younger genera-
tions were. Both lawyers were privileged enough to be immune to status 
anxiety; both lived in Winston’s West End, far from tobacco factories 
and their workers. Both had histories of paternalistic concern. In 1893, 
Watson drafted and fought for an anti-lynching bill in the state legisla-
ture. Buxton, for his part, frequently provided legal services to African 
Americans, especially those charged with crimes. (It was he who rep-
resented George W. Penn, the black grocer who in May 1913 sought 
permission to build on a street with a white majority.)32

In addition, the two lawyers may have had financial incentives to 
oppose the Winston ordinance. Both had longstanding real estate inter-
ests in the city. They often served as “trustees” on deeds securing mort-
gage loans. It was they, in fact, who secured the loan that Sledge took 
out on lot 169, prior to selling it to Darnell. The mortgage itself came 
from the Winston-Salem Building and Loan Association, whose presi-
dent was none other than J. C. Buxton.33

The opposing counsel was Winston-Salem solicitor Gilbert T. Ste-
phenson. He was of a different generation—just twenty-nine at the time 
of the trial. Besides being a respected lawyer, Stephenson was “perhaps 
the country’s foremost” scholar of racial segregation law. In an important 
treatise published in 1910, Stephenson separated race distinctions (“sep-
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arate but equal” measures) from race discriminations (measures affording 
blacks inferior legal treatment). “The welfare of both races,” he argued, 
“requires the recognition of race distinctions and the obliteration of race 
discriminations.” Stephenson considered Winston’s “separate but equal” 
housing ordinance to be a legitimate race “distinction.”34

Darnell’s superior court retrial was originally scheduled for 3 Octo-
ber 1913 but was postponed pending the outcome of a Maryland case 
involving similar issues. The delay confirms that the residential segrega-
tion debate was a national one, and North Carolina judges knew it. On 
7 October 1913, the Maryland Supreme Court struck down Baltimore’s 
pathbreaking residential segregation ordinance because it applied ret-
roactively. Winston’s ordinance was not retroactive, so Darnell’s trial 
would proceed.35

It did so in January 1914. Stephenson’s case for the prosecution was 
straightforward. He offered testimony from a white man, V. E. Barnes, 
who lived just around the corner from lot 169. Prior to Darnell’s arrest, 
Barnes had petitioned the Board of Aldermen for stiffer enforcement 
of the segregation ordinance. He testified that there were “four white 
families and no colored ones” living on the block at the time of Darnell’s 
purchase. J. D. Welch, the man who sold lot 169 to Sledge in May 1913, 
confirmed the existence of a white majority on the block in question. 
The state rested.36

Watson and Buxton were more creative. They had to be. Both the 
facts and the law were against them. First, they raised the sorts of tech-
nical objections to the ordinance that lawyers routinely raise and judges 
routinely reject. They argued, for instance, that the ordinance was not 
submitted in writing to the Board of Aldermen before it was passed, in 
violation of city rules. Judge W. A. Devin rejected these arguments.37 
Second, they argued that the ordinance was unconstitutional because 
it “deprive[d] the defendant of his property without the due process of 
law.” Judge Devin was not persuaded. He instructed the jury to con-
sider the ordinance to be constitutional and valid.38 Third, they sought 
to demonstrate that African Americans dominated surrounding blocks, 
albeit not Darnell’s immediate block, at the time of the purchase. The 
state, noting that the ordinance explicitly concerned the racial composi-
tion of individual blocks, not surrounding blocks, objected to all defense 
questions regarding the racial composition of surrounding blocks. Judge 
Devin sustained the state’s objections.39 Fourth, Watson and Buxton 
offered testimony from F. M. Sledge. Sledge sought to introduce the 
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document wherein he and the block’s other white property owners had 
agreed to sell to African Americans. The trial judge ruled this evidence 
inadmissible.40

After deliberating for thirty minutes, the jury returned a verdict 
of guilty. Perhaps hoping to discourage an appeal, the court lowered 
Darnell’s fine from five dollars to one dollar and costs. Nonetheless, 
Watson and Buxton promptly announced their intent to appeal to the 
state Supreme Court. Pending that appeal, Sledge again posted Dar-
nell’s bond, this time for forty dollars.41

Local interest in the trial was intense. “Perhaps no case tried” in 
superior court that term, the Twin-City Daily Sentinel of Winston-
Salem reported, “was of greater local interest than that of William 
Darnell.” The white press loudly applauded the guilty verdict. Another 
city newspaper, the Journal, reported that the Darnell jurors, like most 
jurors, had “decide[d] things right, because they are on the ground.” 
The editors worried, however, that the North Carolina Supreme Court 
might use Darnell’s appeal to strike down the ordinance. They warned 
Darnell that “the best thing this colored citizen can do is to abide by 
the law of the city without getting the Supreme Court mixed up in the 
affair at all.”42 

Darnell and his backers, however, did not drop their appeal; nor 
would the social forces that underlay the dispute await the case’s resolu-
tion. As the lawyers prepared their Supreme Court briefs, two additional 
African Americans—George Crews and Dr. Edward Smith—were 
arrested under the segregation ordinance. Strikingly, both cases arose 
in the 1100 block of Highland Avenue—Darnell’s block. Crews’s new 
house was two lots to the north of Darnell’s; Dr. Smith’s new house was 
one lot to the south. The vendors of both properties were signatories of 
Sledge’s document.43

In April 1914, the North Carolina Supreme Court heard arguments 
in State v. Darnell, a case “awaited with interest from every section of 
the state.” The justices pressed Stephenson about Winston’s authority 
to adopt the ordinance. The solicitor pointed to the “general welfare” 
clause in the city’s charter, which provided that the aldermen “may pass 
any ordinance which they deem wise and proper for the good order, 
good government, or general welfare of the city, provided it does not 
contravene the laws and Constitution of the State.” Stephenson insisted 
that the ordinance indeed provided for the welfare of city residents, be 
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they black or white. “Wherever there is indiscriminate residence,” he 
argued, “there is irritation, constant irritation, and it always works hard-
ship upon the negro. He gets the worst of every clash. It [the ordinance] 
will be a protector to him. It will help the weaker race.”44

On behalf of Darnell, Watson and Buxton reiterated the arguments 
they had used in superior court. Their principal focus was an attack 
on the constitutionality of the segregation measure. Citing the “due 
process” clauses of both the state and the national constitutions, they 
argued that the ordinance abridged Darnell’s inalienable right to own 
and occupy property. The government “cannot deprive one of the right 
to live in his own house,” they insisted.45

The North Carolina Supreme Court decided State v. Darnell on 8 
April 1914. The author of the unanimous ruling, Chief Justice Walter 
Clark, was no civil rights crusader. Clark grew up on a large Virginia 
plantation. His family owned many slaves. After the Civil War, in which 
he fought for the Confederacy, he advocated white labor for the South 
on the grounds that freedmen could not “live among us in the present 
state of things.” Later, Clark employed the language of white suprem-
acy in championing women’s suffrage. North Carolina’s fifty thousand 
white women, he noted enthusiastically, outnumbered—and thus could 
outvote—the state’s black women and black men, combined.46

Clark’s long judicial record—he served on the North Carolina 
Supreme Court from 1889 until his death in 1924—offered the Dar-
nell camp additional cause for pessimism. He was a progressive judge. 
In classic progressive fashion, he favored measures—for example, an 
elected federal judiciary and the direct election of U.S. senators—that 
would amplify the will of the people in government. He also favored 
laws—such as labor laws and railroad regulation—that would enhance 
the role of government in society. He was outspoken in opposition 
to judicial review, the practice whereby judges nullified legislation on 
constitutional grounds. “If a legislature should not observe the Con-
stitution,” he argued, “the supervision lies with the people in electing 
another legislature.” Clark’s respect for the popular will, his preference 
for active government, and his hostility to judicial review did not bode 
well for Darnell and his lawyers, who challenged the constitutionality of 
a popularly enacted governmental regulation.47

But there was another side to Chief Justice Clark. He was an elite 
and elderly (upper sixties) paternalist. Like Darnell’s attorney C. B. 
Watson, one of Clark’s “closest friends,” Clark saw himself as a benev-
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olent guardian of African Americans. During the Civil War, when 
Clark’s slave Neverson sought to accompany his master to the front, 
Clark reputedly insisted that he stay back, out of danger. Throughout 
Clark’s thirty-five years on the state bench, a former slave named Alston 
attended him daily at work and at home. Given this history of close 
(though clearly hierarchical) relationships with African Americans, 
Clark may have had doubts concerning the wisdom of governmentally 
enforced housing segregation. In short, Clark’s progressivism inclined 
him to the state’s arguments, but his paternalism favored Darnell’s.48

Clark’s divided leanings mirrored divided precedents from other 
state courts that heard similar cases in the second decade of the twen-
tieth century. Courts in Maryland and Georgia invalidated residential 
segregation ordinances as unconstitutional infringements on the vested 
rights of property owners. In contrast, two other state courts deemed 
such measures to be constitutional attempts to reduce race friction.49

Clark forged a distinctive path. He found a way to rule in favor 
of Darnell but not on the constitutional grounds that Darnell’s law-
yers (and other state courts) had emphasized. He managed this trick 
by finding the Winston ordinance to be unauthorized, not unconsti-
tutional. He began by invoking “Dillon’s Rule.” Dillon’s Rule held that 
local governments, such as Winston’s, could exercise only those powers 
that were expressly granted or necessarily implied in their legislative 
charters. Invoking Dillon’s Rule, Clark found that Winston’s charter 
did not empower it to pass the ordinance in question. Clark admitted 
that the city’s charter authorized it to provide for the “general welfare” 
of its inhabitants. But to uphold the segregation ordinance under this 
“general welfare” provision would, in Clark’s words, “give to the words 
‘general welfare’ an extended and wholly unrestricted scope” far beyond 
the state legislature’s intent.50

Clark’s opinion in Darnell highlights a curious feature of Dillon’s 
Rule. That rule, which constrained the powers of local (city and county) 
governments, enjoyed its fullest flowering in the South. In other words, 
the southern states were both the nation’s most vigilant defenders of 
local rule in the form of “states’ rights” and the nation’s least vigilant 
defenders of local rule in the form of municipal governments, even 
though these were arguably even closer to “the people.” Clark’s ruling 
also put an intriguing twist on the relationship between “states’ rights” 
and white supremacy, two bedrock concepts of southern history. From 
slavery through civil rights, southern defenders of white supremacy 
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steadily beat the drum of “states’ rights” against federal “intrusion.” 
In Darnell, in contrast, Clark invoked the language of states’ rights to 
nullify a white supremacy measure. Clark argued that Winston’s resi-
dential segregation ordinance threatened states’ rights, as it were, from 
below.51

By relying on Dillon’s Rule rather than the constitutional provisions 
that Darnell’s lawyers had stressed, Clark was able to side with Darnell 
without violating his own longstanding opposition to judicial review. 
Dillon’s Rule, however, was less absolute than Clark’s opinion implied. 
Indeed, the North Carolina Supreme Court’s application of it had been 
uneven. The court had applied the rule most rigidly (that is, had cir-
cumscribed local governments’ powers most tightly) when local gov-
ernments had sought to impose taxes or fees without express legislative 
authorization. The court had granted somewhat more leeway to local 
governments that sought to provide public services (sewage systems, 
fireworks shows, and the like) that legislative charters did not expressly 
authorize. The court’s application of Dillon’s Rule was looser still when 
local governments exercised regulatory powers, as in Darnell. In Small 
v. Edenton, a regulatory case heard just six years prior to Darnell, the 
court had upheld the authority of a city to compel local property own-
ers to remove a particular sort of street awning. “[L]ocal matters,” Clark 
himself wrote for the majority in that 1908 case, “are properly left to the 
people of a self-governing community, to be decided and determined by 
them for themselves, and not by a judge or court for them.”52

Clark bolstered his Dillon’s Rule reasoning in two ways. First, he 
mentioned property rights—in particular, the right of property owners 
to dispose of their property. The Winston ordinance, he wrote, forbade 
the owner of property “to sell or lease it to whomsoever he sees fit.” 
This was problematic because the right of disposing of property had, in 
Clark’s words, “always been held one of the inalienable rights incident to 
the ownership of property.” This emphasis on property rights may have 
held special appeal to Clark’s conservative brethren, especially Associ-
ate Justice George H. Brown, an avowed defender of property rights 
and vested interests. Three years after Darnell, a comparatively conser-
vative U.S. Supreme Court emphasized property rights while holding, 
in Buchanan v. Warley (1917), that a residential segregation ordinance 
from Louisville, Kentucky, was unconstitutional.53

The second way in which Clark reinforced his Dillon’s Rule reason-
ing was to emphasize the racially discriminatory aspect of the ordinance. 
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In classic “slippery slope” antidiscrimination language, he reasoned that 
if Winston could, without express legislative authorization, separate 
black and white residences, it could also “require Republicans to live 
on certain streets and Democrats on others; or that Protestants shall 
reside only in certain parts of the town and Catholics in another,” and 
so forth.54

Concern with the effects of racial discrimination also underlay a 
digression in which Clark discussed North Carolina legislation regard-
ing out-of-state “labor agents.” In the late nineteenth century, northern 
labor agents had traveled south to recruit cheap black labor. Fearing an 
exodus of black agricultural workers—and a threat to the local racial caste 
system—North Carolina had adopted statutes requiring labor agents to 
pay steep licensing fees. By enacting these measures, Clark concluded, 
the state had made clear its interest in preventing black workers from 
leaving the state. Winston’s discriminatory ordinance, however, would 
likely encourage black workers to leave the state by restricting their 
housing options. That exodus would contradict the state’s demonstrated 
preference for maintaining its black workforce.55

To demonstrate the ordinance’s likely effect, Clark discussed the 
effect of ethnic discrimination in European history. “In Ireland there 
were years ago limits prescribed beyond which the native Irish or Celtic 
population could not reside,” he wrote. One of the long-term results of 
this unhappy policy was “continued disorder and unrest in that unhappy 
island” that contributed to the departure of more than half of the Irish 
population. Similarly, in Russia, “to this day, there are certain districts to 
which the Jews are restricted, with the result that vast numbers of them 
are emigrating.” Reasoning that Winston’s ordinance would have simi-
lar demographic effects—that is, would encourage productive African 
American workers to leave the state—Clark concluded that the Win-
ston measure was contrary to the state’s legislative will, as expressed in 
the “labor agent” laws. Based on this reasoning, Clark nullified the ordi-
nance and voided Darnell’s conviction.56

The white press received Clark’s “anxiously awaited” decision with 
immense disappointment. “We lament, of course, along with most of 
the best citizens of this city, that the court could not . . . uphold the 
Winston-Salem segregation ordinance,” the local Journal editorialized. 
“There is no doubt in our minds but that segregation of the races in the 
cities is the best policy. In fact, we believe that experience will prove 
that it is the only way to maintain peace in the community.” The edi-
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tors noted happily, however, that segregation was proceeding steadily 
throughout the region “without a law requiring it.”57

The reaction was scarcely more positive in the nation’s law reviews. 
The University of Pennsylvania Law Review objected to Clark’s “time 
worn sophistry” about segregation’s dangers and criticized him for 
ignoring Plessy v. Ferguson. Similar complaints about Clark’s “rather 
obscurely reasoned opinion” appeared in the Virginia Law Review.58 In 
contrast, the NAACP applauded Darnell and printed favorable, “grati-
fying comment” on the decision from select northern newspapers.59

State v. Darnell probably prevented other North Carolina cities from 
adopting residential segregation ordinances. It may also have discour-
aged the state legislature from adopting a similar measure on a state-
wide basis, although nothing in the ruling expressly barred statewide 
legislative action. Darnell did not, however, end housing segregation in 
Winston-Salem. Indeed, because the ordinance had sought to freeze 
residential patterns as of 1912, a year of relatively integrated housing 
by twentieth-century standards, Chief Justice Clark’s decision had the 
practical effect of clearing the way for continued “blockbusting” and 
increased housing segregation. In subsequent years, blacks flowed into 
east Winston, and whites flowed out. By 1960, east Winston was 84 
percent African American. By 1970, Winston-Salem was the second 
most segregated city in the United States.60

At first blush, it is tempting to view State v. Darnell as a straightfor-
ward African American triumph, a case in which Winston-Salem 
blacks “directly initiated reform.”61 Deeper investigation forces a dif-
ferent conclusion. In Darnell, we submit, three groups crossed racial 
and class lines to oppose Jim Crow: (1) black property owners, both 
professionals (Dr. Smith) and workers (Darnell), who sought the right 
to live where they chose; (2) small business owners, both black (Penn) 
and white (Sledge), who had at least one eye on the bottom line; and 
(3) elite, elderly white members of the North Carolina bar and bench 
(Watson, Buxton, Clark), who mixed paternalistic, economic, and pro-
fessional motivations. In the courts, if not on the streets, their combined 
efforts prevailed over the nervous white homeowners and “progressive” 
city leaders who favored de jure housing segregation.

State v. Darnell challenges preconceptions. Here, a southern court 
during Jim Crow’s heyday voided a segregation measure. A “progressive” 
judge, an outspoken champion of majority rule and active government, 
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nullified a popularly enacted social regulation. The language of states’ 
rights, forged in racist state capitals as a shield against federal attack, 
was recast as a sword with which to strike down a racist local measure. 
Former slave owners and former slaves collaborated on the segregation 
ordinance’s demise. The perverse result of their triumph was increased, 
not decreased, segregation.

There was one final result. Following his Supreme Court victory, 
William Darnell moved back into his house at 1105 Highland Avenue. 
This time, he was not arrested.
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Chapter 4

Evolution and Defamation
The Case of Reverend J. R. Pentuff

“Probably never before in the history of Charlotte,” that city’s Observer 
reported in 1922, “has there been such a surprise as was experienced 
by the congregation of Calvary Methodist church Sunday night.” The 
surprise came when three men, “robed in the costume of the Ku Klux 
Klan,” approached Reverend J. A. Sharp during a service, handed him 
a letter, and silently departed. The Klan’s letter commended Reverend 
Sharp for persistently preaching against “all forms of vice and immoral-
ity.” Sharp frequently sermonized, as he had that Sunday, against “local 
vice and immoral conduct, including dancing to jazz music, drinking, 
licentiousness and the laws against the teaching of the Bible” in public 
schools. The Klan thanked Sharp for his efforts and promised him “the 
hearty and earnest co-operation of its hundreds of members.”1

The KKK’s visit to Calvary Methodist captured, in microcosm, 
the widespread cultural tensions that pitted modernists against tradi-
tionalists during the so-called Jazz Age following World War I. North 
Carolina’s distinctively “New South” version of this nationwide drama 
reflected the state’s volatile combination of strong religiosity and rapid 
economic modernization. Pious Tar Heel traditionalists found in the 
word jazz a useful metaphor for everything modern and troubling. 
Just as jazz music represented, in the words of the Charlotte Observer, 
the “defiance of all musical law,” the term jazz as a general concept 
captured the disturbing modern tendency to “defy recognized law and 
established conventions” of all sorts. Jazz dance, for instance, threatened 
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to replace time-honored “dancing ethics and dancing law”—so “refined 
and graceful”—with “disorderly movements, irregular and irrational, 
often obscene.” Even more distressing was the generalized spirit of jazz 
elsewhere in society, a spirit “that would defy law and authority . . . that 
would overthrow all traditions, that would make a clean sweep of all 
things that have hitherto been regarded as fundamental.”2

Traditionalists sought to use the law to combat the perceived threats 
posed by this “jazz” spirit, broadly understood. This chapter and the two 
that follow explore three such culturally charged legal cases from North 
Carolina in the 1920s and 1930s. All three chapters touch on issues that 
Reverend Sharp included in his KKK-approved sermon. The present 
chapter concerns debates about Darwinian evolution and the proper 
place of religion in society. Chapter 5 deals with the unruly behavior 
of young women. Chapter 6 touches on illegal alcohol, jazz music and 
dance, and what Reverend Sharp referred to as “licentiousness.” On the 
whole, the traditionalists described in these chapters were quicker than 
their modernist counterparts to litigate and more creative in their use 
of the legal system. Modernists, however, held their own in court. We 
begin with a controversy about the teaching of Darwinism in public 
schools.

Prior to the 1960s, when the Supreme Court of the United States, dur-
ing the tenure of Chief Justice Earl Warren, struck down state bans 
on the teaching of evolution in public schools, only two evolution-in-
the-schools disputes had produced appellate cases in the United States. 
The first of these cases, Scopes v. State (Tennessee, 1925), is world 
famous. The second, Pentuff v. Park (North Carolina, 1927), is utterly 
obscure, perhaps because it was a libel suit filed against a journalist, 
not a Scopes-style criminal prosecution of a biology teacher. Pentuff is 
worth exploring, however, because it invites reconsideration of several 
popular assumptions. These popular assumptions, based on the univer-
sally known Scopes model, portray the evolution debate of the 1920s as 
pitting South against North, religion against science, and rural values 
against urban ones.3 

Pentuff v. Park calls these notions into question. The case grew out 
of an evolution debate that was strictly intraregional; all major dispu-
tants were Tar Heels. The supposed “religion-versus-science” dichot-
omy was tangled and messy in North Carolina. Tar Heel evolutionists 
blended religion with science. Their opponents did likewise. Many of 
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North Carolina’s anti-evolutionists were as urban as their adversaries. 
And state legislators in Raleigh, unlike those in Nashville, rejected a 
proposed ban on teaching evolution in the public schools.

Absent any statewide ban, the legal history of anti-evolutionism 
in North Carolina was distinctive. Private law, not criminal or consti-
tutional law, predominated. Pentuff v. Park was a libel case, brought by 
a Concord, North Carolina, creationist preacher named James Pentuff 
against a Raleigh newspaper that had lampooned his “ignorant” views 
on evolution. Among other things, Pentuff ’s suit claimed that members 
of the clergy deserved enhanced libel protection, since they, in their 
professional capacities, were uniquely vulnerable to character assault. 
The case raised questions about evolution, expressive freedom, and the 
proper place of religion in society.

Pentuff v. Park is a drama in two acts. Act I features a heated argu-
ment about evolution between two colorful North Carolinians: William 
Poteat and James Pentuff. Their debate sets the stage for act II, in which 
Pentuff sues the Raleigh Times and its editor, O. J. Coffin, for libel.

In 1925, the Scopes “monkey trial” in Tennessee produced what some 
scholars consider to be the most famous scene in American legal his-
tory: defense attorney Clarence Darrow’s theological interrogation of 
opposing counsel William Jennings Bryan. Historians love this scene 
both for its high drama and because its celebrity protagonists seem so 
perfectly to embody the opposing sides in the day’s broader evolution 
debate. As reported then and since, it was not merely Darrow versus 
Bryan. It was “scientific secularism” versus “traditional evangelical faith.” 
It was “admitted agnosticism” versus “unwavering fundamentalism.” It 
was science versus religion.4

But the Bryan-Darrow showdown, despite its undeniably high 
drama, did not accurately reflect the broader evolution debate. Few 
Americans were as fervently fundamentalist as Bryan. Fewer still were 
as agnostic as Darrow. Indeed, notwithstanding the either-or hype sur-
rounding Scopes, the vast majority of Americans at the time believed 
deeply in both science and religion. In this sense, Tennessee’s main-
stage production of the drama that might be titled The Evolution Con-
troversy makes for gripping theater but misleading history. A truer, albeit 
less glitzy, production of the same drama took place on a side stage in 
neighboring North Carolina. That drama began with a debate between 
a Christian evolutionist and a scientific creationist.
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The Christian evolutionist was Wake Forest University president 
William Poteat. Like Darrow, Poteat believed deeply in science. Indeed, 
he was an eminent biologist. Unlike the agnostic Darrow, however, 
Poteat was deeply religious. He was an influential lay leader of North 
Carolina’s largest religious denomination, the Baptists. Two lines from 
Poteat’s résumé utterly confound the “science versus religion” formula 
derived from Scopes: Poteat had led both the Baptist State Convention 
and the North Carolina Academy of Science. He was a Southern Bap-
tist biologist.5

Science and religion blended as harmoniously in Poteat’s mind as 
on his résumé. He criticized both “extreme Modernists,” who embraced 
science but rejected religion, and “extreme Fundamentalists,” who did 
the reverse.6 He firmly believed that science and religion were “bound 
together in the relation of positive friendship.” When science solved nat-
ural mysteries, it glorified God, the Creator. And when science failed to 
solve eternal mysteries, as it inevitably would, scientists could and should 
dig “over the fence in the theological preserve.” Poteat poetically mused, 
“I think of Science as passing to and fro in God’s garden, busy with its 
forms of beauty, its fruits and flowers, its creeping thing[s], its beast[s] 
and bird[s], the crystal shut in its stones . . . and coming now at length in 
the cool of the long day upon God Himself walking in His garden.”7

When it came to evolution, Poteat saw little room for debate. 
Although specialists admittedly still disagreed about details, as Poteat 
hoped they always would, he believed that all responsible biologists fully 
accepted the central principles of evolution. Poteat observed in 1925 
that evolution, like Copernican astronomy or the germ theory of infec-
tious disease, had become deeply “embedded in the texture of the intel-
lectual life of today.” Indeed, evolutionary thinking was so fundamental 
to “well-nigh all fields of inquiry” that Poteat had trouble believing that 
anti-evolutionists actually envisioned its suppression. “One wonders,” 
he wrote in the year of the Scopes trial, “whether the proposal to disen-
tangle and expunge it [evolutionary thought] by . . . legislative enact-
ment can . . . really be serious.”8

Poteat’s belief in evolution, however, did nothing to erode his 
faith in the Bible. He had no patience with fundamentalists who, with 
small-minded literalism, believed “everything in the Bible from cover 
to cover, including the covers.” Rather than taking the Bible’s creation 
story literally, he read it as divinely inspired poetry—as, he believed, it 
was intended to be read. To Poteat, the central message of Genesis was 
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unmistakable: God was the creator of all things. The “pictorial details” 
adorning this message were but “incidental.” By reading in this way, 
Poteat found the Bible’s creation account to be “in remarkable accord 
with modern science.” Genesis provided no dates “and so allows for the 
antiquity of the earth demonstrated by geology.” The Bible recognized, 
as did modern biologists, that the creation of life occurred in stages 
(poetic “days”), not all at once. The Good Book’s silence on the precise 
method of life’s unfolding was “a challenge to human wit to discover 
it.” Now that science had determined that evolution was “the method 
which God use[d] in creation,” modern Christians could “return to [the 
Bible] . . . with a new reverence for its inspiration.” Poteat concluded, 
“To the catechism question, ‘Who made you?’ we may still reply, ‘God 
made me,’ although we now know how.”9

Poteat’s top adversary in the North Carolina evolution debate of the 
mid-1920s was James R. Pentuff, a Baptist minister. Like William Jen-
nings Bryan, Pentuff was a religious fundamentalist. Unlike Bryan, 
however, Pentuff was not ignorant of science. Indeed, he fancied him-
self a scientific creationist. Pentuff ’s story challenges both the narrow 
stereotype of “creationist as scientific illiterate” and the broader stereo-
type of “creationist as uneducated rube.”

Like Poteat, Pentuff blended science and religion throughout his 
training and career. He was born in Rutherford County, North Car-
olina, in 1864. When he was seventeen, his family moved to South 
Carolina, where he attended Furman University, a Baptist institution. 
Pentuff ’s college studies were “mainly scientific.” Beyond the classroom, 
his pursuits were mainly religious. He preached at a nearby country 
church throughout his college years.10 

Pentuff ’s studies did not end with his graduation from Furman in 
1891. He subsequently earned a master’s degree in theology and a doc-
torate in philosophy. After working as a minister for a time, he returned 
to academia as professor, dean, and president of schools and colleges in 
Iowa, Missouri, Texas, and West Virginia. All the while, he continued 
preaching. And he continued studying science on his own.11

Evolutionary theory was Pentuff ’s scientific passion. He was an 
outspoken critic of Darwin’s theories. In 1925, he wrote a one-hundred 
page rebuttal of William Poteat’s pro-evolution writings. Pentuff ’s fun-
damentalism was on clear display in this work. “The doctrine of Cre-
ation is true,” Pentuff argued, “and if it be true, Evolution is false.”12
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One of the most striking features of Pentuff ’s anti-evolutionism 
was its extensive invocation of science, which took several forms. One 
was his habitual scientific résumé-thumping. The “Rev. Prof. J. R. 
Pentuff, Ph.D., D.D.,” as he liked to be called, made it clear that, for 
“the last twenty-five years,” he had “made a thorough study” of evolu-
tionary science. He had “kept abreast . . . of the different . . . books that 
have come out on science,” was familiar with the latest “theories about 
evolution,” and had even conducted “independent research” on the topic 
using “[h]igh powered microscopes.”13

Pentuff emphasized that his disagreement was with Darwinian the-
ory, not science or the scientific method. Indeed, he cited science books, 
quoted scientists, and employed scientific jargon at every opportunity. In 
one typical passage, he ostentatiously quoted a prominent British bota-
nist to bolster his argument that different life forms could not be proven 
to have evolved out of each other. Pentuff wrote, “It is impossible to trace 
one phylum from another. Rather it is said: ‘We know nothing whatever 
of the angiospermous families.’ Prof. D. H. Scott.” Pentuff finished the 
paragraph with attributed quotations from two additional scientists.14

Pentuff ’s point here was not just that the Bible trumped science 
but also that creationist science trumped what he called evolutionary 
“pseudo-science.” In support of this argument, he repeatedly cited “the 
evidences” found in “the physical universe.” “The facts are against Evo-
lution,” he insisted. Creationism satisfied “the Bible and also science”; 
evolutionism satisfied neither.15

Take geology, he argued. The “geological record as we now know 
it” gave “no support to the fantastic, speculative, artificial arrangement 
of the fossils by evolutionists.” But that record was in “perfect agree-
ment” with biblical accounts of creation and the deluge. Charles Dar-
win’s ignorance of these geological “facts” was a “fatal blunder” recently 
repeated by Professor Poteat of Wake Forest. Pentuff described this 
supposed blunder in his typical style: Darwin and Poteat had inadvis-
ably swallowed “Lyell’s geology, based on Werner, Smith, and Buffon,” 
even though “[n]ot one of them knew much about geology as we now 
know it.” In short, Pentuff believed evolution was a “false conception.” 
For him, it did not qualify as legitimate science.16

Science was as prominent in Pentuff ’s oratory as it was in his writ-
ing. An “absorbing address on evolution” that he delivered at Charlotte’s 
First Baptist Church in February 1925 is illustrative. Publicity for the 
event stressed Pentuff ’s academic credentials and scientific approach. 
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“Dr. Pentuff, former president of the Baptist College for Women in 
Missouri, will discuss the subject [of evolution] scientifically and relate it 
to the Bible and Christianity,” the Charlotte Observer announced on the 
morning of the event, adding that Pentuff had “made a thorough study 
of evolution.” The next day’s headlines summarized the central message 
of Reverend Pentuff ’s talk: “Organic Evolution Theory of Darwin Is 
Unscientific.” Pentuff listed several ways in which “recent investigations 
of scientists” had supposedly disproved evolution. He closed by stating 
that he “would like to see the state ban the teaching of evolution in the 
public schools.” Charlotte’s First Baptist Church, crowded upstairs and 
down, burst into applause.17

Thus, both of North Carolina’s principal antagonists in the evo-
lution debate blended science and religion. They invoked both when 
challenged. Poteat, the evolutionist, faced attacks from fundamentalists, 
who sought to remove him from the presidency of Wake Forest. Poteat 
responded by testifying to the depth of his Christian faith. (Once, he 
literally held up a copy of the Bible at the podium, as if it were a shield.) 
The biologist’s Christian testimony was always so heartfelt that it 
assuaged fundamentalist critics.18

Reverend Pentuff faced different sorts of attacks. Opponents, Presi-
dent Poteat among them, challenged his scientific credentials. Poteat 
wrote to the president of Furman University and others, asking skeptical 
questions about Pentuff ’s educational record. Had Pentuff really gradu-
ated from Furman? What school had granted “Dr. Pentuff ” his much-
trumpeted PhD? Had he really been a college president? Although 
Pentuff ’s educational claims held up, the skepticism of his critics rein-
forced his compulsion to prove his scientific bona fides.19

Thus, in the evolution debates of the 1920s, perceived expertise in 
both science and religion mattered. In no other state did such exper-
tise matter more than in North Carolina, where educational leaders—
including Poteat and Pentuff—were uniquely central to the debate. To 
call a North Carolina disputant “ignorant” was to invite a fight. In 1926, 
a Raleigh newspaper invited a fight. It accused Pentuff of ignorance 
on the subject of evolution. Pentuff countered with a libel suit seeking 
twenty-five thousand dollars.20

The series of events that produced Pentuff v. Park began early in 1925, 
when Rep. David Poole introduced an anti-evolution bill in the North 
Carolina House of Representatives. The Poole Bill—or the “Resolution 
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Restricting the Teaching of Darwinism in the State Schools of North 
Carolina”—harmonized with three national trends: the legislation of 
morality, most famously illustrated by the prohibition of alcohol; the 
general politicization of the schools, as exemplified by the World War 
I–era flag salute and English-only instruction mandates; and the partic-
ular urge to suppress Darwinism, as demonstrated by the introduction 
of thirty-seven anti-evolution bills in twenty state legislatures during 
the 1920s.21

The Poole Bill declared it the “sense of the General Assembly of 
North Carolina that it is injurious to the welfare of the people . . . for 
any . . . teacher in the State, paid wholly or in part by taxation, to teach 
. . . as a fact . . . any . . . evolutionary hypothesis that links man in blood 
relationship with any lower form of life.” This resolution was not as 
restrictive as it could have been. It established no criminal penalties. Its 
ban on teaching Darwinism “as a fact” implied that instructors might 
acceptably teach Darwinism as a theory. Its particular focus on hypoth-
eses linking humans to lower forms of life suggested that nonhuman 
evolution might be taught without objection. Such nuances, however, 
were absent from public debate. As far as the attentive public was con-
cerned, the Poole Bill quite simply would “prohibit the teaching of evo-
lution in the public schools of North Carolina.”22 

The Poole Bill debate raged across the state. It generated so many 
letters to the Raleigh News and Observer that the editor, having “printed 
an equal number on both sides” and still having “a pack on each side” 
left over, took the unusual step of calling a “moratorium on communi-
cations on evolution.” When the Poole Bill came up for debate in the 
House Committee on Education on 10 February 1925, an “enormous 
crowd” gathered in Raleigh to witness the proceedings.23

The “chief spokesman” in favor of the bill, the man who “carried 
the burden of battle” for his side, was Reverend Professor James R. 
Pentuff, PhD, DD. Pentuff consumed fifty of the sixty minutes allotted 
for debate in favor of the measure. His arguments were his usual ones. 
He insisted that evolution should be banished from the public schools 
“because it isn’t science and, therefore, the State has no right to teach 
it.” Recent scientific findings, he testified, had thoroughly debunked 
Darwin’s theories. Yet because North Carolina educators were lamenta-
bly unwilling to “keep up with the newer sciences,” Darwin’s “discarded 
theories” were still taught in tax-funded schools throughout the state.24

Among the “great crowd” listening to Pentuff ’s presentation that 
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day was William Poteat. Twice, according to press reports, supporters 
urged the Wake Forest president to speak against the bill, “each time his 
name being greeted with long cheering and much handclapping.” But 
because the Poole Bill concerned only tax-supported schools, Poteat, 
who led a private school, thought it best to leave the fighting to repre-
sentatives of public institutions. University of North Carolina president 
Harry Woodburn Chase was among the representatives of tax-supported 
schools who spoke against the resolution. The anti–Poole Bill remarks 
of Bertram Wells, a botanist from North Carolina State College, were 
Poteat-esque. Wells testified that his belief in Darwinian evolution had 
made him more, not less, of a Christian.25

During the trial arising from Pentuff ’s libel suit the following 
year, his behavior at this legislative hearing in 1925 was an issue. The 
allegedly libelous editorial accused Pentuff of being so “unmannerly” 
and “discourteous” during this hearing that the committee chair “sup-
pressed” him. The facts are murky. As reported at the time of the 1925 
hearing, Pentuff responded to some of the Poole Bill’s critics by rhetori-
cally asking when Darwinism had become accepted as fact. The com-
mittee chair told him that he could not “quiz the whole house.” He 
had to address his question to particular persons. “I will ask . . . some 
of my monkey brethren,” Pentuff quipped. With a tap of his gavel, the 
committee chair silenced the pastor. “The gentleman will observe the 
amenities of debate,” he said. Despite close coverage of the hearing, few 
North Carolina newspapers saw anything newsworthy in this exchange. 
Only later, at Pentuff ’s trial, did the incident attract scrutiny.26

Following what the press called “the first big fight of the [1925 leg-
islative] session,” the North Carolina House of Representatives rejected 
the Poole Bill, 67 to 46. The bill’s opponents exhaled. “[W]e have had . . .  
few if any exhibitions in North Carolina worse than this one, few more 
depressing spectacles,” wrote journalist Nell Battle Lewis (whom we shall 
meet again in chapter 5). “I thank God with all my heart that it’s over.”27

But it was not over. Far from surrendering, anti-evolutionists redou-
bled their efforts. Setting their sights on the 1926 elections, they urged 
North Carolinians to return a General Assembly that would be more 
sympathetic to “Christian” concerns than its predecessor had been—
sympathetic enough, they hoped, to pass a new and stronger version of 
the Poole Bill, since the original bill was, in their view, “[g]ood as far as 
it went, but did not go far enough.”28
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In the meantime, individuals in various localities took up the fight, 
led by anti-evolutionists in Mecklenburg County. Mecklenburg was the 
nerve center of anti-evolutionism in North Carolina. Immediately after 
the Poole Bill’s defeat, Mecklenburg citizens sent anti-evolution peti-
tions to state legislators and to public school officials. An association 
of Mecklenburg County ministers adopted and published a series of 
anti-evolutionist resolutions. Around the same time, the Mecklenburg 
County Board of Education passed a resolution opposing the teaching 
of evolution in its public schools “and the teaching of anything that 
brings in question the truth of the Bible or any part therein.” The board 
of education also gave the superintendent and his assistant the power to 
censor public school libraries to keep out “any books on evolution or any 
books that question the truth of the Bible.” Some other counties soon 
followed Mecklenburg’s lead.29

Mecklenburg County’s heavy concentration of Presbyterians helps 
explain its leadership in the North Carolina anti-evolution movement. 
Presbyterians were the state’s third-largest denomination, behind Bap-
tists and Methodists, but were second to none in anti-evolution zeal. 
Two of the nation’s most prominent anti-evolutionists, evangelical 
preacher Billy Sunday and William Jennings Bryan, were Presbyteri-
ans. So was North Carolina’s David Poole, author of the Poole Bill. 
Mecklenburg was the only North Carolina county in which Presby-
terians were the most prevalent denomination. Mecklenburg County 
contained almost three times the Presbyterian population of any other 
North Carolina county.30

Mecklenburg County’s vigorous anti-evolutionism challenges the 
textbook truism that the 1920s evolution debate was a rural-versus-
urban affair, with “urban” on the side of evolution. Mecklenburg was 
one of the most densely populated counties in the state. Only four of 
North Carolina’s one hundred counties were more densely populated. 
Mecklenburg County’s dominant city, Charlotte, ran neck-and-neck 
with Winston-Salem as the state’s largest. Mecklenburg was, in short, 
one of North Carolina’s most urban counties, yet it was also the hub 
of North Carolina anti-evolutionism. Contemporaries traced the Poole 
Bill’s origins to Charlotte.31 

Following the Poole Bill’s defeat in 1925, Pentuff redoubled his anti-
evolution efforts. Much of his work was organizational. He was one of 
the “moving spirits” behind the creation of the “Committee of 100,” a 
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group of anti-evolutionist ministers and laypersons formed in Charlotte 
(Mecklenburg County) in the spring of 1926. This group vowed to fight 
in all one hundred North Carolina counties to remove “un-Christian 
doctrines” from the public schools.32

Pentuff also worked solo. In February 1926, a year after his Poole 
Bill testimony, Pentuff took his anti-evolution message to Fuquay 
Springs, a small town near Raleigh. The press labeled Pentuff ’s Fuquay 
Springs visit the “opening gun” of a much-anticipated drive to elect a 
new General Assembly that would ban evolution from North Carolina’s 
schools. This electoral drive was to begin that June, in North Carolina’s 
Democratic primaries.33

Pentuff delivered two anti-evolution lectures in Fuquay Springs. 
True to form, the first concerned science and the second concerned reli-
gion. Large crowds attended both. The press quoted one “prominent 
Fuquay Springs citizen” who was dazzled by the preacher’s performance. 
“The remarkable thing about Dr. Pentuff ’s lectures,” this sympathetic 
listener remarked, “is that he is so full of his subject that he can deliver 
one lecture after another without any notes and quote authorities and 
give the book and page number, and those who have heard him deliver 
these lectures at different times say that he never gives the same lec-
ture twice.” At the end of Pentuff ’s second Fuquay Springs address, the 
crowd unanimously pledged to support candidates who opposed the 
teaching of evolution.34 

A few days later, the Raleigh Times published a stinging edito-
rial about the Fuquay Springs rally. In Pentuff ’s view, the piece was so 
defamatory, so false, and so malicious that only a transfer of twenty-five 
thousand dollars from newspaper to pastor could return the scales of 
justice to equilibrium.

The author of the offending piece was Raleigh Times editor Oscar 
J. Coffin. Coffin was a liberal southern journalist, one of a group that 
would achieve renown during the century’s middle decades for its com-
paratively progressive views on the issue of race. In the 1920s, however, 
they wrote much less about race than about the need to defend intel-
lectual and cultural liberty in the South against homegrown intolerance. 
O. J. Coffin, like other liberal southern editors of the 1920s, sought to 
enlighten the “benighted South,” one witty editorial at a time. During 
an age of widespread Ku Klux Klan activity, prevalent anti-Catholicism, 
and pervasive attempts to legislate morality, Coffin used his editorials 
to criticize Klan intolerance, speak kindly of “our Catholic friends and 
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neighbors,” and ridicule the overzealousness of moralizing “uplifters,” 
whose incessant attempts to “bolster up the public morals” inevitably 
backfired.35

With regard to the “fundamentalists” and their obsession with evo-
lution, Coffin’s views closely resembled those of William Poteat, whom 
Coffin held in “high and lively regard.” Like Poteat, Coffin was neither 
anticlerical nor antireligion. He was a liberal Protestant who perceived 
no tension between religion and science. Evolution, Coffin wrote, 
was but “God Almighty’s program of progress.” The Poole Bill, that 
“viciously self-righteous” attempt to “enjoin intelligence,” struck Cof-
fin as a futile and absurd attempt to “[pass] a law for the protection” of 
God. God, Coffin assured readers, needed no such assistance. Coffin 
also feared that passage of such a backward measure as the Poole Bill 
would render North Carolina’s legislature “nationally ridiculous.”36

Coffin found Reverend Pentuff, the Poole Bill’s top supporter, to be 
an irresistible target. The editor first noticed Pentuff during the hearing 
on the Poole Bill in 1925. Coffin conceded Pentuff ’s “painful earnest-
ness” but pointed out that honesty of purpose was “not sufficient grounds 
for the enactment of statutes; there must be intelligence coupled with 
it.” Alas, intelligence was in short supply among such “pseudo-scientists 
as the preacher person Mr. Pentupp [sic] from Concord,” whose pre-
sentation was marked by “crass ignorance.” Coffin had a clear message 
for Pentuff and his ilk: “[n]atural law cannot be repealed at will by the 
[North Carolina] House of Representatives, the Senate concurring.”37

When Pentuff reentered the fray the following year, so did Coffin. 
“We see,” Coffin wrote, “that Fuquay Springs under the leadership of 
one Pentuff of Concord has declared war against what it is pleased to 
term evolution.” Coffin hoped that the good people of Fuquay Springs 
had other sources of information on the topic. If they relied on Pentuff, 
they were in trouble. “For Pentuff, if our memory does not play us false,” 
Coffin continued, “is the same chap who tried to tell the legislative 
committee on education all about evolution at the last session of the 
General Assembly.” In Coffin’s view, Pentuff ’s testimony had left evo-
lution in the dark, illuminating only Pentuff ’s own arrogance and igno-
rance. “Beyond stating categorically that he had been president of a 
college or two of which nobody in the audience had ever heard,” Coffin 
wrote, and beyond insisting that “science had disproved something that 
he called ‘evolution’ but had evidently never met,” Pentuff ’s testimony 
had contributed nothing to the legislative debate.38
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As if egotism and ignorance were not bad enough, Coffin further 
charged Pentuff with incivility. Pentuff was, “indeed, so unmannerly in 
his approach to the matter before the House, so discourteous to those 
whom he deemed to be in disagreement with him,” Coffin wrote, “that 
the chairman of the committee . . . suppressed him.” Coffin followed 
these sharp jabs with a roundhouse punch:

There has not to our knowledge appeared in public within the 
memory of the present generation of North Carolinians a more 
ignorant man than Pentuff, or one less charitable toward men 
who might honestly disagree with him. If Fuquay Springs will 
insist on taking the word of an immigrant ignoramus against 
that of men of proven character and intelligence such as Drs. 
[Richard] Vann [former president of Meredith College] and 
Poteat, whom it has known all their lives, we suppose there is 
nothing that can be done about it. But it does the intelligence 
of the people of . . . [Fuquay Springs] scant credit.39

In March 1926, shortly after the publication of the Raleigh Times edito-
rial containing these statements, Pentuff filed his libel suit against Cof-
fin, Raleigh Times publisher John A. Park, and the Times Publishing 
Company, demanding twenty-five thousand dollars.

Pentuff ’s complaint charged that Coffin’s piece had maliciously 
sought to defame him as an individual, as an educator, and as “a min-
ister of the gospel.” Pentuff claimed that the article had disgraced him 
among “members of all the churches of the Baptist denomination in the 
. . . State of North Carolina.” Thanks to the editorial, Pentuff alleged, 
people—especially Baptists—would wrongly conclude that he had been 
“unmannerly” and “discourteous” in legislative debate; that he was an 
“‘uncharitable’ minister of the gospel”; that he was ignorant on the topic 
of evolution; and that he was, in general, an “ignoramus.” Pentuff also 
charged that Coffin’s slurs had caused him “great mental anguish,” both 
personally “and in contemplation of the pain and suffering” that the 
article had caused his wife. Adding this anguish to the aforementioned 
injury, Pentuff calculated that the editorial had damaged him “in the 
sum of twenty-five thousand dollars.”40

The defendants denied having libeled the plaintiff. Their published 
assertion that Pentuff was an unmannerly ignoramus was not libelous, 
they explained, because it was absolutely true.41 The defendants’ hard 
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line was no surprise. Since the episode began, they had been utterly 
unrepentant. North Carolina law provided that plaintiffs who sued 
periodicals for libel had to provide defendants with at least five days’ 
advance warning before they sued. Defendants then had ten days in 
which to print apologies and retractions. Doing so would shield them 
from both punitive damages and pain-and-suffering awards, limiting 
their liability to actual damages only. On 4 March 1926, a week and a 
half after Coffin’s editorial appeared, Pentuff, in accordance with North 
Carolina law, warned the Times that he intended to sue. But the news-
paper published no retraction.

Ten days passed, then nineteen. Pentuff filed suit. The very next 
day, the Times broadcast its lack of repentance. In an article about 
Pentuff ’s newly filed lawsuit, the newspaper refused to back down in any 
way. “[T]here is no desire or intention on the part of The Times to subtract 
anything,” the piece declared. “In our opinion, J. R. Pentuff is ignorant, he 
is unmannerly in debate and he is uncharitable in his dealings with good 
and intelligent men of even his own denomination”—a veiled reference to 
Poteat. “If that be ‘false and defamatory,’ let him make the most of it.”42

Even though the Times was a Raleigh newspaper, Pentuff filed suit 150 
miles to the west, in Concord, where he lived and preached. He would 
enjoy home court advantage in Concord. In addition, since Concord 
was a much smaller town than Raleigh, Pentuff and his lawyers may 
have hoped that jurors there—like the ones in Dayton, Tennessee, who 
had recently convicted John Scopes—would be comparatively receptive 
to their arguments.

At trial, Pentuff bore the burden of proving defamation. He sought 
to refute Coffin’s editorial of 23 February point by point. Coffin had 
claimed that Pentuff was so “unmannerly” and “discourteous” before the 
Education Committee that the chair had “suppressed” him. Depositions 
from plaintiff ’s witnesses stated otherwise. They affirmed that Pentuff 
was perfectly courteous that day and that the chair did not suppress 
him. Pentuff ’s oral testimony concurred: “[During the Poole Bill hear-
ing, I] conducted myself as a gentleman, as if I had been in the pulpit 
preaching the gospel. I do not recall any act of discourtesy or breach of 
good manners on my part.”43

Coffin’s editorial had also accused Pentuff of being an “immigrant 
ignoramus.” Pentuff denied both elements of this charge. By “immi-
grant,” Coffin had not meant that Pentuff was from a foreign country. 
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He had meant that Pentuff was not a North Carolina native. Under 
oath, Pentuff countered that he was a third-generation North Carolin-
ian who had lived in the state for his first seventeen years. Although 
he admittedly left thereafter to study, preach, and teach elsewhere and 
did not “c[o]me back home” until “three or four years” before the libel 
trial, he insisted that he was, by any reasonable measure, a native North 
Carolinian.44

Pentuff strove even harder to refute Coffin’s charge that he was an 
“ignoramus.” The bulk of his direct testimony concerned his educa-
tional credentials. He showed the court a catalog from the San Marcos 
Academy in Texas, where he had worked as dean. The catalog “contains 
a history of the faculty and a picture of me,” he pointed out. Plain-
tiff ’s evidence also included a deposition from the president of Furman 
University, confirming Furman’s conferral upon Pentuff of a bachelor’s 
degree in 1891 and an honorary doctorate nine years later. Plaintiff ’s 
exhibit E was a diploma certifying Pentuff ’s master’s degree from the 
Southern Baptist Theological Seminary. Exhibit F was an old catalog 
from Stephens College, a women’s school in Missouri for which Pentuff 
had served as dean and president.45

Lastly, Pentuff testified that the Times editorial had done him real 
harm. The piece “caused me mental anguish and humiliation,” he said. 
“I have a wife and three children. I am dependent upon my education 
and reputation as a teacher and minister of the gospel for my living for 
myself and children.” Coffin’s “attack on my character and reputation 
has given me a great deal of concern about my future employment.”46

Then came the cross-examination. Defense lawyers were extremely 
well prepared. Acting more like private investigators than attorneys, they 
had dug up huge amounts of dirt on the Baptist preacher. On the stand, 
they forced Pentuff to admit—often after uncomfortable pauses—a 
series of embarrassments. Most were financial. He was briefly jailed 
in Yancey County, North Carolina, for debt. (Pentuff tried to mitigate 
the damage by relating how he had led other prisoners in Bible study.) 
More than once he had passed bad checks. He had engaged in a shady 
stock-selling scheme. As pastor over the years, he had borrowed money 
from multiple church members, many of whom still awaited repayment. 
“How much other money do you owe?” defense lawyers asked at one 
point. Pentuff sheepishly replied, “More than I can pay.”47

Defense lawyers also asked about Miss Twitty, a hen belonging to 
the Pentuff family. (In Scopes trial terms, this was as close as the Pentuff 
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trial got to a “Jonah and the Whale” moment.) Even though hens lay 
no more than one egg per day, the Pentuffs claimed that Miss Twitty 
could lay two or three times that number—up to seventeen eggs in one 
five-day stretch. (When a skeptical neighbor visited one day to witness 
the bird’s prowess, Miss Twitty produced but a single egg.) Seeking to 
capitalize on the local notoriety that they had created for their hen, the 
Pentuffs advertised in a local newspaper that they were selling “[eggs] 
laid by Miss Twitty, who laid twice a day.” Defense lawyers questioned 
Miss Twitty’s astonishing productivity and suggested that the Pentuffs 
had fabricated the story in order to make a quick buck selling eggs. 
Pentuff denied the charge and mocked both the line of questioning 
and the theory of evolution. A rooster shared Miss Twitty’s enclosure, 
Pentuff noted. Perhaps he had laid some of the eggs. “If he is an evo-
lution rooster he would lay eggs,” Pentuff quipped. Miss Twitty was 
unlikely to be an evolution hen, however, “because she didn’t hatch out 
any goose eggs or duck eggs.”48

Pentuff ’s cross-examination helped the defense in several ways. It 
impeached Pentuff ’s credibility as a witness. It suggested that sordid 
financial motives, not legitimate concern about reputation, might have 
motivated his libel suit. Perhaps most importantly, it destroyed Pentuff ’s 
claim to a pristine pre-editorial reputation.

Pentuff v. Park had been the most eagerly anticipated Cabarrus 
County superior court case that term. Thus far, during the plaintiff ’s 
case, spectators—especially voyeuristic ones who enjoyed watching 
people forced to admit embarrassing things about themselves—had 
seen a pretty good show. Then, suddenly, the trial ended, without a sec-
ond part, that being the evidence for the defense. As soon as counsel 
for the plaintiff rested, counsel for the defendants asked the judge to 
terminate (“non-suit”) the trial and declare immediate victory for the 
defense, on the grounds that Pentuff had failed to establish a legiti-
mate cause of action. The defendants’ side argued that Coffin’s alleg-
edly libelous editorial was not “actionable per se.” Nothing in the article, 
in other words, warranted a jury trial. For instance, the editorial did 
not impute to Pentuff an infamous crime or a contagious disease. Most 
importantly, the piece never mentioned that Pentuff was a minister and 
therefore did not explicitly derogate him “in respect to his profession or 
calling.” Even if all of Pentuff ’s allegations were true, defense lawyers 
maintained, there was no reason to continue with the trial, for none of 
his allegations was “actionable.”49
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Those raised exclusively on Scopes might guess that the Cabarrus 
County superior court, sitting in a small southern town not unlike Day-
ton, Tennessee, would deny this defense motion. But Judge A. M. Stack 
granted it and dismissed the complaint. To call a minister an ignoramus, 
Judge Stack explained, was not defamatory, particularly when evolution 
was involved. “When we get to talking about evolution,” the trial judge 
said, displaying very un-Bryan-esque doubt, “we are all ignoramuses.”50

Pentuff immediately appealed to the North Carolina Supreme Court. 
The only question on appeal was whether Coffin’s editorial of 23 Feb-
ruary was “actionable per se,” meaning automatically deserving of a full 
jury trial. If the Supreme Court agreed with Pentuff that the article was 
actionable per se, it would order a new trial. Otherwise, the non-suit 
would stand and the case would end.

Lawyers for both sides addressed Pentuff ’s job as a minister. 
Pentuff ’s vocation mattered because of the Anglo-American common 
law precept that people have a right to the fruits of their industry. An 
entire branch of defamation law derives from that precept. As an influ-
ential legal treatise explained in 1924, the law of defamation enabled a 
“man” to seek monetary compensation when defamatory words dam-
aged his “fair reputation and character in his particular business [emphasis 
added].” For instance, if Jones falsely wrote that Smith, a merchant, was 
bankrupt, Smith could sue for libel on grounds that Jones’s published 
assertion was economically damaging. In this respect, a preacher was no 
different than a merchant, a dentist, or a manual laborer. In each case, 
“words which slander a man in his trade” were “actionable per se.”51

Among the “trades,” however, “ministers of the gospel” enjoyed 
longstanding and special privileges. As explained in an early nineteenth- 
century precedent from Pennsylvania, a given set of barbed words, 
though having no effect upon a layperson’s professional prospects, 
might deprive a clergyman of “that respect, veneration, and confi-
dence, without which he can expect no hearers as a minister of the 
gospel.” Ministers deserved special legal protection, another nineteenth- 
century precedent held, because they are “teachers and exemplars of 
moral and Christian duty; and a pure and even unsuspected moral char-
acter [is] necessary to their usefulness in the community.” A Minnesota 
case from 1910 stated that a clergyman “must, if he is to be successful in 
the practice of his profession, maintain a spotless reputation.” Reduc-
ing the issue to “a mere matter of dollars and cents,” an Ohio court  



80  Law and Society in the South

reasoned that “the purity, the integrity, the uprightness of a minister’s life 
is his capital in this world’s business.” By the time of the Pentuff appeal, 
legal scholars had surveyed the case law and concluded that words could 
often be actionable “when spoken of clergymen which would not be so 
if spoken of others.”52

Reverend Pentuff sought to invoke this doctrine. Confronting him, 
however, was an inconvenient factual obstacle: the Raleigh Times edito-
rial upon which his suit was based never mentioned that he was a pas-
tor. Authorities split on whether he could still claim special clergymen’s 
prerogatives. Precedents in some states held that, as far as libel law was 
concerned, members of the clergy never went off duty. “[A] minister 
being both a teacher and an exemplar of morality,” a Kentucky case 
held in 1921, “[i]t is not possible . . . to draw a line of demarcation 
between his conduct as a minister and his conduct as a man. . . . Destroy 
the people’s confidence in his morality . . . and you end his career as a 
minister.”53

North Carolina precedents, however, were not helpful to Pentuff. 
The leading case was McDowell v. Bowles (1860). McDowell was a 
Baptist minister and self-described “clear blooded white man.” He sued 
Bowles for slander after Bowles verbally alleged that Reverend McDow-
ell was actually a “free negro” and therefore ineligible to vote. As in 
Pentuff, the trial judge non-suited the plaintiff. McDowell appealed. 
The North Carolina Supreme Court upheld the non-suit on grounds 
that the words in question made no mention of plaintiff ’s trade. The 
“sacred character” of McDowell’s profession, the court elaborated, was 
irrelevant unless the alleged defamation concerned him “in his capacity 
of minister.” This precedent appeared to bode ill for Pentuff, since the 
editorial of 23 February neither mentioned Pentuff ’s trade nor obvi-
ously concerned him “in his capacity of minister.”54

Pentuff ’s appellate briefs contended—weakly—that McDowell 
should not apply since it involved spoken defamation (slander) rather 
than written defamation (libel). With more force, Pentuff ’s lawyers 
urged the court to reject the McDowell doctrine, since it would have 
the absurd consequence of allowing publishers to dodge liability merely 
by avoiding explicit mention of their victims’ lines of work. “If this be 
the law,” they argued, newspapers could “falsely and maliciously” print 
horrible things about any well-known minister, teacher, or lawyer “and 
escape liability therefore simply by calling the proper name of said min-
ister, teacher or lawyer, without adding the term minister, teacher or 
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lawyer . . . when every reader of said . . . publication knows that the per-
son referred to is in fact a minister, teacher or lawyer.”55

Defense attorneys countered that Coffin’s editorial, like the alleged 
slander in McDowell, was utterly unrelated to the plaintiff ’s profession. 
“There is nothing in the entire article which would even tend to intimate 
that the plaintiff was remotely connected with ministerial work,” they 
argued. The editorial was merely “an attack on the plaintiff ’s knowledge 
of evolution, a knowledge which he, by making a public address on the 
subject, held himself out as having.” To say that a minister would suffer 
professional embarrassment when charged with ignorance of evolution 
made no more sense than to say that a lawyer would suffer profession-
ally if charged with ignorance of Einstein’s theory of relativity.56

On this point, and on all others, the North Carolina Supreme Court 
held for Pentuff. Its 1927 opinion, by Justice Heriot Clarkson, found 
that Coffin’s editorial was indeed “actionable per se.” Justice Clarkson 
wrote that the editorial was “calculated to injure [Pentuff ] in his voca-
tion or calling as a minister of the Gospel,” even though it nowhere men-
tioned Pentuff ’s profession. Clarkson marshaled three underwhelming 
arguments in defense of this proposition. First, Clarkson found a pas-
sage in the Coffin editorial that, in his judgment, implicitly referred to 
Pentuff as a minister. This was the passage in which Coffin wrote, “If 
Fuquay Springs will insist on taking the word of an immigrant ignora-
mus [Pentuff ] against that of men of proven character and intelligence, 
such as Drs. Vann and Poteat, whom it has known all their lives, we 
suppose there is nothing that can be done about it.” Justice Clarkson 
wrote that this passage “compared [Pentuff ] with two well-known min-
isters”—Vann and Poteat—and therefore indirectly “referr[ed] to plain-
tiff in his calling.” Even though the editorial did not state that Vann 
and Poteat were ministers, Clarkson suggested, their fame as ministers 
was such that any comparison with them would imply to readers that 
Pentuff was also a minister.57

This analysis would have been questionable even had it been fac-
tually accurate, but it was not factually accurate. Vann and Poteat were 
principally known as educators, not ministers. (Coffin’s editorial sug-
gested as much by referring to them as “Drs.,” not “Reverends.”) Vann, 
it is true, was ordained in the Baptist Church and had worked in the late 
nineteenth century as a pastor. Since the turn of the century, however, 
he had focused primarily on his “life’s great work”: education. His great-
est fame derived from his high-profile presidency of Meredith College, 
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a Baptist school for women. The “minister” label fit Poteat even more 
poorly. Poteat was a biologist and a college president. Although he was 
also a Baptist lay leader, he was not a member of the clergy. Clarkson 
was simply wrong on the facts.58

For his second argument, Clarkson pointed out that the follow-
up editorial that the Raleigh Times published on 24 March in response 
to Pentuff ’s decision to sue did explicitly name Pentuff ’s profession. 
This editorial mentioned “one J. R. Pentuff of Concord, by profession 
a preacher.” Pentuff ’s libel suit, however, concerned the editorial of 23 
February, not 24 March. By 24 March, Pentuff had already filed his libel 
suit.59 

In his final argument, Clarkson quoted approvingly from treatises 
and out-of-state precedents regarding the legal preferences that cler-
gymen enjoyed as plaintiffs in defamation cases. “Though a charge of 
immorality . . . is not actionable per se,” one of these passages read, 
“there is an exception in the case of clergyman or priest.” Clarkson also 
quoted a passage asserting that ministers, “being teachers and exemplars 
of moral and Christian duty,” carried with them “constantly, whether 
in or out of the pulpit, superior obligations to exhibit in [their] whole 
deportment the purity of that religion which [they profess] to teach.”60

Clarkson’s review of precedents was notably selective. Conspicu-
ously absent was McDowell v. Bowles (1860), the presumably control-
ling in-state precedent in which the North Carolina Supreme Court 
had upheld the non-suit of a minister’s defamation case because the 
alleged defamation—Bowles’s allegation that McDowell was a “free 
negro”—had failed to touch the plaintiff “in his capacity of minis-
ter.” Although appellate briefs for both sides had extensively discussed 
McDowell, Clarkson did not mention it.61

To understand Clarkson’s ruling fully, we must move beyond black-
letter law and consider the black-robed lawmaker. Everything in Clark-
son’s past predisposed him to side with Pentuff. Like Pentuff, Justice 
Clarkson was a self-described religious fundamentalist and a cultural 
traditionalist. He did not hesitate to incorporate his religious faith into 
his legal opinions. He peppered his legal rulings with quotations from 
biblical passages and citations to scriptural authority. “It may be well 
for us to hark back to the Mosaic law,” he once explained in a usury 
case, before quoting from Leviticus. Off the bench, Clarkson was a life-
long and influential advocate of alcohol prohibition. Anti-evolutionism 
closely resembled the alcohol prohibition movement, which also was 
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church based and sought to marshal state power against a cultural influ-
ence that many fundamentalists perceived as corrosive. Moreover, Clark-
son was a longtime resident of Charlotte, the center of North Carolina 
anti-evolutionism.62

Clarkson’s Supreme Court colleagues probably offered little resis-
tance to his pro-clerical views. Chief Justice Walter Stacy, for instance, 
was active in Christian groups and was a Methodist minister’s son. Asso-
ciate Justice George Connor prepared for college by studying under the 
tutorship of an Episcopal priest and remained a devout Episcopalian 
thereafter. Clarkson was no outlier.63

Clarkson’s background and values affected his Pentuff ruling. Recall 
the defendants’ argument that knowledge of evolution was as irrelevant 
to a minister’s job as knowledge of physics was to a lawyer’s. Clarkson’s 
experiences as a churchgoer impelled him to disagree. Evolution, he 
wrote in his decision, absolutely was “discussed by clergymen in their 
vocation or calling.” To ridicule Pentuff ’s views on evolution, therefore, 
was to touch him professionally. This made the editorial actionable per 
se.64

Clarkson’s pro-clerical ruling gave voice to the widely held, cultur-
ally conservative fear that public esteem for religious leaders had eroded 
dangerously. During the “Roaring Twenties,” when middle-class flout-
ing of the church-backed Prohibition law was rampant and when popu-
lar works such as Sinclair Lewis’s Elmer Gantry (published just months 
before Clarkson’s Pentuff ruling) openly mocked organized religion and 
attacked the clergy, traditionalists such as Clarkson worried that Amer-
ican religion was under siege. On the very day that Clarkson’s Pentuff 
ruling appeared, one Tar Heel traditionalist lamented in the press that 
Americans one generation earlier had “accepted . . . what they heard 
from the pulpit.” But in the 1920s, “no institution is more slandered 
than the church and no men more [slandered] than Christian min-
isters.” In Pentuff, Clarkson sought to combat this trend by granting 
members of the clergy special legal protection.65

Liberal journalists objected to the North Carolina Supreme Court’s 
ruling. They found the “clerical license” (to quote one Raleigh headline) 
that Clarkson granted in Pentuff to be deeply troubling. The Raleigh 
Times (no longer edited by Coffin) bemoaned the “perilous . . . implica-
tions” of Clarkson’s holding that the offending editorial was actionable 
just “because the plaintiff happened to be . . . a minister.” The debate 
between Justice Clarkson and his liberal detractors mirrored the day’s 
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larger debates between traditionalists and modernists over the proper 
role of religion in society.66

Clarkson’s North Carolina Supreme Court decision appeared to bring 
Pentuff v. Park to a Scopes-like conclusion. It appeared that, in the North 
Carolina courts, creationism and the clergy had won, while evolution 
and free speech had lost. Scholars have characterized Pentuff v. Park in 
this way.67

Clarkson’s ruling, however, did not end the case. There remained the 
retrial back in Concord. All of the advantages appeared to favor Pentuff. 
As in the first trial, the suit would be heard in his hometown, before 
a jury of churchgoers, “most” of whom (according to the press) were 
farmers. Moreover, Pentuff now enjoyed several new advantages. Per-
haps most importantly, his claims now carried the powerful imprima-
tur of the North Carolina Supreme Court. Justice Clarkson could have 
ruled simply that the non-suit was flawed and that Pentuff deserved a 
jury trial. But Clarkson appeared to go much further, suggesting not 
just that Pentuff deserved a full trial but also that he deserved to win 
that trial. The defendants had referred to Pentuff in his calling, Clark-
son declared. Their libel had exposed Pentuff to contempt and ridicule. 
The editorial was “libelous per se.” The new judge and jury in Concord 
would have to consider the case in the strongly pro-Pentuff light ema-
nating from the state’s highest court.68

Pentuff ’s lawyers also had strengthened their arguments. Their 
original libel claim had focused exclusively on Coffin’s editorial of 23 
February. When the case returned to Concord for retrial, Pentuff ’s law-
yers renewed their twenty-five-thousand-dollar claim based on the 23 
February article and added a new thirty-five-thousand-dollar claim, 
based on the 24 March follow-up article. Because the March piece, 
unlike its predecessor, mentioned Pentuff ’s profession, the new claim 
improved Pentuff ’s odds of prevailing. It also increased the total libel 
claim to sixty thousand dollars—twenty-four times the pastor’s annual 
salary.69

Pentuff also had fresh evidence of damage. In October 1926, around 
the time of the first trial, Pentuff had resigned from Concord’s McGill 
Street Baptist Church. Thereafter, Pentuff alleged, Coffin’s libels had 
prevented him from obtaining new work. Pentuff claimed that he “had 
always been able to secure employment.” After the editorials appeared, 
however, “I have tried to get positions and have not been able.” No 
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Baptist congregation in eastern North Carolina, where the Raleigh 
Times circulated, would hire him. A Piedmont congregation considered 
employing him until “what they had seen in the newspapers” changed 
their mind. “It grew out of that editorial,” Pentuff told the jury. “I have 
gone hungry when I needed food as a direct result of these publications.” 
Too much worry and too little food had hurt his health and caused him 
to lose twenty-five pounds over nine months.70

At the retrial, however, none of these advantages—not the home 
court, not the Supreme Court seal of approval, not the inclusion of the 
March editorial, and not the new evidence of damage—was enough. 
Pentuff lost. The jury, mostly farmers, was out for less than two hours—
including a forty-minute supper break—before delivering a “complete 
victory” to O. J. Coffin and the Raleigh Times. Pentuff had sought sixty 
thousand dollars. The jury awarded him nothing.71

The jury did not explain its verdict, of course. Juries never offi-
cially do. Guided by newspaper commentary of the time, however, we 
can speculate about why the jury may have ruled as it did. First, the 
jury’s verdict for the Raleigh Times may have been a simple expression 
of support for free speech. Ever since the trial of John Peter Zenger in 
1735, American juries have often rejected the attempts of public figures 
to use the law to stifle criticism. Thin-skinned, pretentious plaintiffs 
have fared especially poorly. At trial, Pentuff may have cut just such a 
figure.72 Free speech was the preferred explanation of cultural conser-
vatives, who preferred not to consider the verdict’s other implications. 
Newspapers published in the anti-evolution hotbed of Mecklenburg 
County ascribed the Pentuff verdict to free speech. The Charlotte News 
said nothing about the case’s broader political context, reporting only 
that the jury had upheld the “right of The Raleigh Times . . . to call Dr. 
James R. Pentuff . . . an ‘immigrant ignoramus.’” Similarly, the Char-
lotte Observer downplayed the evolution angle and highlighted the ver-
dict’s apparent insistence that “a newspaper has a right to express itself 
freely.”73

Jurors also may have been motivated by an aversion to Justice Clark-
son’s belief that members of the clergy deserved special legal advan-
tages. Clarkson had ruled that some things could be actionable if said 
of “clergymen” that would not be actionable if said of others. Jurors may 
have bristled at this attempt to establish a two-tiered system of justice 
in North Carolina. Some liberal pundits were convinced that the jury’s 
verdict was at least partly a protest against Clarkson’s excessive pro-
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clericalism. Although the Raleigh Times found the case’s free-speech 
angle to be important, it found the jury’s courageous refusal, “in the face 
of a Supreme Court opinion,” to grant the plaintiff a preferred posi-
tion “by reason of his calling” to be even more important. “[N]ot even a 
Supreme Court opinion,” the newspaper reporter marveled, could make 
jurors accept “the class distinction” favoring clergymen that Clarkson’s 
opinion had attempted to write into North Carolina law.74

Finally, the jury verdict might be understood as a clear defeat for 
anti-evolutionism. Note the new trial judge’s charge to the jury, when, 
at trial’s end, he reiterated Pentuff ’s twin allegations: that the editorials 
were “slanderous” and that they were “false.” Because the North Carolina 
Supreme Court had already confirmed that the editorials were “slander-
ous,” the trial judge explained, the only remaining issue was whether 
they were “false.” The trial judge, therefore, instructed jurors to consider 
three questions: Were the charges contained in the first editorial true? 
Were the charges contained in the second editorial true? If the jury 
answered “no” to either or both of these questions, it would consider a 
third one: “What damage, if any, is the plaintiff entitled to recover?”75

Quickly and unanimously, the twelve-man jury found the two edi-
torials to be “true.” Was it “true” that Professor Pentuff spoke of evolu-
tion as if he had “evidently never met” it? The jury thought so. Was it 
“true” that Pentuff, one of the state’s top anti-evolution authorities, was 
an “ignoramus”? Yes, it was. Was it “true” that no public North Carolin-
ian within memory was “more ignorant . . . than Pentuff ”? Yes. If any 
of the jurors had shared Pentuff ’s views on evolution, the jury surely 
would have had trouble answering these questions so quickly in the 
affirmative.

Anti–Poole Bill commentators were quick to embrace this final 
analysis. They giddily viewed Pentuff as a “decisive licking” for anti-
evolutionists in North Carolina. For the first time, one widely reprinted 
analysis noted, evolution had come directly before the “so[v]ran  
pee-pul”—a twelve-person jury—rather than an elite group, such as the 
General Assembly. And these twelve citizens, “with no evolutionists to 
‘gog and magog’” them, “let the verdict speak the truth. . . . [They] have 
said that they do not care to have the subject of biology made a political 
issue in North Carolina.”76

The jury’s striking willingness to defy Justice Clarkson’s Supreme 
Court ruling recalls the story of Marville Scroggins, related in chapter 
1. When Scroggins sought a divorce, Justice Thomas Ruffin, an elite 
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defender of traditional values, used the North Carolina high bench as 
a pulpit from which to preach the sanctity of marriage. A century later, 
Justice Clarkson, another elite defender of traditional values, similarly 
used Pentuff to preach respect for members of the clergy. Neither ruling 
appears to have gained much traction with North Carolina’s ordinary 
citizens. Marville Scroggins defiantly moved out of state and remarried, 
even though Justice Ruffin had refused to allow his divorce. A century 
later, Cabarrus County jurors likewise thumbed their noses at Justice 
Clarkson. Historians should think twice before treating elite (and easy-
to-research) opinion makers such as Ruffin and Clarkson as spokes-
people for their respective ages.

Pentuff v. Park should prompt rethinking of many Scopes-based assump-
tions. The evolution debate in Pentuff did not pit North against South, 
city against country, or, in any simple way, religion against science. 
Pentuff ’s litigation involved civil law, not criminal law. And the trial 
verdict resulted in a loss, not a victory, for anti-evolution forces. His-
torical discussion of Darwinism in the 1920s will probably always begin 
with Scopes, but it should not end there.

The Pentuff verdict brought a symbolic end to the 1920s evolu-
tion conflict in North Carolina. According to the local press, Pentuff ’s 
defeat represented “the last and the [most] grandiose effort to agitate 
among the untutored” of the state on behalf of anti-evolution.77

The Pentuff imbroglio did not damage O. J. Coffin’s journalistic 
career. In the year of the first trial, he joined the prestigious faculty 
of the University of North Carolina as a journalism professor. Subse-
quently, when the university created a separate journalism school, Cof-
fin was its inaugural dean.78

William Poteat retired from Wake Forest University in 1927. He 
remained engaged in public affairs and continued to mix science with 
religion, as when he advocated eugenics, a popular “reform” concept 
during the interwar period.79

Justice Heriot Clarkson served on the North Carolina Supreme 
Court until the early 1940s. As chapter 6 will show, his legal decisions 
continued to cite both law books and the “Good Book.”

James Pentuff did not prosper. The libel suit that he initiated to 
burnish his reputation wound up soiling it. “If Mr. Pentuff had said 
nothing about [the alleged libel],” the Raleigh Times accurately observed 
in 1926, “only that part of [this newspaper’s readership] who turn to 
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the editorial page would ever have known that we had termed him an 
‘immigrant ignoramus’ and they would have soon forgot it.” Instead, 
Pentuff ’s shortcomings were broadcast statewide. Following his court-
room loss, a still-unemployed Pentuff moved, fittingly, to Mecklen-
burg County, North Carolina’s anti-evolution hub. He died in 1942, 
too early to witness the anti-evolutionist revival that continues to this 
day, a revival in which we hear more than a faint echo of Pentuff-esque 
“creation science.”80
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Chapter 5

“Escape of the Match-Strikers”
The Samarcand Arson Case of 1931

In his KKK-approved sermon to Charlotte’s Calvary Methodist Church 
in 1922, Reverend J. A. Sharp foreshadowed the previous chapter by urg-
ing that there be more God and less atheism in the public schools. He 
also foreshadowed the present chapter by lamenting modernity’s effect 
on young women. In the Jazz Age, Reverend Sharp lamented, young 
women “park their corsets on the outside of the pavilion and throw 
decency to the wind, exclaiming: ‘Come on, boys, the sky is the limit.’    ”1

Reverend Sharp’s concerns reflected fundamental transformations 
in what it meant to be a young woman, including an unruly young 
woman, in the South. Wage labor in textiles and other industries, com-
mercialized leisure, the enhanced power of the state, the perceived 
fraying of rural communities, new sexual mores, and other features of 
cultural modernity did not create the unruly southern white woman (for 
she had long existed) but did affect debates about her proper treat-
ment. One result was the creation of state-run “training schools,” whose 
purpose was to reform wayward young white women. North Carolina 
opened such an institution, the Samarcand Manor Industrial Training 
School, in 1918. Thirteen years later, a suspected case of arson at this 
all-white facility transfixed the region and reignited debates about the 
state’s treatment of disorderly women.

On the afternoon of 12 March 1931, in rural Moore County, adminis-
trators at the Samarcand Manor “training school” for delinquent white 
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girls heard screams and saw smoke rising from Bicket Hall. By the time 
fire trucks barreled past the “no trespassing” signs at the facility’s gate, 
it was too late. Bicket was destroyed. Among the anxious onlookers was 
a young resident of nearby Chamberlain Hall, Margaret Pridgen. Prid-
gen, a week shy of fifteen, typified Samarcand’s inmate population. Her 
father had committed her to the institution not for any criminal or violent 
behavior but for “being mean & running around” with men. Nearly two 
years after her arrival, Pridgen remained in Samarcand, subject to a staff 
notorious for administering harsh punishments for even trivial offenses.2

The fire that destroyed Bicket Hall surprised administrators but 
not residents familiar with the recent gossip that some inmates were will-
ing to burn Samarcand down in order to escape its torments. Margaret 
Pridgen had heard this gossip. That evening, when some girls were in bed 
and others were undressing in nearby Chamberlain Hall, Pridgen entered 
a closet, set a match to some paper, and burned the building down.3

The Samarcand blaze of 1931 illuminates a little-seen corner of 
Depression-era southern history: the interaction between the legal sys-
tem and young, white, working-class women. It also casts light on a 
contentious issue: how the American legal system has treated disorderly 
women. Some scholars maintain that the legal system applied a harsh 
double standard that punished women for behavior tolerated in men. 
Others conclude the reverse: that the legal system, in the tradition of 
patronizing chivalry, historically treated women with unique lenience 
and gentleness.4

In the Samarcand case, this chapter suggests, North Carolina 
employed both a harsh double standard and legal chivalry to enforce pre-
vailing standards of white, female propriety. The state enforced a code 
of acceptable behavior that was, in many ways, especially rigid for young 
white women. But when excessive rigor provoked Samarcand’s inmates to 
acts of violence and destruction, the state, proclaiming chivalrous intent, 
treated the young white female lawbreakers with special leniency.

The first part of this chapter shows how North Carolina, through 
Samarcand Manor, sought to force conventional behavioral norms on 
southern white women. Promiscuous, cigarette-smoking, young white 
females were just as troubling to moralists in the textile-producing 
South as they were to moralists in the Jazz Age North. As in the previ-
ous chapter, where the subject was evolution, traditionalists, troubled by 
modern trends, looked to the government for redress. The Samarcand 
Manor Industrial Training School was one innovative legal response.
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The second part of the chapter argues that the legal system, in addi-
tion to affecting the behavior of transgressive women, was affected by 
that behavior. The Samarcand arson case horrified North Carolinians. 
At a time of penal reform nationally, the press and the public were quick 
to hold reformatories accountable for inmates’ misdeeds. This was espe-
cially so with Samarcand, where the unruly inmates were white women, 
a group assumed to be naturally disinclined to disorderly behavior. The 
arson case convinced people that reform was necessary, for only a grave 
institutional failure could have produced such a troubling breakdown of 
white femininity. Thus, the Samarcand women’s destructiveness, having 
been provoked by their harsh treatment at the hands of the legal system, 
in turn provoked reform of that system.

The Samarcand Manor Industrial Training School was a product of the 
“rehabilitative ideal” prevalent in the first two decades of the twenti-
eth century. When applied to juvenile justice, the “rehabilitative ideal” 
sought not so much to punish delinquent children as to reshape them 
into respectable future adults. A keystone of juvenile rehabilitation was 
the “training school,” an institution dedicated to the vocational, aca-
demic, physical, and moral education of wayward youth.5

Like many other southern states, North Carolina was comparatively 
late in establishing its juvenile institutional program. It did not open 
its first training school for girls, Samarcand Manor, until 1918. Built 
in rural Eagle Springs, amid the pine forests and sandhills of south-
central North Carolina, Samarcand eventually sprouted many build-
ings, including a small hospital, a chapel, and seven multilevel residence 
halls, each of which housed about forty inmates. The typical Samarcand 
resident was in her teens and came from a poor, often farming or mill-
working family.6

Samarcand’s mission statement, written by R. Eugene Brown, the 
assistant commissioner of the state’s Department of Welfare, embodied 
the reformist sentiment of the Progressive Era: “The fundamental idea 
of Samarcand Manor is that every girl upon entering leaves her past 
behind her and begins life anew. The underlying principles of her train-
ing are the preparation of the girl for a useful life.”7

North Carolina’s system of training schools illustrates just how salient 
the distinctions of race and sex were in the first third of the twentieth 
century. The state maintained separate and unequal training schools for 
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white boys, white girls, black boys, and black girls, respectively. Stone-
wall Jackson Training School (established 1907) and the Eastern Caro-
lina Industrial Training School (1923) served white males; Samarcand 
(1918) served white females; the Morrison Training School for Negro 
Boys (1921) and the Efland Home (privately founded in 1921 and 
given some state support starting in 1927) received at least some state 
money and served African American youth. Each quadrant had its own 
ideology.

North Carolina’s training schools treated errant white boys quite 
differently than errant white girls. For instance, white teenage boys were 
sent to Stonewall Jackson only by state officials (usually judges) and only 
when found guilty of specific criminal infractions. Jackson boys were 
committed for the following sorts of offenses: larceny (the most com-
mon offense), trespassing, housebreaking, storebreaking, breaking into 
freight cars, violating Prohibition laws, and manslaughter.8 White teen-
age girls, on the other hand, could be sent to Samarcand (if approved by 
the facility’s board of directors) by family members as well as by courts 
and could be sent upon the mere suspicion that they were in danger of 
straying down unladylike paths. To be sure, some Samarcand inmates 
had been convicted of such misdemeanors as vagrancy, public drunken-
ness, and prostitution. Other inmates, however, had not been convicted 
of any offense. “[Maybe] the girl herself hasn’t done anything [wrong],” 
one approving reporter noted of Samarcand’s admissions policies in 
1931. “Perhaps her home simply isn’t and can’t be made a fit place for 
her to grow up in.” In 1929, a Wake County juvenile court ordered 
Mary Jones to Samarcand not for violating any law but rather for living 
“in such environments that she was likely to develop into an immoral” 
woman. An aunt committed one of the young arson suspects because 
she would not stay home.9

The typical Samarcand inmate was committed for promiscuity, for 
“being in danger of prostitution,” for “running around,” for drinking, 
for disobeying her parents, or for refusing to attend school. As this list 
suggests, girls often were incarcerated for conduct that would have been 
deemed unremarkable, and no basis for commitment, in boys.10

Not surprisingly, the “training” offered by the two institutions also 
differed. Jackson boys supplemented their book learning with instruc-
tion in plumbing, carpentry, masonry, electrical work, metal work, dairy-
ing, poultry husbandry, printing, shoe-making, woodworking, and auto 
mechanics. Samarcand girls supplemented their academic and religious 
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studies with instruction in arts and crafts, weaving, cooking, sewing, 
housekeeping, gardening, and fruit and vegetable canning.11

Samarcand inmates had fewer rights and more restrictions than 
their male counterparts at Jackson. Their curfew was earlier, for instance. 
Unlike Jackson boys over fifteen years of age, they were not permitted 
to smoke cigarettes. Even the disciplinary humiliations meted out at 
the two facilities reinforced prevailing gender roles. Jackson boys who 
misbehaved were sometimes “made to wear dresses.” If a Samarcand 
girl was caught attempting to run away, one inmate reported, “they cut 
your hair.”12

Subtle differences also distinguished the ways in which the two 
institutions released their charges. Both Jackson and Samarcand moni-
tored the progress of inmates and discharged only those deemed fit. 
But because Jackson boys were committed for specific crimes, their sen-
tences, though extremely flexible in practice, nonetheless technically 
resembled traditional penal sentences. The file of one Jackson boy, for 
instance, reports his being “sentenced to serve sixty days for larceny.”13

In contrast, the law establishing Samarcand specified that “[n]o 
commitment shall be for any definite term.” Samarcand girls served until 
the institution’s trustees discharged them or until they turned twenty-
one. By the time of the arson case, Samarcand inmates had grown 
deeply resentful of their indefinite sentences. As one girl complained in 
a letter to the girls’ defense lawyer, residents “could not understand why 
some girls could come and stay only a few months while others who had 
already spent . . . [more than] two years were not allowed to leave.”14

In the world of North Carolina training schools, distinctions of 
race were just as pronounced as distinctions of sex. Samarcand, unlike 
many comparable institutions for young women in the North, was for 
whites only. For years, North Carolina offered nothing comparable for 
blacks. Lacking the in-between “training-school” option that Samar-
cand offered whites, young African American women were either sent 
to prison or were entirely outside of the correctional system. This was 
both blatantly discriminatory and insulting. The state’s racist policy 
implied that straying white girls could be nudged back onto the path of 
respectability but that straying black girls were a lost cause, not worth 
the effort to try to “train” back to virtue.15

In the early-1920s, Charlotte Hawkins Brown, an African Ameri-
can philanthropist from North Carolina, demanded that the state redress 
this inequity. When the state dragged its feet, Brown’s group, the Fed-
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eration of Colored Women’s Clubs, pooled $30,000 in private money to 
establish a modest “training school” in Efland, North Carolina. North 
Carolina finally agreed to provide the Efland Home with some public 
funding by the end of the 1920s, but only a pittance. Annual appropria-
tions at decade’s end were about $150,000 for Jackson, $100,000 for 
Samarcand, and $2,000 for Efland.16

Although Efland served young women, many of its policies more 
closely resembled Jackson’s than Samarcand’s. Like Jackson boys, for 
instance, Efland girls were admitted only by judicial order and only 
after committing crimes. The many discrepancies between Efland and 
Samarcand suggest that the powerful “southern cult of ladyhood” was 
closed to blacks, notwithstanding the best efforts of African American 
“uplifters” such as Charlotte Hawkins Brown.17

In its early years, Samarcand achieved a reputation as, in the words of 
one journalist, “heaven on earth” for its growing population of fallen 
white angels. Newspapers portrayed Samarcand as a “moral life-saving 
station,” a veritable “model for institutions of its character.”18 In the late 
1920s, however, conditions at Samarcand deteriorated. Many attributed 
Samarcand’s problems to the failed leadership of Superintendent Agnes 
McNaughton. As superintendent, McNaughton enjoyed (in the words 
of the North Carolina Code) “the same power [over her] inmates as keep-
ers of jails and other penal institutions possess as to persons commit-
ted to their custody.” The immigrant Scot exercised this power freely, 
provoking the enmity of employees and inmates alike. Staff members 
constantly feared losing their positions. One instructor later recalled 
that “no one ever knew when they got up in the morning whether they 
would be fired before nightfall.” From January 1929 through March 
1931, there were ninety-eight personnel changes at Samarcand, an 
annual turnover rate of 114 percent.19

By the early 1930s, complaints about McNaughton’s leadership 
abounded. Samarcand’s physician compared the facility to “a ship with-
out a rudder” and advised that the “school will do better under a new 
head and new management.” The superintendent of a nearby public 
school system remarked that, thanks to McNaughton’s mismanage-
ment, “these girls have not had the care and guidance that should be 
guaranteed to every girl.”20

For Samarcand inmates, however, a more pressing concern than the 
lack of “care and guidance” was the dreadful catalog of punishments 
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that they had to endure whenever they broke one of the institution’s 
many rules. According to the defendants in the 1931 arson case, inmates 
guilty of even first-time, insignificant offenses were subject to being 
held facedown while McNaughton ordered staff members—or other 
inmates—to beat them with switches, sticks, or leather straps. Accused 
arsonist Margaret Pridgen reported being flogged in this manner once 
as punishment for bringing dessert to a girl in solitary confinement. 
Some beatings were so severe that staffers would “put water in [the 
beaten girls’] faces to keep them from fainting.” Other beatings sent 
inmates to Samarcand’s small “hospital,” where McNaughton occasion-
ally irritated nurses by interfering with treatment. Solitary confinement 
in small, bug-infested rooms for weeks or months with scratchy blan-
kets and no sheets was another common punishment (never mind that 
the North Carolina state penitentiary, home to hardened felons, had 
abolished both flogging and the “dark cell” in 1923). Sixteen-year-old 
Mary Lee Bronson succinctly summarized conditions at Samarcand as 
of 1931: “They treated you like a dog.” It is little wonder that many 
inmates contemplated arson.21

On 12 March 1931, fire, in the words of the press’s breathless reports, 
“totally destroyed” two Samarcand residence halls. The New York 
Times estimated the damages at $100,000; the News and Observer of 
Raleigh guessed twice that amount. Both estimates exceeded Samar-
cand’s total annual appropriations at the time: about $90,000. Mak-
ing matters worse, insurance on the two buildings totaled less than 
$30,000.22

After the fires were extinguished and the eighty or so Bicket and 
Chamberlain girls resettled among the institution’s remaining (and 
already overcrowded) buildings, the administration, suspecting an inside 
case of arson, ordered staff members to investigate. They moved quickly. 
Within a day, police had arrested sixteen inmates for arson in the first 
degree. The punishment facing “any person” convicted of this crime was 
death.23

Not one of the “Samarcand 16” had been violent before arriving in 
Eagle Springs. Like most inmates, they had been sent to the institution 
for running away, running around, refusing to obey parents, refusing 
to attend school, or committing any of the sexual offenses that ranged 
from “immoral conduct” to “promiscuity” to “prostitution.” One of the 
suspects, Margaret Abernethy, had never been in trouble before moving 
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to Samarcand. She was sent to the institution because of “mistreatment 
by father”—incest—that began when she was but ten years of age.24

What provoked these sixteen young women, none of whom had 
previously been destructive, to arson? Paradoxically, it was Samarcand 
itself. The press reported that the inmates set the blaze to protest foul 
conditions, including the cracker-and-water diets that they routinely 
suffered for rules infractions. Margaret Pridgen later explained that 
Samarcand made her “just feel mean.” She and the others hoped that 
their desperate act would force administrators to “send them home.”25 
The fire did free the sixteen young defendants from Samarcand, but it 
did not “send them home.” Instead, it landed them in jails around the 
state. Despite Pridgen’s attempt to take full responsibility, the state filed 
preliminary charges of first-degree arson against all sixteen girls, each 
allegedly having “admitted some part in firing the buildings.” So in jail 
they remained, awaiting a “trial for [their] lives” that was scheduled for 
May.26

More disorder followed. On 15 April 1931, after about a month in 
custody, six of the “Samarcand 16” rioted at the Robeson County Jail 
in Lumberton. Using matches apparently collected (along with ciga-
rettes) from sympathetic visitors, the girls started what was called “the 
worst insurrection in the history of this section” of the jail by setting 
their bunks on fire. The jailer to whose “fatherly guidance” (as the press 
phrased it) the young women had been entrusted saw the smoke and 
feared that it would choke the young women. He removed the group 
from danger by unlocking their cell and turning them out into an adjoin-
ing common-area “run around.” According to press reports, the Samar-
cand group responded by dashing to the windows, “tearing out panes 
of glass and sash,” and attacking a jailer with the shards, “cutting one 
finger almost off and filling his face with glass.” When Robeson County 
sheriff  P. S. Kornegay and the Lumberton fire department arrived, they 
met the same treatment. Glass flew and the girls’ profanity “rent the 
air.” Sheriff Kornegay finally restored order with physical force. After 
moving the girls to a cell from which every piece of furniture had been 
removed, officials arranged their transfer to the Moore County Jail, near 
Samarcand.27

Two weeks later, Moore County Jail officials learned “just how 
much of a rampage five little girls can kick up when they really go ‘on 
the prod.’” Though held in a supposedly “fire-proof cell,” the five riotous 
transfers from Lumberton (the sixth being hospitalized with appendici-
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tis at the time) again set fire to their bunks. The flames were extinguished 
quickly, but jailers again released the girls from their smoke-filled cell 
into a corridor. “All seemed quiet” again, but not for long.28

Within minutes, the Samarcand rioters set another fire, this one 
reportedly of “some proportions.” As the flames spread, the young reb-
els kicked out “all window panes they could reach,” both in the corri-
dor and in their unlocked, smoky cell. They also swiped pocketknives 
from a hallway container of prisoners’ personal belongings. When fire-
fighters arrived, the young women met them with “vulgarities, curses 
and imprecations.” “[M]ostly pretty, [faces] distorted with rage, . . . hair 
awry and eyes gleaming,” they seemed angered to the point of explo-
sion. Some reports even had them romping through the halls naked. 
Finally, Sheriff C. J. McDonald ordered a fire hose turned on the rioters. 
Clint McCaskill, a twenty-five-year-old volunteer firefighter, hauled his 
hose into position. Just then, when the excitement “was at fever heat,” 
the crowd outside was “horror-struck to hear” that the girls had cor-
nered young Clint “and were slashing him to ribbons with their knives.” 
This was an exaggeration; they only stabbed him in the arm. A dazed 
McCaskill recalled this as “his most harrowing experience” and admit-
ted that “he thought his time had come.”29

The Samarcand arsonists had been victims of a harsh double standard in 
the reasons for their incarceration in the training school and the treat-
ment they received while incarcerated. Now, as criminal defendants, 
these young women would benefit from “legal chivalry.” The sheriff 
of Moore County sounded the prevalent tone in response to the riot 
that wracked his jail. “[I]f they were men,” Sheriff McDonald said, “we 
would know how to deal with them.” They being women, however, “we 
cannot be rough with them.”30

The “Samarcand 16” were aware of such sentiments and exploited 
them. From jail, a week after the Moore County riot and eleven days 
before the trial date, Pearl Stiles, one of the accused, wrote to Governor 
O. Max Gardner. Seeking clemency, she appealed to the governor’s sense 
of chivalry: “Dearest Governor Gardner, will you please help us . . . girls 
in this case of trouble? . . . Mr. Gardner the way we were treated is terri-
ble. We were locked, beat, and fed on bread and water most of the time. 
. . . Please pardon us. . . . If you only help us out of this trouble we will be 
happy.” Trashing state facilities was not proper behavior for a southern 
white girl, but appealing humbly to the protective reflexes of powerful 
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men was. Stiles closed with a distinctly feminine flourish: “Well all the 
girls said to give you their love for them. Will close with good heart. 
. . . answer at once.” Governor Gardner neither answered at once nor 
granted clemency, but the dynamic of chivalry would persist.31

The task of defending the accused fell officially to George McNeill, 
a public defender. The “brunt of the defense” work, however, was borne 
by Nell Battle Lewis, a young attorney and gifted columnist for Raleigh’s 
News and Observer whom McNeill enlisted to help with this unusual 
case. As a female lawyer and a southern feminist in 1931, Lewis was an 
unusual case herself. Only about 2 percent of the nation’s lawyers at that 
time were women.32

Although Lewis became rather conservative following World War 
II, she was, at the time of the Samarcand trial, an outspoken social 
reformer. Her newspaper columns advocated penal reform and railed 
against the unfairness of the double standard that treated men and 
women differently. The Samarcand case provided an ideal vehicle for 
her advocacy of penal reform because the training schools’ failings were 
obvious and dramatic.

When it came to the double standard, however, the case presented 
complications. Lewis favored equal legal treatment of men and women. 
It would have violated her principles to ask the court for leniency simply 
because her clients were female. On the other hand, Lewis was profes-
sionally obliged to provide the best legal defense possible; a “chivalric” 
defense could be her most effective, especially since there was so much 
evidence proving the participation of the defendants in the burnings. 
Lewis settled on a defense strategy that emphasized the traumas suf-
fered by the girls before and, especially, after admission to Samarcand, 
thus evoking the sympathies of a paternalistic court without explicitly 
requesting favoritism for females.33

On 19 May 1931, the Samarcand defendants—now numbering 
fourteen, the state having declined to prosecute the remaining two—
filed into a packed Moore County superior court to be tried for first-
degree arson before Judge Michael Schenck. “Looking much the same 
as any group of teen age girls, attractively dressed in silk and cotton 
dresses,” the defendants, who, according to press reports, “appeared 
awed” by the solemn atmosphere and by the realization that their lives 
were on the line because of the first-degree arson charges, gave “no indi-
cation of the spirit” shown during their recent jailhouse riots.34

Solicitor F. D. Phillips, representing the state of North Carolina, 
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concentrated on proving that the young women had indeed committed 
the acts for which they were charged. He called to the witness stand, for 
instance, Estelle Stott, secretary to Samarcand superintendent Agnes 
McNaughton. Stott testified that school officials had questioned each 
of the defendants and that they all “had admitted taking part in the 
burning of the buildings.”35

Unsurprisingly, defense attorney Nell Battle Lewis took a differ-
ent approach. She sought to shift attention from Samarcand’s cinders 
to its sins, recasting her clients as victims, not perpetrators. Under her 
cross-examination, Samarcand officials admitted that whippings and 
beatings were regular occurrences at the institution. Lewis then called 
eight of the defendants to the stand for moving testimony about abuses 
they had suffered. For instance, Margaret Abernethy testified that, after 
experiencing childhood abuse at the hands of a father now jailed for 
incest, she arrived at Samarcand only to have the nightmare continue. 
Her Samarcand experiences included repeated whippings for offenses 
like “being rude to a teacher,” as well as confinement for three months 
in a locked room in Chamberlain Hall in which the infestation of bed-
bugs made sleep “next to impossible.” Abernethy testified that she had 
helped to set the fire out of a desire to “get away from Samarcand.”36

To establish the traumatized states of the defendants, Lewis called to 
the stand Dr. Harry W. Crane, an “expert and specialist in P[s]ychology, 
Hygiene, and the treatment of mental diseases.” Dr. Crane, a professor 
at the University of North Carolina and director of the state’s Bureau 
of Mental Health and Hygiene, testified to the psychological troubles 
he had noted while evaluating several of the defendants. He testified 
that the “mental ages” of some of the Samarcand girls were substantially 
below their actual ages. Lewis used this testimony not only to suggest 
that her clients were, as Dr. Crane concluded, incapable of understand-
ing the nature of their actions but also to portray the girls as, in her 
phrase, unfortunate “victims of state neglect.”37

At this point, Solicitor Phillips, uneasy about the prospect of seek-
ing capital punishment for a group of young women, proposed a plea 
bargain. He offered to drop the first-degree arson charges, which car-
ried the death penalty, in exchange for guilty pleas to the lesser charge 
of “attempting to commit arson,” which carried the more palatable 
maximum sentence of ten years’ imprisonment. Nell Battle Lewis and 
her clients accepted.38

Legal chivalry was evident in the sentencing proceeding that fol-
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lowed. Solicitor Phillips argued that the defendants, who had violated 
state law, destroyed state property, and endangered many lives, had to be 
punished. But he made it clear to Judge Schenck that he had “no desire 
to see them dealt with harshly.”39

Nell Battle Lewis appealed for leniency. In the emotional high point 
of the trial, she invited sympathy for the defendants and reminded lis-
teners of the unpardonable crimes committed against them by state and 
society. “Two indictments are brought here today,” she said. “One, the 
formal, legal indictment brought by the solicitor—the other less tan-
gible but no less real against society for the presence of these children in 
a criminal court room. These children, like all others, are the products of 
their environment, heredity, and the pressure that society has brought to 
bear on them.” Lewis excoriated the state for claiming children as wards 
and then abusing them so. “[H]alf-grown girls in a civilized commu-
nity,” she insisted, “should not be laid on a whipping carpet.” As Lewis 
spoke, eyes misted and handkerchiefs bloomed around the courtroom. 
Even several of the defendants, heretofore stoically unmoved by the 
proceedings, broke down and wept.40

The following day, Judge Schenck reconvened his court. In the “slow, 
firm voice” of a stern but compassionate paternalist, he summoned the 
convicts for sentencing. “Now young women,” he said, “I want to talk 
to you.” All was silent. “[Y]ou could have been tried for your lives,” 
he paused, “and sent to the electric chair. The state did not want to 
send you to the electric chair. You could be sent to the penitentiary for 
ten years”—another pause—“I do not want to do that.” Instead, Judge 
Schenck, explaining that as an officer of the law he “had to send them to 
prison,” imposed a range of sentences, the harshest and most common 
of which was eighteen months to five years in the state penitentiary. 
He hinted strongly that, if the young women behaved themselves, they 
would serve their minimum sentences and little more. (Fifteen-year-old 
Margaret Pridgen had her one-to-three-year sentence suspended.)41

The Charlotte Observer called this outcome the “escape of the match-
strikers.” The plea bargain, the editorial noted approvingly, “rescued the 
State from what might have proved an embarrassing prospect”: putting 
a large number of “girls to death in the electric chair.” The Observer 
also approved of the convicts’ ladylike responses to their sentences: they 
wept. (The editors were silent about the defendant who, as some of her 
colleagues cried on the way to the prison bus, was busy lighting up a 
cigarette.)42
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One final instance of legal chivalry: North Carolina chose not 
to prosecute any of the Samarcand defendants for their highly illegal 
actions during the two jailhouse riots.

The founders of Samarcand Manor hoped that the facility would help 
inmates to “leave their pasts behind” and prepare for “useful” lives. 
Instead, the institution turned a group of troubled but nonviolent young 
women into riotous arsonists. This institutional failing was sufficiently 
troubling to North Carolinians of 1931 to generate calls for reform.43

Press reports of the Samarcand case immediately stimulated talk of 
change. The prevailing sentiment was that the Samarcand fires were but 
“smoke signals” that called attention to the institution’s shortcomings. 
“It’s a case of [the girls] being more sinned against than sinning,” one 
report noted. “This is the most serious indictment of North Carolina’s 
correctional system that has ever been made,” the Rocky Mount Tele-
gram reported. The Greensboro News even suggested that the case be 
retried with the State of North Carolina as defendant. “Enough has 
been brought out,” the newspaper editorialized, “to demand a searching 
inquiry and corrective steps.”44

What explains this impulse to sympathize with the arsonists and 
to damn the state institution that they torched? The first explanation 
involves some history, in particular, a wave of penal reform that swept 
the county in the early 1930s. The rehabilitative spirit that gave rise 
to Samarcand Manor during the Progressive Era had dissipated rap-
idly following World War I. By the middle of the jazz-and-gangster 
1920s, as crime rates rose and moral strictures loosened, sympathy for 
penal reform evaporated. “For the past ten or fifteen years,” wrote one 
exasperated Jazz Age observer, “we [Americans] have been engaged in 
alleviating the lot of inmates of our prisons, making life more and more 
comfortable for them.” As a consequence, “the country is in danger of 
being overwhelmed by a rising tide of crime.” Public officials agreed. 
One New York judge observed in 1925 that the “principal cause [of 
crime] was the pampering of prisoners by sentimental reformers.” Also 
in 1925, Charles Evans Hughes lamented “the terrible advances crime 
makes, because our people do not seem intelligent enough to . . . punish 
the guilty.”45

Samarcand burned in the 1930s, however, not the mid-1920s, and 
this made a huge difference. As the Depression descended, the nation 
reevaluated its penal system with reawakened concern for the down-
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trodden caught therein. By 1931, there was a consensus that the stern 
backlash of the 1920s had gone too far. “Long sentences are killing hope 
and breeding recklessness and despair,” reported the National Com-
mittee on Prisons in 1931. The “get-tough” measures of the 1920s had 
backfired, the committee concluded, for the “efforts of law enforcement 
agencies to reduce crime on the outside are being nullified to a great 
extent by conditions in the prison.” Another reformer noted that the 
inmate was expected to “rebuild his character and . . . become a worthy 
member of society.” Given the horrid conditions and “official stupidity” 
of American corrections, however, “what chance has he?”46

National support for penal reform grew. Public officials responded. 
In one revealing case from 1931 (all but unimaginable during most 
other eras of U.S. history), New York City’s commissioner of corrections 
offered cash prizes to the inmates who submitted the best criticisms 
of the prison system in which they were held. The grand prize win-
ner walked away, so to speak, with fifty dollars for suggesting, among 
other things, that New York lock-ups serve less boiled and more roasted 
food.47

In the same spirit, former U.S. attorney general George Wicker-
sham headed a blue-ribbon presidential commission that studied more 
than three thousand federal and state correctional institutions. The 
commission’s 1931 report found corrections in the United States to be “a 
failure so complete that a new type of penal system must be developed.” 
The report described overcrowding, rundown facilities, and inhumane 
punishments for trivial offenses. And what was true of prisons in gen-
eral was equally true of the typical juvenile facility. Boys and girls under 
eighteen endured “filth and misery impossible to convey. Discipline,” 
the report added, “is often brutal.”48

Such authoritative findings reduced public tolerance for harsh 
corrections officials and provided powerful rhetorical ammunition to 
reformers like Nell Battle Lewis. Lewis took full advantage. Assem-
bling evidentiary ammunition, she saved newspaper clippings regarding 
the Wickersham Commission and other penal reform movements. In 
her column three days after the Samarcand fire, she applauded Gover-
nor Gardner for naming his own commission to study North Carolina’s 
penal system.49

The years surrounding the Samarcand blaze also saw a national epi-
demic of prison fires and riots, accompanied by general public sympa-
thy for the responsible inmates. The most horrific incident was a riot 
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and fire in 1930 at the state penitentiary in Columbus, Ohio, which 
resulted in the deaths of 319 inmates. The press dubbed the Ohio fire 
“the most terrible prison catastrophe the United States has ever seen.” 
Yet, although rioting prisoners had set the flames and cut fire hoses, 
the public outcry revealingly targeted the officials who oversaw the 
wretched facility, not the inmates who burned it down.50

Reformers nationwide saw the cycle of prison uprisings as an indict-
ment of American corrections. Sanford Bates, superintendent of fed-
eral prisons, described the rash of uprisings as “the culminating answer 
of the criminal population to the campaign of force which society has 
carried on against it.” So widespread was public support for suffering 
inmates that, the very week of the Samarcand fire, a warden at the Illi-
nois state penitentiary at Joliet attributed an eleven-hundred-inmate 
riot to “a feeling among the prisoners that the public sympathy was with 
them.”51

The Samarcand arsonists may or may not have been aware of 
previous fires at other correctional facilities and the public compas-
sion they inspired. Well-informed North Carolinians, however, were 
likely to appraise the Samarcand fire in a sympathetic context. They 
had read repeatedly of prison failings and the resulting uprisings; they 
were familiar with the day’s “entire cycle” of hard-hitting prison films 
(including 1931’s Ladies of the Big House); and they had heard commis-
sion after commission plead for reform, as did the National Committee 
on Prisons in a report released the week of the Samarcand trial: “The 
call today—and never before has it sounded so clearly and so strongly,” 
the committee wrote, “is for the great forces in the community . . . to 
[mobilize] . . . so that from the ashes of burning buildings, from the 
bloodshed and riot of the past year will grow rapidly and surely [a] . . . 
new and better system.”52

Thus, at least in part, the Samarcand affair unfolded as it did because 
it unfolded when it did. The early 1930s was a time of widespread penal 
reform nationally. The Samarcand affair also produced reform because 
of who was involved and where the incident occurred. These were white 
women in the American South. The threshold for acceptable misbe-
havior in North Carolina was higher for white men and black men 
and women than it was for white women. Because white females were 
thought to possess the least unruly nature of any of the state’s major 
social groups, violence at a training school for white females was most 
likely to win attention and provoke institutional reform.
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An experimental “control” is conveniently available. During the 
very week that Samarcand burned, arsonists set fire to three cottages at 
the Jackson school for white boys. After severe whippings at the hands 
of Jackson staffers, two teenaged residents confessed that they were the 
culprits. The legal system actually treated these two suspects with com-
parative leniency. One pleaded guilty and received a one-year peniten-
tiary sentence. The other pleaded not guilty and was acquitted. (Recall 
that most of the Samarcand defendants received eighteen months to five 
years.) But whereas the Samarcand fires sparked institutional reform, 
the Jackson fires did not. Even though the whipping of young inmates 
received substantial attention at both well-publicized arson trials, post-
trial reforms halted whippings at Samarcand but not at Jackson. Appar-
ently, misbehavior by Jackson boys, unlike misbehavior by Samarcand 
girls, did not signal an institutional breakdown.53

The rebellion of the white girls of Samarcand in the spring of 1931 
convinced many North Carolinians that something at the facility had 
gone terribly wrong and that changes had to be made. “Something 
made these girls come to the point of revolt and frenzy,” the Chapel 
Hill Weekly reported in the weeks following the trial. “It must have been 
something extraordinary to have raised such a spirit of rebellion in such 
a type of girls.” “All of which,” the newspaper concluded, “demands a 
full and unsparing investigation of the whole Samarcand project.”54

A “full and unsparing” investigation was forthcoming. In the after-
math of the arson trial, R. Eugene Brown, assistant commissioner of the 
state’s Department of Welfare and author of Samarcand’s original mis-
sion statement, launched an official study of conditions at the facility. His 
1932 report contained detailed recommendations that tacitly admitted 
Samarcand’s guilt as charged by Nell Battle Lewis. Brown’s report called 
for administrative changes to reduce Superintendent McNaughton’s 
power, closer state supervision, improved staff training, construction of 
new buildings to alleviate overcrowding, and improved medical care for 
all inmates. The report also discouraged corporal punishment and sug-
gested many alternative correctional techniques. Finally, Brown recom-
mended that Samarcand officials, in the name of accountability and 
oversight, henceforth file written reports of all disciplinary actions.55

Samarcand’s board of directors approved all of Brown’s recommen-
dations. Haltingly, reform began, but the slow pace of change frustrated 
Brown. Upon visiting Samarcand in 1934, he wrote that “the institu-
tion needs to be thoroughly reorganized with a person of ability and 
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experience at the head.” Before the year was out, Agnes McNaughton 
departed for a “six-month leave.” She did not return.56

Samarcand changed. By 1939, the Charlotte Observer, an open critic 
of the institution during the trial, reported that “Samarcand stands as 
testimony to the warm, helpful, kindly heart of a great commonwealth.” 
(Never mind that brutal conditions persisted for the young African 
American women at Efland. In the mid-1930s, one staffer punished an 
inmate by choking her “until she foamed at the mouth.” In 1939, Efland 
shut its doors for lack of support, the “warm, helpful, kindly heart of a 
great commonwealth” notwithstanding.)57

Samarcand’s ultimate vindication came from Nell Battle Lewis her-
self. In a newspaper column written in 1945, she recalled that, at the 
time of the trial, she had wondered why the girls “hadn’t burned the 
whole place to the ground,” but she now recognized that a “general 
cleanup of administration” had taken place. “I’m reliably informed,” she 
remarked, “that Samarcand at present is a very well-run institution.”58

By the end of World War II, extensive reform had restored Samar-
cand’s image of white, womanly propriety. Gone were the “unattractive 
buildings,” the “matrons with harsh manners,” and the window-smashing 
firebugs of yesteryear. In their place, at least in the public mind, were 
shiny new facilities, supportive teachers, and happy inmates. Once again, 
observers portrayed inmates as veritable models of southern white fem-
ininity, “dressed in white, flowers in their hair.”59
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Chapter 6

Padlock ing Greenwich Village
Urbanization and Public Nuisance Law

The KKK-approved sermon that Reverend J. A. Sharp delivered in 
1922 condemned jazz, drinking, and “licentiousness.” Historians of this 
period regularly situate such sentiments within a “rural-versus-urban” 
framework. “Rural America and urban America had eyed each other 
warily since the nineteenth century,” reads one typical survey of Amer-
ican history. Following the Great War, “suspicion turned to outright 
hostility. . . . In the eyes of many country folk, the cities stood for every-
thing that rural areas stood against. . . . Increasingly, the nation divided 
along the line drawn between the country and the city.”1

Like most bits of conventional wisdom, this one contains much 
truth. But it is a static description of a dynamic age. It fails to capture 
the extent to which local squabbles over drinking, dancing, and other 
aspects of Jazz Age culture were provoked by urbanization—the spread 
of cities into the surrounding hinterland. Just as the Civil War between 
North and South was sparked in important ways by debates over the 
future of the West, so too were at least some interwar cultural clashes 
spurred by debates over the future of fast-spreading urban outskirts.

This chapter explores dancing, sex, and bootleg booze in Green-
wich Village. This sounds typical enough for an interwar cultural clash 
until we learn that the Greenwich Village at issue was not the bohe-
mian New York neighborhood that symbolized modern culture in the 
1920s but rather a roadhouse on a recently built highway just west of 
Charlotte, North Carolina. In this chapter, as in the previous two, it was 
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traditionalists who initiated legal processes. They did so with custom-
ary creativity, imaginatively invoking a long-dormant “public nuisance” 
statute against the roadhouse. Thereafter, public nuisance cases of this 
sort proliferated. Along with such better-known legal devices as zoning 
ordinances and restrictive covenants, public nuisance litigation facili-
tated the “sorting out” of New South cities.

Dr. Memory Ford Boyles, the Greenwich Village roadhouse’s quirky 
proprietor, embodied interwar cultural modernism. Although he was 
born in 1893 in Lincoln County, North Carolina, not too far from the 
future location of his roadhouse, he moved frequently around the United 
States. By the time he settled down in Charlotte in his fortieth year, 
Boyles had already lived in New York, California, Virginia, Pennsylva-
nia, Georgia, several different North Carolina cities, and possibly Min-
nesota and Wisconsin. Boyles’s peripatetic ways exposed him to diverse 
cultures. They also seem to have diluted tradition’s hold on him. When 
the time came to name his Charlotte-area roadhouse, his urban, mod-
ernist sensibilities showed. He dubbed it “Greenwich Village,” a name 
that recalled the spiritual home of American cultural modernism.2

Boyles studied medicine and became a doctor but was hardly a dis-
tinguished professional. In 1925, federal agents arrested him and his 
brother Alphonso, a North Carolina dentist, for running what the press 
called a “dope ring” in the Carolina Piedmont. The ensuing federal trial 
revealed that, while living in New York, Memory Ford Boyles (also 
known as M. F.) had informed his brother that “he could supply the 
‘Boston baked beans’”—that is, the narcotics—“in most any quantity,” 
at a pricey fifty dollars per can. The Boyles brothers and a third con-
spirator moved enough “beans” to become the “largest importers and 
distributors of narcotics” in North Carolina. Doctor and dentist pleaded 
guilty and were sent to federal prison to serve sentences of eighteen 
months and one year, respectively.3

The political connections that Boyles exploited to win parole were, 
typically for him, atypical. Boyles was one of the more exotic birds in 
the day’s political aviary: a southern white Republican. Being a Repub-
lican in the 1920s was a liability in North Carolina, but it opened doors 
in Calvin Coolidge’s Washington. Fortuitously for Boyles, narcotics 
dealing was a federal crime. He was out in seven months.4

Boyles’s defiance of convention continued after his move to Char-
lotte in 1933. He explored different parts of the city before settling into 
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an apartment at 115 West Hill Street. Although Boyles and the other 
residents of his eight-unit complex were white, the surrounding neigh-
borhood was entirely African American. Boyles chose to live among 
African Americans in one of America’s most segregated cities.5

Boyles’s apparent lack of interest in organized religion also was dis-
tinctive. Mid-1930s Charlotte had more than one hundred churches. 
Boyles apparently joined none of them.6

The average age of marriage for men of Boyles’s generation was 
twenty-four. Boyles did not wed until 1936, his forty-third year.7 The 
woman he married was nearly as unconventional as he. Mary Springs 
Harkey was from Mount Holly, a small town in Gaston County, North 
Carolina. Perhaps yearning for greater opportunities and excitement, 
Mary moved to Charlotte in 1927, her twentieth year. She found 
work as a clerk for Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph. After sev-
eral years with Southern Bell, she landed a bookkeeping job with the 
Charlotte Observer. With the exception of two years spent with siblings, 
Mary lived on her own in Charlotte.8 In 1936, Mary married M. F. 
Boyles. She was twenty-nine at the time, fourteen years younger than 
her husband, but still well above the average marrying age for women. 
In further defiance of traditional family patterns, Mary Harkey Boyles 
bore no children and continued working outside the home throughout 
her marriage.9

Greenwich Village’s proprietor, thus, was relatively rootless, had a 
checkered past, and was comfortable with African Americans, liberated 
women, and things unconventional. The staff whom he hired to work 
at Greenwich Village reflected these characteristics. Many Greenwich 
Village employees had lived in distant states. Some had had previous 
run-ins with the law. Some were African American. And some Green-
wich Village workers were women (there was trial testimony that “you 
could buy [illegal] whiskey from the waitresses”).10

Nobody personified the tradition-defying Greenwich Village spirit 
more than filling station employee Velma Webb. Like Dr. Boyles, Webb 
was footloose. She was from Florida; her ex-husband (whom she hoped 
never to see again) was in New Jersey; her father was in New York; 
she herself, though just twenty-two, had already seen “38 states and 
Old Mexico.” A licensed pilot, she had been “with an air circus for a 
long time, stunting . . . and doing parachute jumps.” She partied hard. 
(At one hotel bash, she overdid it and fell out of a third-story window, 
breaking both legs.) After moving to Mecklenburg County, but before 
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landing the Greenwich Village job (and, presumably, before breaking 
both legs), she did a tap-dance routine at a club on Concord Road. 
Like Greenwich Village’s proprietor, she had, in her own words, “been 
around.”11

For three years prior to his marriage, M. F. Boyles had run an apparently 
legitimate pharmacy in Charlotte. He closed this downtown pharmacy 
and opened the outlying roadhouse in the year of his marriage, 1936. 
It seems unlikely that he would have done this without at least tacit 
approval from his wife. Mary’s involvement seems all the more plausible 
given that fully half of Mecklenburg County’s other known roadhouses 
at the time were run either by husband-and-wife teams or by women 
alone.12

Boyles began work on his roadhouse in March 1936, when he bought 
two lots on Wilkinson Boulevard, three miles west of the Charlotte 
city limit. Seven months, six additional lots, and twenty-six-thousand 
dollars later, he completed “one of the largest roadhouses in the county.” 
On 18 October 1936, Greenwich Village, at 2912 Wilkinson Boule-
vard, opened for business.13

To daytime visitors, Greenwich Village appeared to be an innocu-
ous “tourist camp,” a place where travelers could pull off the highway, 
refuel, eat, and spend the night. The main building contained a din-
ing room, a kitchen, and Boyles’s office. Out front was a filling station, 
which Boyles leased to the Standard Oil Company. Out back were two 
parking lots and twelve tourist cottages, each equipped with a bed, a 
dresser, a table, chairs, running water, and electricity.14

Greenwich Village was part of a national tourist camp explosion. 
Increases in both auto sales and rural highway construction during the 
1920s sparked the boom. Nationally, automobile registrations increased 
from about 9 million in 1920 to more than 23 million in 1929. In Char-
lotte, car ownership increased from under two thousand to more than 
twenty thousand between 1917 and 1925. Charlotte soon trailed only 
Atlanta among major centers of automobile ownership in the South.15

With automobiles came highways. In 1921, under Cameron Mor-
rison, the “Good Roads Governor,” North Carolina issued a $50 mil-
lion bond to fund construction of an intercity web of paved highways. 
By the mid-1920s, North Carolina led the South in the construction of 
paved roads.16

Dowd Road, where Greenwich Village would be built, was a product 
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of the highway program. It was the state’s first paved intercity highway 
and would remain the primary route between Charlotte and Gastonia 
into the 1960s. By 1926, when it was renamed Wilkinson Boulevard 
after prominent mill owner William Wilkinson, it was the most trav-
eled road in the state.17

The highway programs of the 1920s sparked the tourist camp 
boom; the Great Depression of the 1930s intensified it. Millions of 
cash-starved Americans looked to auto travel and tourist camps as 
inexpensive and convenient alternatives to train travel and downtown 
hotels. Sensing this demand, many farmers whose land abutted rural 
highways opened tourist camps. Nonfarmer proprietors, including Dr. 
Boyles, also sought economic opportunity in tourist camps set in rural 
or semirural locations. Of the twelve known tourist camps in Mecklen-
burg County between 1937 and 1942, ten, including Greenwich Vil-
lage, were located beyond city limits.18 The combined effect of more 
autos, more highways, and less money during the 1930s was dramatic. 
In 1926, there were an estimated two thousand tourist camps nationally. 
By 1940, there were an estimated thirty-five thousand.19

Greenwich Village, however, was not merely a refuge for weary high-
way travelers. Its main building contained a physician-and-surgeon’s 
office (reflecting Boyles’s professional background), a drugstore (which 
reputedly sold illegal alcohol and contraceptives, along with patent med-
icine and toothpaste), a jukebox, and a dance floor. The illegal liquor 
sales and the dance floor suggest a nocturnal clientele that was local, 
pleasure seeking, and willing to defy the law. This was not unusual. FBI 
chief J. Edgar Hoover, noting the tendency of tourist camps to culti-
vate prostitution, narcotics, and other mischief, dubbed them “camps 
of crime.”20

Charlotteans from their mid-teens to their mid-twenties frequented 
Greenwich Village. Cars had revolutionized their social lives. Auto-
mobiles had moved courtship and socializing away from home and, in 
many cases, toward roadhouses. As the Mecklenburg Times lamented in 
September 1937, “Our youth which [in the past] found contentment 
and diversion and wholesome pleasure in the Christian activities of the 
churches . . . are today finding greater satisfaction and influence in the 
roadhouses.”21

On a typical night, these young men and women would either 
drive themselves or pay ten cents for a Yellow Cab or Blue Bird taxi to 
drive them out Wilkinson Boulevard to Greenwich Village. Witnesses 
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reported some patrons “going into the cabins, staying 30 to 45 minutes, 
just a boy and a girl.” Other patrons bought and drank illegal alcohol, 
fought, and generally caused commotion. “I have seen drunk people 
hollering and screaming,” one witness testified, “and drunk men and 
women urinating out the window.” Still another neighbor recalled, “I 
have heard and seen drunk men and women there nude. They would 
come from behind the cabins drunk and urinate behind there.”22

At the Greenwich Village trial, Dr. Boyles would protest that his 
business neither sold illegal booze nor rented cabins to unmarried cou-
ples. However, overwhelming evidence substantiates accusations that 
Greenwich Village violated alcohol prohibition and anti-prostitution 
laws.23

Dr. Boyles chose a good location for Greenwich Village. The Wilkin-
son Boulevard lots were far enough away from Charlotte to be afford-
able, yet close enough to be within taxi range of downtown. And since 
Wilkinson Boulevard was the main highway linking Charlotte to all 
points west, the roadhouse could attract long-distance travelers as well 
as local pleasure seekers. Moreover, law enforcement was less strict out-
side than inside Charlotte city limits. The rural police, in whose juris-
diction the roadhouse fell, were almost comically lax. In Boyles’s line of 
work, that was a plus.24

In other respects, however, Greenwich Village’s location posed seri-
ous problems. The doctor had built his new, automobile-dependent 
roadhouse in the middle of a new, automobile-dependent suburban 
development. Greenwich Village occupied one corner—and about one-
eighth of the total acreage—of a six-block residential subdivision called 
Dowd Manor. Dowd Manor’s 18.5 acres were originally farmland. Dur-
ing World War I, the property was used for military training as part of 
Camp Greene. After the war, the acreage changed hands a couple of 
times, finally reaching the McNeely Land Company, a Charlotte-based 
firm that specialized in carving up and selling off land. “Let McNeely 
Land Company subdivide and sell your city and suburban property at 
auction,” their ads proclaimed. “We know how.”25

On the Fourth of July, 1925, to the strains of a brass band, the 
McNeely Land Company began auctioning off Dowd Manor, lot by lot. 
At least some initial purchasers had to accept three conditions: struc-
tures built on the property had to be built “30 feet from front property 
line”; “no building might be erected on said property, except it be a resi-
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dence”; and said residences had to “be occupied by white people.” Dowd 
Manor was an American suburb.26 

American suburbs swelled during the 1920s. In Charlotte, the pro-
liferation of cars and highways combined with the widespread avail-
ability of electricity and plumbing to make suburban life more attractive 
than ever. “The tendency on the part of those who have lived all of their 
lives right in the heart of things here to get out and enjoy more spatial 
areas is spreading,” noted the Charlotte News in 1925. “[T]hose who are 
wise can easily see coming . . . a tremendous spreading out of . . . this 
community in all directions.”27 Much of this spreading occurred along 
Wilkinson Boulevard, west of town. City View Heights, Gilreath Park, 
Marsh Estates, West View, and West Highland all sprouted along the 
new highway within a year of Dowd Manor’s founding.28

Charlotte’s suburban pioneers of the 1890s and 1900s had been 
an elite, white-collar bunch; Wilkinson Boulevard suburbanites of the 
1920s and 1930s were not. Charlotte’s 1940 city directory confirms 
that residents of the western suburbs were white, family oriented, and 
lower middle class. Roughly a third of the adults whose occupations 
are listed worked in auto-related jobs (truck or bus drivers, mechan-
ics, filling station workers). About a quarter worked as skilled laborers 
(machinists, plumbers, electricians, carpenters, chemical plant workers). 
Another quarter or so were clerks. Five percent held managerial posi-
tions in grocery stores or factories. Another 5 percent were cooks or 
waiters. Less than 4 percent were professionals such as insurance agents. 
Only three women were employed. No one in the area was a farmer or 
a textile worker.29 Most residents were recent arrivals. Eighty percent of 
the families living on or near Wilkinson Boulevard in 1940 had owned 
their homes for a period of ten years or less.30

Thus, the Greenwich Village roadhouse disturbed a new and rap-
idly evolving suburban area inhabited by lower-middle-class white fam-
ilies whose claims to suburban respectability were tenuous. Conflict was 
inevitable.

On 15 September 1937, at 5: 15 p.m., two Mecklenburg County sheriff ’s 
deputies padlocked Greenwich Village and posted a summons ordering 
Boyles to appear in court the next month. This was not a unique event. 
The sound of many such padlocks snapping shut echoed across Meck-
lenburg County that fall. Just twelve days before closing Greenwich 
Village, the authorities shut down Major’s Place, also on Wilkinson 
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Boulevard. Over the next couple of months, at least six other area road-
houses met a similar fate.31

The county-wide—indeed, statewide—crackdown on roadhouses 
reflected not only the conflict with the new residential suburbs. It also 
reflected a little-known portion of Prohibition history in the United 
States. Conventional wisdom holds that, once the Great Depression 
hit, Americans lost interest in their neighbors’ drinking habits and 
abandoned the “Noble Experiment.” This explanation is plausible at 
the national level but not in North Carolina and some other states, in 
which public debate over alcohol continued long after 1933. Indeed, 
national repeal, far from cooling alcohol prohibition debates in these 
states, may have intensified them, for what had been a distant federal 
dispute devolved into state and local fights in which neighbors and 
friends slugged it out.32

Federal repeal in 1933 left North Carolina legally dry, as it had 
been since 1909. In 1935, however, the state’s General Assembly, in a 
victory for “wets,” voted to allow each of the state’s one hundred coun-
ties to choose independently whether or not to allow county-operated 
liquor stores. Mecklenburg’s “local option” vote occurred in June 1937. 
It stirred the area’s “bitterest prohibition fight in years.”33

Mecklenburg County wets argued that county-operated liquor 
stores would generate urgently needed public revenue. Local bootleg-
gers, operating “under the guise of dine-and-dance emporiums, . . . fill-
ing stations, and so forth,” reputedly pulled in $2.5 million a year. Wets 
viewed legalization as a way to divert this robust revenue stream to pub-
lic coffers while simultaneously increasing public control over the flow 
of alcohol.34

“Drys” disagreed. Pledging to “re-consecrate Prohibition,” Meck-
lenburg County drys argued that the government should continue 
“confiscating liquor instead of selling it.” Allowing county liquor stores 
would be penny-wise but pound foolish, they contended, since any 
increases in local revenue would be more than offset by the local gov-
ernment’s responsibility for “[t]he poverty, the drunks, the debauched, 
the maimed, the orphaned, the insane, the crime, and the other human 
wreckage” that legal liquor would leave in its wake. Their conclusion 
was clear: “We do not want whisky back.”35

The drys prevailed in Mecklenburg County’s local option vote in 
June 1937.36 According to press reports, triumphant local prohibition-
ists then sought to use their electoral mandate to challenge Mecklen-
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burg’s reputation as “the driest voting, wettest drinking” county in the 
state. They would “see that [the prohibition] laws are enforced.”37

Several factors, however, complicated the drys’ efforts to enforce 
prohibition in Mecklenburg County. First, the rural police, whose juris-
diction included Charlotte’s periphery, home to many roadhouses, were 
utterly ineffective and reputedly in league with the liquor dealers. The 
county formally investigated the department in the spring of 1937 on 
charges of “direct and indirect connection with illicit liquor selling.” 
During the investigation into “laxity in the enforcement of liquor laws,” 
rural police chief Vic Fesperman, accused of “participation in the local 
liquor racket,” broke down and cried on the witness stand. (Chief Fes-
perman denied the charges but did admit his son-in-law’s reputation as 
a bootlegger.)38

Another factor complicating prohibition enforcement was the fail-
ure of old criminal laws to keep pace with new roadhouses. Note the case 
of Noah Wilson. In the 1880s, before automobiles and paved highways, 
Wilson kept an old-fashioned “disorderly house” along a mule-and-
wagon way. “[S]piritous liquors were sold and drunk” there; fighting 
and “lewd behavior” occurred. As soon as the state arrested Wilson, 
however, the nuisance ended.39

Roadhouse nuisances of the 1930s were not so easily controlled. In 
February 1937, the state highway patrol sought to do what the county’s 
rural police force would not. The highway patrol raided Greenwich Vil-
lage one night and made an arrest. But unlike their nineteenth-century 
predecessors, who shut down Noah Wilson’s place with a single arrest of 
the live-in proprietor, the highway patrol netted only a small fry: Green-
wich Village filling station employee James Lanier. Lanier pleaded 
guilty and lost his job. Meanwhile, Dr. Boyles slept soundly back home 
in Charlotte, and the Greenwich Village nuisance continued unabated. 
New legal remedies were necessary.40

The criminal law, wielded by state authorities, had failed to stop the 
Greenwich Village nuisance. A civil statute, wielded by local residents, 
would succeed. The civil public nuisance statute that the neighbors used 
was a Progressive Era measure designed, like so many other statutes of 
its day, to prevent the “degrading of morals.” It defined a public nui-
sance as the use of any building for “the purpose of lewdness, assigna-
tion, prostitution, gambling or illegal sale of whiskey.” Upon suspicion 
that such a nuisance existed, any prosecutor, solicitor, or even private 
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citizen could sue in the name of the state. The statute had sharp teeth. 
Should the suit succeed (a likely prospect, given that “general reputa-
tion” constituted sufficient proof ), the establishment could immediately 
be padlocked. All “fixtures, furniture, musical instruments, or moveable 
property used in conducting the nuisance” could be removed and sold.41 
For years after its 1919 passage, however, the civil public nuisance stat-
ute was a dead letter. Not a single Mecklenburg County civil plaintiff 
invoked it prior to 1937, the year of the Greenwich Village dispute.42

The idea of using the padlocking provision of the old nuisance 
statute against Mecklenburg County roadhouses may have originated 
with Wilson Warlick, an avid prohibitionist and a superior court judge. 
(Warlick would ultimately preside at the Greenwich Village trial.) In 
July 1937, Warlick declared that “padlocking ought to be employed to 
close the numerous bootlegging places in the county.” The press picked 
up on Warlick’s suggestion and asked Mecklenburg County solicitor 
John Carpenter (whom we shall meet again) if he planned to do some 
padlocking. Carpenter explained that, since padlocking was “a civil mat-
ter, not criminal,” he could not initiate these cases. But padlocking was a 
good idea, he said, “if we can get folks to complain.”43

Some women who lived close to Greenwich Village did complain. 
Sallie Randall and Mason McGinnis spearheaded the community cam-
paign. Both were white and had husbands and children. Both had lived 
on Wilkinson Boulevard since the 1920s.44 Both had openly opposed 
Greenwich Village since its opening in October 1936. Just two weeks 
after the roadhouse began business, Randall paid an indignant 4:00 a.m. 
visit. “My children have been woke up continually for a week or more,” 
she fumed. The nuisance persisted. On another occasion, Randall asked 
an unruly Greenwich Village patron to be quiet. The patron cursed her, 
and the nuisance persisted. Randall later testified against Chief Fesper-
man in hearings regarding the rural police force’s notorious laxity in 
prohibition enforcement. Still, the nuisance persisted.45

Finally, Randall and McGinnis sought legal help from Charlotte 
attorney Ralph Kidd. In Kidd’s office, the two women executed affi-
davits against Greenwich Village and its proprietor, Dr. Boyles. The 
women listed many abuses and accused Boyles of running his roadhouse 
“in such as way as to constitute a public nuisance and an affront to pub-
lic morals.”46

With these affidavits, the swift and powerful padlocking statute 
shook off its rust and sprang into motion. Attorney Kidd prepared a 
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formal complaint, attached the affidavits, and moved for an injunc-
tion to shut down Greenwich Village. He took his papers to solicitor 
John Carpenter. Carpenter, an avid “dry,” endorsed the complaint and 
whisked it to superior court judge Wilson Warlick. Judge Warlick, also 
an avid dry, immediately and without the benefit of any hearing issued a 
temporary restraining order. About “fifteen minutes after Judge Warlick 
signed the order,” a padlock snapped shut on Greenwich Village.47

Randall and McGinnis had taken the initiative. In the 1930s tra-
dition of collective action, however, the two women explained their 
behavior in communal, not individual, terms. McGinnis later testified at 
trial that the two women believed that their affidavits “were the senti-
ment of the whole community, not just Mrs. Randall and me.”48 Quite a 
large community agreed with the two plaintiffs. Dr. Boyles asked Judge 
Warlick for permission to reopen his roadhouse under bond until a trial 
could be held. In angry response, “[a]bout 100 Mecklenburg county 
residents” crammed Warlick’s courtroom. When attorney Kidd asked 
for witnesses to speak against the roadhouse and in defense of the pre-
liminary injunction, “50 or more [volunteers] rose from their seats.” In 
addition, a total of eighty-two people—white, lower-middle-class, family- 
oriented men and women who had moved to the Wilkinson Boulevard 
area within the past ten years—signed petitions urging Judge Warlick 
to “save our neighborhood” by keeping Greenwich Village locked. “Our 
conviction in the matter is that it [the roadhouse] should not be reopened 
at all,” the petition read, “and we would be glad to see this place, together 
with all of its kind, entirely outside of our community.” The injunction 
remained in effect until the trial.49

On 11 October 1937, an all-male Mecklenburg County jury heard 
opening arguments in State of North Carolina, on the relation of John G. 
Carpenter, Solicitor, versus Dr. M. F. Boyles, Trading and Doing Business 
as “Greenwich Village.” The community turned out in force. According 
to newspaper reports, “more than a score of witnesses,” almost all from 
nearby homes, testified against Boyles.50 The neighborhood witnesses 
cared little about alcohol prohibition, the issue that the case’s legal elites 
cared about most. Indeed, several plaintiffs’ witnesses admitted hav-
ing purchased alcohol at Greenwich Village. What they did care about 
was the unseemly conduct at Greenwich Village to which their families 
were exposed.51

Although both male and female witnesses testified to Green-
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wich Village’s bad reputation, the most effective testimony came from 
women. The men’s accounts were relatively dry and factual; the wom-
en’s accounts had drama and passion. Female witnesses successfully 
employed the traditional language of motherhood to substantiate their 
pathbreaking legal attack. Rare was the witness who moralized abstractly, 
as did Clara Thompson, who, despite having “not observed anything [at 
Greenwich Village] myself,” opposed the roadhouse “because I am a 
Christian and belong to a church.” Much more common and effec-
tive were the women who presented themselves as wives and mothers 
seeking to defend their families. Mason McGinnis’s vivid description of 
an inebriated Greenwich Village patron stumbling over her children’s 
playthings, “so drunk it frightened them,” was typical. There was testi-
mony about the roadhouse unruliness that had “continually” awakened 
sleeping children; the roadhouse’s “drunk men and women,” sometimes 
nude, who had engaged in “roughness, yelling, . . . [and] profanity”; the 
half-hour cabin rentals; the fighting; the “dancing at all hours”; and the 
various stances and locations employed for public urination at Green-
wich Village.52

Dr. Boyles offered a meager defense. His case consisted of two char-
acter witnesses who scarcely knew him; several employees who would 
lose their jobs if the padlock remained in place; a representative of a 
vending machine company whose cigarettes would go stale inside the 
roadhouse machine if the injunction continued; and Boyles himself, a 
felon who had been convicted on narcotics charges. Boyles’s lawyer was 
probably not an asset in Judge Warlick’s courtroom. He was Tom Jim-
mison, an outspoken supporter of labor unions, a view that placed him 
on the fringe in the South. Jimmison had also served time for liquor 
offenses.53

After two days of testimony, Judge Warlick submitted to the jury a 
single question: “Has Greenwich Village been operated in such a way as 
to . . . constitute a public nuisance?” The jury unanimously said yes. The 
temporary injunction became permanent. Greenwich Village would 
remain closed, and a public auction would dispose of its fixtures.54

Neither side, however, holstered its weapons. Solicitor Carpenter, 
attorney Kidd, and residents of suburban communities all around Char-
lotte declared “padlock warfare” against what the press called “highway 
‘hot spots.’” Meanwhile, Dr. Boyles appealed his trial loss to the North 
Carolina Supreme Court.55 His legal appeal would not be frivolous; a 
great deal of tainted evidence had been admitted at trial. More impor-
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tantly, the constitutionality of North Carolina’s public nuisance statute 
had never been tested and was an open question. The draconian proce-
dure of padlocking prior to trial, without a hearing, seemed particularly 
vulnerable to a charge of lack of “due process.”56

Sitting on the North Carolina Supreme Court, however, was a man 
who, as one admirer put it, “marches in morality,” a man for whom “the 
desire to eradicate the evils of liquor . . . was always an overwhelming 
passion”: Mecklenburg County’s own Heriot Clarkson. We first met 
Clarkson in chapter 4, when he ruled in favor of creationist preacher  
J. R. Pentuff. Clarkson fully embodied the cultural traditionalism of his 
day. Both his conservative public commitments and his conventional 
private life contrasted tellingly with the modernism of M. F. Boyles.57

The son of a Confederate officer, Clarkson was born in South Car-
olina in 1863. The Civil War destroyed the Clarksons’ plantation, and 
in 1873, the family, like Pinkney and Sarah Ross and many other South 
Carolinians that year, moved to Charlotte. Unlike the peripatetic Dr. 
Boyles, however, Heriot Clarkson would never leave.58

Clarkson graduated from the Carolina Military Institute, clerked 
at a law firm, studied law at Chapel Hill (graduating first in his class), 
and practiced law. For him, the law was more than a profession. It was 
a means to further his social values, the deepest of which emanated 
from his religious faith. “For my guidance through life I prefer to get 
my marching orders from that blessed Book—the Bible—the God 
of  books,” wrote Clarkson, a passionate Episcopalian, in 1940. “I am a 
fundamentalist. I was taught at my mother’s knee to revere the teach-
ings of the Bible . . . to guide our footpaths along life’s highway from 
the cradle to the grave.”59

Like most white southerners of the time (but unlike Dr. Boyles), 
Clarkson was a Democrat. Memories of Reconstruction, which he 
referred to as those “eleven long years” following the Civil War when 
“the Republican Party kept its heel on the neck of the citizens of the 
South,” cemented his party loyalty. Like many southern Democrats, 
Clarkson enthusiastically supported disfranchisement and Jim Crow. 
In 1896, he helped organize the state’s first “white supremacy club.” 
That same year, he drafted a resolution declaring that “white supremacy, 
through white men[,] shall rule and control in North Carolina.” The 
state’s Democratic convention in 1896 adopted this resolution. Years 
later, Clarkson recalled that he was “strongly in favor of the elimination 
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of the Negro in politics” and “did all [he] could” to make disfranchise-
ment a reality. (See chapter 7 for much more on disfranchisement.)60

It was the prohibition of alcohol, however, that best defined Clark-
son’s public life. “My strongest ambition as a boy,” he later recalled, “was 
to see the saloons abolished.” He worked tirelessly to achieve that goal. 
In 1903, he organized Charlotte’s Anti-Saloon League. The following 
year, Charlotte, largely as a result of Clarkson’s efforts, became the larg-
est city in the country to vote out the saloon. He then focused his for-
midable energies on a campaign to secure a statewide ban on alcohol. 
On New Year’s Day, 1909, North Carolina’s governor signed a statewide 
prohibition law. He sent Clarkson the pen.61

Between 1919 and 1933, national alcohol prohibition came and 
went; Clarkson’s zeal remained. He chaired a committee that drafted the 
Turlington Act of 1923, a state law designed to bolster national alcohol 
prohibition. (According to one observer, North Carolina’s Turlington 
Act “out-volstead[ed the national] Volstead” Act in regard to alcohol 
suppression.) After the Twenty-first Amendment repealed the Eigh-
teenth in 1933, Clarkson organized the United Dry Forces in North 
Carolina and vigorously opposed state-level repeal. Clarkson’s record 
of combating what he termed “the drink evil” contrasts starkly with Dr. 
Boyles’s record of selling controlled substances.62

Clarkson’s private life, like his public life, distinguished him from 
the modernist Boyles. Unlike Boyles, who left no evidence of church 
membership, Clarkson was active in one Charlotte church and founded 
another. Unlike Boyles, who defied convention by remaining a bachelor 
into his forties, Clarkson married in 1889, at age twenty-six. At the time, 
the average age for men at marriage was twenty-six. Clarkson’s bride, 
Charlotte native Mary Lloyd Osborne, was twenty-two; the average 
age for women at marriage at the time was twenty-two. Boyles’s wife, 
Mary, worked outside the home before and during marriage; Clarkson’s 
wife, also named Mary, did not work outside the home, though she was 
active in the women’s auxiliary of her church and the United Daughters 
of the Confederacy. Unlike the childless Boyleses, the Clarksons had 
four surviving children. (The national statistical average at the time was 
3.5.) Unlike the Boyleses, the Clarksons lived in an exclusive, all-white 
Charlotte neighborhood and rarely traveled out of state.63

By the time of the Greenwich Village appeal, Heriot Clarkson 
had sat on the North Carolina Supreme Court bench for almost fif-
teen years. A court leader, he had already written more than a thousand 
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majority opinions, many of which reflected his conviction that his judi-
cial duty included an obligation to, as he put it, “fight [against] . . . the 
deterioration of morals.” (Dr. Boyles’s conduct in the medical profession 
reflected no similar notion.)64

Two of the arguments that Boyles made in his legal appeal held consid-
erable importance for the future of public nuisance law in North Caro-
lina. First, Boyles challenged Judge Warlick’s decision not to require 
a prosecution bond—a monetary security provided by the plaintiff to 
cover the defendant’s costs and damages should the defendant subse-
quently win the case. There was an apparent conflict between two bond 
provisions in North Carolina’s Consolidated Statutes. Judge Warlick, the 
trial judge, had relied on section 3181, the nuisance law, which autho-
rized the trial judge to “allow a temporary writ of injunction without 
bond [emphasis added],” if satisfied, through affidavits, that a nuisance 
likely existed. On appeal, Boyles argued that section 493 controlled, not 
section 3181. Section 493 stated that plaintiffs in civil actions must pro-
vide prosecution bonds.65

The state’s Supreme Court affirmed Judge Warlick’s reliance on sec-
tion 3181. This ruling was significant. Had the high court resolved the 
statutory conflict in favor of section 493’s authority and had it required 
prosecution bonds in nuisance cases, future communities seeking action 
against alleged nuisances would have faced a riskier, slower, and more 
expensive process.66

Boyles’s second substantive contention was that the nuisance stat-
ute was unconstitutional. The measure empowered judges to shut down 
establishments upon mere allegations that they constituted public nui-
sances and without any hearing or other opportunity for the defendant 
to respond. Immediately upon receiving solicitor Carpenter’s complaint, 
Judge Warlick had ordered Greenwich Village closed. Fifteen minutes 
later, Boyles’s business—his livelihood—was padlocked, even though he 
had neither heard the allegations against him nor been given an oppor-
tunity to rebut them. Boyles argued on appeal that this procedure vio-
lated both the state constitution and the U.S. Constitution by depriving 
him of his liberty and property “without due process of law.”67

Clarkson disagreed and rejected the constitutional challenge. The 
single precedent he cited was a 1905 North Carolina opinion upholding 
the state’s authority to ban fishing in certain waters and to confiscate the 
fishing equipment of violators without hearing.68 Clarkson’s unanimous 
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opinion upheld the nuisance statute and Judge Warlick’s application of 
it. 

Clarkson’s opinion concluded with vintage hellfire and brimstone 
preaching:

Centuries ago the Almighty entered a judgment, “destruction 
by fire,” against two cities in the plain of Jordan. Today the fire 
of the law must sometimes be applied by upright citizens to the 
Sodoms and Gomorrahs that have sprung up along our high-
ways, creating nuisances against public morals. In an age when 
the respect for law and order has well-nigh withered away . . . it 
is encouraging to find patient and long-forbearing, but upright, 
citizens aroused against cancerous growths on our social body. 
They will find the processes of the law ever ready and adequate 
for such social surgery, all too often necessary to the wholesome 
health of society.69

This sermon resonated in Mecklenburg County. The day after the deci-
sion was issued, both the Charlotte News and the Charlotte Observer 
reprinted the fiery concluding passage. In fact, the News, in a single 
article, reproduced the entire homily, twice.70

The state Supreme Court’s decision in Carpenter v. Boyles validated 
the 1937 padlockings and invited more. Mecklenburgers took the hint. 
Within a month of the May 1938 ruling, two more outlying roadhouses, 
Sportland and the Oyster Bar, were shut down. Padlockings continued 
steadily thereafter, even following the passage of a 1939 law requiring 
state licensing of roadhouses. Once redisovered, the long-dormant pub-
lic nuisance law proved to be a popular legal tool.71

Although the revolution in civil liberties law initiated by the Warren 
Court would somewhat limit the reach of public nuisance padlocking 
statutes, both the padlocking remedy and the Boyles precedent remained 
important. Through the end of the century, the section of West’s North 
Carolina Digest dealing with public nuisance law referenced Boyles more 
frequently than any other case.72

The Greenwich Village case illustrates, in miniature, the social tensions 
over land use that resulted from the proliferation of automobiles and 
rural highways during the interwar years. It highlights the post-1933 
persistence of intense state-level debates about alcoholic beverages. It 
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highlights a Depression-era legal culture that stressed communal action 
(in this case, communal litigation). The dispute suggests that public 
nuisance litigation, initiated by local communities, should join zoning 
ordinances and restrictive covenants on the list of legal devices used to 
shape the development of American suburbia.

The Greenwich Village case also illuminates the increasingly active 
public role played by mid-twentieth-century women. Neighborhood 
women led the anti–Greenwich Village campaign. Indeed, women, 
often invoking the powerful language of motherhood, appear to have 
initiated the vast majority of North Carolina’s public nuisance cases 
during this period. One former sheriff estimates that, in his jurisdic-
tion, during the public nuisance law’s mid-twentieth-century heyday, 
more than 90 percent of padlocking cases were initiated by women. 
Historians who confine their attention to the male city leaders who 
adopted zoning ordinances, the male real estate developers who drafted 
restrictive covenants, or the male loan officers who engaged in redlining 
miss this instance of female agency.73

Finally, the Greenwich Village case casts new light on the origins of 
interwar cultural tensions in the South. The standard “rural traditional-
ism” versus “urban modernism” template is of limited use here. It was 
the rural police force, after all, that failed to close Greenwich Village 
and did not seem to mind bootlegging. And it was Justice Clarkson, a 
big-city judge, who administered the coup de grace to Greenwich Vil-
lage and preached against “demon rum.” The rapid spread of southern 
cities, this case suggests, sparked cultural clashes.

Heriot Clarkson remained on the North Carolina Supreme Court until 
his death in 1942. He continued to urge temperance, occasionally with 
speeches that quoted his fiery diatribe at the end of the Boyles opinion. 
To this day, the University of North Carolina law student who earns the 
highest grade in “professional responsibility” receives the Judge Heriot 
Clarkson Award.74

Memory F. Boyles remained in Mecklenburg County until his 
death in 1948. Twelve years later, the City of Charlotte annexed Dowd 
Manor. Greenwich Village, meanwhile, met a fitting end: it reopened, 
with the court’s blessing, as an automobile dealership.75
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Chapter 7

Reading and the Right to Vote 
James R. Walker Jr. and 

North Carolina’s Literacy Test 

The social and ideological changes sparked by America’s involvement in 
World War II breathed new life into the struggle for African American 
civil rights. This book’s final two chapters explore two central themes 
of the resulting civil rights movement: voting rights (this chapter) and 
school desegregation (the following chapter). Both chapters explore the 
mix of “bottom-up” and “top-down” factors that characterized the era’s 
rich legal history. The national government looms much larger in these 
chapters than in previous ones. Partly as a result, nonwhite North Caro-
linians were able to exert unprecedented agency within the state’s legal 
system. We begin with voting rights.

In the spring of 1956, Louise Lassiter, a forty-one-year-old African 
American woman from Northampton County, North Carolina, decided 
that the time had come for her to vote. “If more people vote,” she rea-
soned, “I think we’ll have more freedom. . . . It would cause the white 
people to pay more attention to the rights of the colored.” Alone but 
determined, Lassiter entered the country store that doubled as the local 
registrar’s office. Helen H. Taylor was the registrar and administered the 
state’s literacy test. Although Lassiter read the text placed before her, Tay-
lor, invoking the wide discretion available to registrars, deemed Lassiter 
illiterate and therefore ineligible to vote. The applicant’s alleged short-
coming was mispronouncing a few words in the state’s constitution.1

James McNab, Louis Becker, Eleanor Blackey, Andrew Martin, Chioma Ohanyerenwa, 
Philip Osborne, and Shepherd Reynolds contributed to this chapter.
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The following year, Lassiter reappeared. This time, however, she 
was not alone. She came with a lawyer, James R. Walker Jr., a north-
eastern North Carolinian who was in the process of mounting what 
would become a formidable grassroots legal attack on the state’s literacy 
test. Walker would take Lassiter’s case from that country store to the 
Supreme Court of the United States.

Walker’s story highlights an underappreciated aspect of civil 
rights during the 1950s and 1960s: grassroots litigation—that is, 
locally based efforts to achieve legal change through test cases in 
appellate courts. Considered separately, of course, both “grassroots” 
and “litigation” represent well-established aspects of civil rights his-
tory. Grassroots movements such as bus boycotts and lunch-counter 
sit-ins are renowned, as are litigation campaigns, most famously the 
one that produced Brown v. Board of Education. When these aspects 
are combined to form the concept of grassroots litigation, however, 
the phrase prompts less recognition. Grassroots protesters in the 
South typically worked outside the legal system, violating unjust laws 
on the streets, perhaps, but not themselves challenging these laws in 
appellate courts. Litigation, meanwhile, was famously orchestrated 
by distant, national organizations—most importantly, the New York–
based National Association for the Advancement of Colored People 
(NAACP).

From the mid-1950s to the early 1960s in northeastern North Car-
olina, James R. Walker Jr. led a surprisingly successful grassroots liti-
gation campaign against the state’s literacy test. Historians have paid 
insufficient attention to Walker and other grassroots litigators. Social 
historians of civil rights have undertaken a “view from the trenches,” to 
appreciate the crucial contributions of local activists, but legal historians 
have been less inclined to do so. This is unfortunate, for grassroots liti-
gation was an important part of the legal challenge to white supremacy 
in the decades following World War II.2

This chapter describes the actions of one grassroots litigator. It 
explores what enabled Walker to wage his litigation campaign, what his 
legal strategy was, and what he achieved. It argues that Walker’s per-
sonal background as a child of African American professionals in the 
Jim Crow South, combined with such historical events as World War II 
and the expanded reach of federal civil rights law, facilitated his career as 
a local civil rights organizer and grassroots litigator. Walker’s energetic 
advocacy put a public spotlight on egregious voting rights problems and 
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provoked legislative and judicial change. Considering the humble scale 
of his operations, his achievements were striking.

North Carolina adopted its literacy test around the turn of the twen-
tieth century, at the dawn of the Jim Crow era. The weakening of the 
Republican Party in the South, the reduction in the national govern-
ment’s protection of African American rights, and a widespread belief 
among southern whites that the Fifteenth Amendment was illegiti-
mate all facilitated the spread of disfranchisement schemes across the 
South. In North Carolina, as elsewhere, the legislators who adopted 
the literacy test generated their “electoral reform” program by mixing 
ostensible good-government concern about electoral corruption with 
white supremacist hysteria about “Negro domination.” The resulting 
legal program, which swept the region in the two decades bracketing 
1900, included poll taxes, all-white primaries, grandfather clauses, and 
literacy tests. Florida and Tennessee initiated the “reform” in 1889 by 
instituting poll taxes. Other states across the South soon followed with 
other measures. (Not included in the program of restrictive legislation, 
of course, were the unofficial but very real racial violence and intimida-
tion that often confronted blacks who sought to exercise their political 
rights.)3

North Carolina’s literacy test arose out of the threat that “Fusion” 
politics posed to the state’s conservative Democratic Party. The “Fusion” 
was a biracial coalition of members from the Populist and Republican 
parties. In 1894, Populists and Republicans wrested control of North 
Carolina’s legislature from the Democrats. Two years later, Republican 
Daniel Russell became the first non-Democrat to win the North Caro-
lina governorship since Reconstruction, and George Henry White, an 
African American Republican from northeastern North Carolina, won 
election to the U.S. House of Representatives.4

Notwithstanding these political changes, black office-holding in 
North Carolina remained modest. Governor Russell estimated that his 
818 appointments to state office included just eight African Americans. 
In counties across the state, only about ten black persons on average 
held any kind of public office between 1895 and 1900. Even in majority-
black northeastern counties, the number of African Americans holding 
public office never matched—and generally fell far short of—their pro-
portion of the population. Nonetheless, Democrats screamed “Negro 
domination” and launched what they openly called a “white supremacy” 
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campaign to remove blacks from political life. Violence and intimida-
tion were central to this plan, as demonstrated most graphically in the 
brutal Wilmington Massacre of 1898, in which white Democrats vio-
lently overthrew that city’s interracial government, killed about a dozen 
African Americans, and took power themselves.5

Also fundamental to this white supremacy campaign was an 1899 
proposal to add a poll tax, a grandfather clause, and a literacy test to the 
North Carolina constitution. The Democratic-sponsored amendment, 
which was modeled on disfranchising laws recently adopted by other 
southern states, passed and went into effect in North Carolina in 1901. 
It did the trick. By the 1904 elections, virtually no African Americans 
were able to vote in the state. Disfranchisement solidified the political 
dominance of North Carolina Democrats and whites for generations. 
After Russell, no Republican would be elected governor until 1972. 
After White, no African American would represent the state in the 
U.S. Congress until 1992.6

On its face, North Carolina’s literacy test did not violate the U.S. 
Constitution’s Fifteenth Amendment, which barred suffrage restric-
tions based on “race, color, or previous condition of servitude.” The 
literacy test, like the poll tax, theoretically applied equally to all citi-
zens, regardless of race. Test supporters, however, candidly stated that 
it would, in the words of one Democrat, “exclude a very large percent-
age of the negroes from the ballot box”—a felicitous result, he thought, 
since “negroes . . . are ignorant and have, neither by acquisition nor 
inheritance, the capacity to vote intelligently.”7 Another supporter con-
tended that the black man’s “unfitness and total incompetence to par-
ticipate in[,] much less administer[,] the affairs of government” justified 
the new suffrage restrictions.8

White newspapers cheered disfranchisement. Raleigh’s influential—
and enthusiastically white supremacist—News and Observer reported in 
1899 that the state’s newspapers were “practically unanimous in favor 
of submitting an amendment that will take from the ignorant negro 
the power to dominate the legislation of the Commonwealth.” Reason-
ing in 1900 that “the greatest folly and crime in our national history 
was the establishment of negro suffrage immediately after the war,” the 
newspaper clearly voiced the Democratic Party’s logic of white suprem-
acy: “White man, you are worthy to vote; although poor and illiter-
ate, you have the character, the manhood, the practical education, the 
intelligence and the political knowledge requisite to make a good voter. 
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Nigger-man, you have not the knowledge, nor the intelligence, nor the 
character, nor the manhood, nor the practical education requisite to 
vote. Step aside and let the white man vote.”9 Thus, although the letter 
of the new voting law may not have violated the Fifteenth Amendment, 
its spirit unquestionably did.

The North Carolina literacy test went into effect in 1901. Even if 
implemented in a racially neutral manner, it would have had a devas-
tating effect on African American suffrage. At the time, more than 50 
percent of black southerners were illiterate, as opposed to fewer than 
20 percent of white southerners.10 The implementation of North Car-
olina’s literacy test, however, was never racially neutral. A grandfather 
clause exempted almost all white persons from having to take the test. 
“[N]o male person, who was, on January 1, 1867, or at any time prior 
thereto, entitled to vote under the laws of any State in the United States 
. . . and no lineal descendant of any such person,” the clause read, “shall 
be denied the right to register and vote at any election in this State 
by reason of his failure to possess the educational qualifications herein 
prescribed.” Although the U.S. Supreme Court declared grandfather 
clauses unconstitutional in 1915, North Carolina’s version remained on 
the books for decades thereafter.11

Even without the grandfather clause, however, the very language 
of the literacy test invited biased implementation, for it granted almost 
limitless discretion to local registrars. “Every person presenting himself 
for registration,” the provision read, “shall be able to read and write any 
section of the Constitution in the English language, and shall show 
to the satisfaction of the registrar his ability to read and write any such 
section when he applies for registration [emphasis added].” All too 
often, as Louise Lassiter and countless other black North Carolinians 
would learn, local registrars, not “literacy,” determined voter eligibility 
in North Carolina.12

North Carolina’s literacy test would remain on the books until federal 
law voided it in stages beginning in 1965. Until then, its only serious 
legal challenge came from James R. Walker Jr.

Several factors explain Walker’s willingness and ability to challenge 
the North Carolina literacy test through grassroots litigation. Part of 
the reason Walker cared so much about civil rights in northeastern 
North Carolina was because he was a native son. He was born in the 
small Hertford County town of Ahoskie, on 2 February 1924, the first 
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of James and Ethel Walker’s eight children. Hertford County, like sev-
eral others in northeastern North Carolina, was poor and rural, and the 
majority of its residents were black. African Americans faced harsher 
denials of political rights in this part of the state than in any other.13

Walker’s regional roots affected his litigation campaign in a variety 
of ways. Having grown up in the area, he had firsthand knowledge of 
its system of white supremacy. He had local friends and relations upon 
whom he could call for help. He had an emotional attachment to the 
region that drew him home years after leaving to pursue opportunities 
elsewhere. He was drawn back not so much by nostalgia for the past as 
by a commitment to create a better future.

Walker’s family prepared him for civil rights leadership. “It wasn’t 
anything unusual for me to take an interest in social welfare and [to] 
fight social injustice,” he reflected years later. “It was more or less a 
family tradition on both sides.” Members of his family had long been 
leaders of important African American institutions. They taught him 
racial pride. (“I didn’t come up in the white folks’ kitchen,” he proudly 
remarked.) They taught him an ethos of service and the importance of 
fighting for civil rights. When he grew up and joined the struggle, his 
family was supportive. Walker Sr. apparently suffered economic retribu-
tion as a result of his son’s activism, but the son remembered the father 
saying, “Go ahead, son . . . fight the problem. We’ll survive.” His family 
imparted a sense of justice that served him well in the legal profession. 
“I was always legal minded,” he told an interviewer. “I practiced my own 
law before I got into law school. There were certain instinctive things I 
had about justice and so forth that I had been practicing all my life.” His 
family deserved much credit.14

Both of Walker’s parents, unlike most African Americans in the 
region, were highly educated professionals. James R. Walker Sr. was the 
valedictorian of his class at the Hampton Institute, a historically African 
American school in Virginia that was a leading center of higher educa-
tion in the “industrial” style of the era. Both Walker Sr. and his wife, 
Ethel, had long careers as educators in North Carolina’s segregated pub-
lic school system. This professional experience made them natural lead-
ers of the black community, especially given the high rates of illiteracy 
among black residents of rural northeastern North Carolina. “Whatever 
‘Professor Walker’ said” carried weight among blacks, the civil rights 
attorney recalled, “because he could read and write and interpret things 
to people.” The example set by Walker’s parents inspired his own edu-
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cational and professional aspirations. Their relative affluence made such 
aspirations attainable.15

Another influential member of Walker’s family was his maternal 
grandfather, Reverend Sander Dockery, a preacher and school admin-
istrator in Statesville, North Carolina. In his spare time, Reverend 
Dockery pursued civil rights. He was an early member of the North 
Carolina branch of the NAACP, and his civil rights activism inspired 
his grandson. “He preached against oppression for years, and I sat under 
him,” recalled Walker. Reverend Dockery also influenced his grandson’s 
career. According to one relative, it was Dockery who urged his grand-
son to become a lawyer. The minister’s example also inspired Walker 
to become a preacher. “I have a double profession,” the attorney later 
explained. “I . . . consider things from a religious standpoint from my 
church and I consider [them] from a civic standpoint though the law.” 
Walker’s civil rights activism benefited greatly from his twin profes-
sions. Being, as he put it, “ministerially inclined,” he could visit black 
churches to recruit support for his civil rights efforts. Once there, he 
“could not only speak like a lawyer” but also like a preacher. “I knew 
the Bible and I knew biblical stories to illustrate what I wanted,” he 
explained. “I knew how to interpret things to these people in terms of 
their religious concepts. I could be the minister motivating his people” 
as well as the lawyer defending them in court.16

Another gift Reverend Dockery gave to his grandson was physical 
distance from Hertford County. Statesville, where Dockery lived, lies in 
the North Carolina Piedmont, some 250 miles to the west-southwest 
of Ahoskie. In general, the Piedmont was more affluent and more 
urban than the northeastern part of the state. It also had a larger white 
population. The political disabilities facing African Americans were 
somewhat less severe there. The substantial time that Walker spent 
in Statesville throughout his life enabled him to view Ahoskie from a 
distance.17

In 1944, at the age of twenty, Walker got to see Ahoskie from a much 
greater distance. He went to war. World War II was a crucial experience 
for Walker, as it was for many other African Americans. The ideological 
opposition to fascism that flourished on the home front during the war 
years opened many eyes to the inequities of Jim Crow. Given this ideo-
logical context, the discrimination that Walker and other blacks faced 
in the armed services was especially galling. One of Walker’s bitterest 
wartime memories involved his service assignment. Upon being drafted 
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in 1944, he applied for Officer Candidate School. As a college senior 
whose liberal arts training included instruction in German, geography, 
and history, he felt well qualified to lead troops in Germany. The army, 
however, rejected his application summarily. Walker later reported that 
the army “threw my application in the trash can . . . according to a cor-
poral who was in the administrative office” at the time. Army leaders, 
Walker concluded, “weren’t interested in having black officers.” They 
assigned him to a segregated unit and sent him to Germany under the 
command of a white officer—a former soda jerk with no college train-
ing. It stung.18

Walker also was indignant about the army’s habitual exclusion of 
blacks from the infantry. According to Walker, army leaders did this 
because they “didn’t want it to get back that [African Americans had] 
died serving their country.” In fact, Walker reported, plenty of black 
soldiers who were officially assigned to low-prestige support roles were 
transferred into infantry units in Europe to replace fallen white soldiers. 
When these black soldiers subsequently died in combat, Walker angrily 
recalled, the army reported them as having served in mundane support 
units, not in the infantry.19

The discrimination that Walker experienced in the armed services 
did not surprise him. “Being a history major, I knew all that,” he said, 
but the ideological hypocrisy of the war effort left him in a fighting 
mood. “We were supposed to be fighting for the Four Freedoms,” he 
later noted. “I had never seen any of them.” His overseas service con-
vinced him that more fighting was needed at home; it also prepared 
him to wage that fight. Asked years later to account for his extraordi-
nary acceptance of personal risk during the civil rights struggle, Walker 
responded, “I was an army man. Had been to the front. . . . I was three 
years in the service. I wasn’t scared of nothing.” Walker was not the 
only one to link his war service to his civil rights work. When an Afri-
can American newspaper reported enthusiastically on Walker’s vot-
ing rights efforts in the late 1950s, editors ran an old photograph of 
Walker in his army uniform. “His Big Battles,” the caption read, “Were 
to Come Later.”20

Walker’s military service helped prepare him for civil rights combat 
in another important way, thanks to the G.I. Bill. Upon returning from 
war, Walker—along with 700,000 other African American veterans, 
including many future civil rights leaders—used the G.I. Bill to pursue 
higher education. Walker completed his undergraduate degree at North 
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Carolina College for Negroes in Durham, now North Carolina Cen-
tral University.21 Then he turned his sights on law school. In 1949, he 
applied to the prestigious—and all-white—University of North Caro-
lina School of Law. He qualified for admission in every way but one: he 
was black. So the school rejected him.22

Reluctantly, Walker enrolled in the law school at North Caro-
lina College for Negroes, a separate (and unequal) facility for Afri-
can Americans. The state had established it in 1939, one year after the 
U.S. Supreme Court ruled that states offering public legal education 
to whites must also offer public legal education to blacks. Rather than 
integrate the all-white law school in Chapel Hill, North Carolina estab-
lished a separate law school for blacks in Durham.23

Walker, however, would not accept segregation—especially of the 
“separate and unequal” variety. In 1949, when Walker enrolled, the 
North Carolina College School of Law was “poorly equipped” and 
“barely making ends meet.” It also was, in Walker’s words, “not on 
anybody’s list.” “I didn’t want to go to an unaccredited law school,” he 
explained. “I . . . wanted to go to a law school [such as UNC,] where I 
could take the bar and practice anywhere in the United States.” More 
importantly, Walker’s native sense of justice convinced him that he sim-
ply “had a right to go” to the law school in Chapel Hill.24

Walker withdrew from the North Carolina College School of Law 
“to keep from graduating.” He did so in order to preserve his legal stand-
ing to sue for admission to UNC. “If I had graduated from the black law 
school,” he reasoned, “I would no longer be a student eligible to raise 
the question” of equal access to the state’s flagship university. His eyes 
still set on Chapel Hill, Walker left Durham and transferred to the law 
school at Boston University, the same majority-white private university 
at which Martin Luther King Jr. would soon earn his doctorate. Walker 
was at BU when, in 1950, the U.S. Supreme Court heard Sweatt v. 
Painter. In its ruling, a victory for the NAACP and its top legal counsel, 
Thurgood Marshall, the Supreme Court ordered the integration of the 
all-white University of Texas School of Law. Texas, like North Caro-
lina, had tried to preserve the all-white nature of its flagship public law 
school by establishing a separate public law school for African Ameri-
cans. In Sweatt, however, a unanimous U.S. Supreme Court ruled that 
the educational and professional opportunities available at the new and 
unknown Texas State University for Negroes were in no way “equal” to 
those available at the prestigious University of  Texas School of Law. As 
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a practical matter, Sweatt meant that public law schools could no longer 
exclude applicants on the basis of race.25

Sweatt demonstrated to Walker in the most tangible way the impact 
that appellate litigation could have. It also reignited Walker’s crusade to 
gain admittance to the law school in Chapel Hill. After some further 
stonewalling, and after an additional push from the federal courts, the 
University of North Carolina grudgingly cracked opened its doors to 
Walker and a handful of other qualified black students. In 1952, Walker 
and one other African American graduated from the law school, 
becoming the first blacks ever to receive University of North Carolina 
diplomas.26

Walker’s attitude in law school was hardly typical. He rejected the 
reverence for legal precedent that lay at the heart of legal pedagogy. Law 
professors, Walker later recalled, trained their students to apply existing 
legal doctrines. Walker resisted. “I never was a student who accepted 
[established law] decisions as being sacred,” he explained. “I was a stu-
dent who found what was wrong with [the] decisions that everybody 
else was praising.” His adversarial approach to legal precedent hurt his 
law school grades but helped make him an imaginative civil rights liti-
gator after graduation.27

Outside the UNC classroom, Walker insisted upon equal treatment. 
In one widely publicized incident in the fall of 1951, Walker refused to 
accept free tickets to watch Tar Heel football games because they were 
for the Jim Crow (all-black) section, not the (all-white) student section. 
“I am a part of the student body,” he declared, “and want to cheer and 
express school spirit as part of the student body and not be set apart down 
behind the goal posts in an undignified and humiliating manner.”28

UNC chancellor Robert House was unmoved. He distinguished 
sharply between what he called “education services” on the one hand 
and “social recognition” on the other. Although federal law compelled 
the university to grant blacks equal education services, he reasoned, 
nothing compelled the school to grant blacks equal social recogni-
tion. Because football was “social,” not “educational,” university officials 
believed that they could discriminate on Saturday afternoons. Chan-
cellor House further noted that white students were charged through 
tuition for football tickets. African Americans were not; their section 
“K” tickets were free.29

Walker did not back down. He and four black classmates sent a tele-
gram to North Carolina governor Kerr Scott, requesting a legal opinion 



James R. Walker Jr. and North Carolina’s Literacy Test  137

on the matter from North Carolina attorney general Harry McMullen. 
Governor Scott did nothing. When Walker threatened litigation, how-
ever, the university capitulated. By the end of the 1951 football season, 
Chapel Hill had opened the student section to Walker and other black 
students.30

The football incident and others like it taught Walker several 
important lessons: North Carolina’s assertions of racial progressiveness 
were often hollow; litigation—or even its threat—could be a powerful 
weapon; and, on a personal level, civil rights activism was deeply satisfy-
ing. After graduating, he would put these lessons to use as a grassroots 
civil rights litigator.31

The North Carolina that Walker confronted, law degree in hand, was 
relatively liberal for a southern state at the time. A 1958 survey, taken a 
few years after Walker’s law school graduation, estimated that 31 per-
cent of potential black voters in North Carolina were registered. This 
compared favorably to, for example, Louisiana’s 14 percent or South 
Carolina’s 11 percent.32 But 31 percent black registration was dwarfed 
by 84 percent white registration in the state. Moreover, statewide fig-
ures masked pockets within North Carolina where disfranchisement 
was as pronounced as anywhere in the South. These pockets were con-
centrated in Walker’s native northeast.33

Corrupt application of the literacy test was just one of many factors 
limiting the black vote there. Genuine illiteracy did exist. A 1961 study 
pegged the number of illiterate and “functionally illiterate” North Caro-
linians at 425,000, or almost 10 percent of the state’s total population of 
4.5 million. This report estimated that 75,000 people in the state were 
totally illiterate and another 350,000 people were functionally illiterate. 
African Americans probably accounted for a disproportionate share of 
this figure, since 7.5 percent of blacks were illiterate nationally in 1959, 
compared to 1.6 percent of whites. Black illiteracy was probably highest 
in areas such as northeastern North Carolina, where poverty abounded 
and educational opportunities did not.34

Apathy and hopelessness among potential African American voters 
further suppressed registration. Some blacks were so disillusioned with 
the political process, and so cynical about the prospect of change, that 
they did not even seek to register. This frustrated those black leaders 
who believed that the vote could achieve positive change. One aggra-
vated black southerner perhaps exaggerated a bit in 1956 when lament-
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ing, “You can’t get most Negroes to talk to you about voting. . . . Some 
say their votes don’t count; some say they [whites] would elect whom 
they want anyway, others think [voting] is a good thing if somebody else 
does it.” James R. Walker Jr. himself later remarked that one of his big-
gest challenges in the 1950s was “undoing some notions that blacks had 
. . . that voting was all white folks’ business.” Another black activist con-
ceded that “lethargy among [African American] people themselves” did 
suppress black registration and voting but rightly noted that the many 
“hurdles placed between the eligible voters and the ballot box” had a lot 
to do with the creation of this lethargy.35

Another factor suppressing black registration and voting was white 
intimidation. Some blacks who contemplated electoral participa-
tion faced quiet but menacing pressures. Examples included pressures 
applied by school boards on black teachers, by white landowners on 
black farm workers; and by white merchants on black debtors. Other 
techniques were less subtle. Whites in majority-black Bertie County 
positioned German shepherds in front of the Perrytown precinct sta-
tion; they restrained the snarling dogs when whites approached but 
loosed them when African Americans sought to register.36

Beyond intimidation lay violence. Blacks who led voter registra-
tion efforts in Georgia in 1957 had their cars bombed and their front 
porches blown up. A married couple who led a Florida voter registra-
tion drive died when a bomb exploded in their home on Christmas 
Eve. Indeed, voter registration drives between the mid-1950s and mid-
1960s left numerous martyrs, the most famous of whom were Medgar 
Evers, James Chaney, Andrew Goodman, and Michael Schwerner. All 
too often, especially in majority-black areas, intimidation and violence 
kept even unquestionably literate blacks off the voting rolls.37

The literacy test, locally administered, made matters worse. Despite 
its infamy, the test has been subject to surprisingly little close scholarly 
scrutiny. Historical studies tend to include it in general discussions of 
voting rights and to focus on national developments, such as the Vot-
ing Rights Act of 1965. But real voting rights history, at least prior to 
1965, occurred at the county and precinct level. As the United States 
Commission on Civil Rights recognized in a 1961 report, it was local 
registrars in individual precincts who “wield[ed] the real power affect-
ing suffrage” in the United States.38

North Carolina electoral law gave local registrars expansive discre-
tionary powers. A federal study of North Carolina voting rights in 1960 
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found that the “procedures followed by registrars to determine literacy 
var[ied] widely from registrar to registrar, and from county to county.” 
Some registrars asked applicants to read passages from the North Car-
olina constitution; others used the U.S. Constitution. Some registrars 
asked applicants to read aloud; others read aloud and asked potential 
registrants to transcribe their dictation. A few registrars did not ask vot-
ers to prove literacy at all.39

Grading standards varied even more than testing formats. Potential 
voters had to prove their literacy “to the satisfaction of the registrar.” 
Not surprisingly, judgments about what constituted “satisfactory” lit-
eracy varied widely from registrar to registrar—and applicant to appli-
cant. Moreover, some counties gave registrars the additional power to 
reject potential voters not of “good mind.” Thus, racist registrars could 
easily discriminate against African Americans. As the federal Commis-
sion on Civil Rights observed in 1959, North Carolina’s low nonwhite 
voter registration was due largely to “varying practices in administering 
the State’s literacy requirement.”40

In general, the fairness of the literacy test as administered in North 
Carolina was inversely proportional to the percentage of African Ameri-
cans in the local population. Where black populations were sparse, black 
voting rights tended to be robust, and black registration figures approxi-
mated those of whites. For example, in Burke County, in western North 
Carolina, blacks accounted for about 7 percent of the 1960 population. 
Officials there claimed to administer suffrage tests with an absolutely 
even hand, and registration figures substantiate their boasts. About 82 
percent of Burke County nonwhites were registered to vote in 1958. 
This was almost identical to the statewide figure for whites. In moun-
tainous Macon County, located even farther west, blacks accounted for 
less than 2 percent of the population. Macon County officials report-
edly did not even bother to administer the literacy test.41

As one moved eastward and the concentration of blacks increased, 
nonwhite voter registration fell. This was no coincidence. Whites in 
majority-black eastern counties feared that true democracy would 
destroy their dominance. They did whatever was necessary to limit the 
black vote. “It is in this [eastern] section of the state,” lamented one 
African American in 1950, “that Negroes are kept from voting and 
intimidated if they even try to register to vote.”42 

The counties of northeastern North Carolina had the state’s high-
est percentage of African American residents and the state’s lowest per-
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centage of registered African American voters. In 1960, eleven of North 
Carolina’s one hundred counties had populations that were predomi-
nantly nonwhite. Eight of these eleven counties formed a contiguous 
cluster in the state’s northeastern area. Although civil rights scholars 
have largely overlooked this region in favor of the Deep South, which 
it in many ways resembled, it was, in the words of one civil rights leader 
of the day, “one of the most repressive areas in the South.” By 1960, 
nonwhite voter registration in these eleven counties averaged 16.4 per-
cent. Although this level was higher than it had been just a few years 
previously, it was less than half the statewide average for nonwhites. It 
was also woefully behind the statewide average for white citizens in that 
year: 92.8 percent.43

Because North Carolina had no poll tax, the literacy test was the 
principal legal device for maintaining white electoral dominance. A fair 
application of the test would have disfranchised more blacks than whites, 
since illiteracy was higher among blacks. But the application of the test 
was not at all fair. Asked in 1961 if he had ever seen a white person fail 
the literacy test, a registrar in Bertie County in northeastern North Caro-
lina was honest enough to admit, “No. I mean I didn’t have any to try it.” 
The African American press reported in the mid-1950s that it was an 
“age-old complaint amongst the colored people” of North Carolina “that 
registrars abuse their discretion and pull all kinds of tricks on the ‘reading’ 
requirements” in order to “keep colored people from registering.”44

On paper, the state’s registration requirements were few and 
straightforward. Registrants had to be citizens of nation and state; they 
had to be at least twenty-one years of age; they had to be residents of 
North Carolina and of their voting precincts; and they had to be able 
to read and write any section of the state constitution in English, to 
the satisfaction of the registrar. But many registrars were not “satisfied” 
with black applicants. Some registrars found literate blacks to be illiter-
ate. Others required blacks who read and wrote successfully to interpret 
murky constitutional passages. Still others followed reading and writing 
tests with tricky questions about government and history.

A registrar in Enfield Township of Halifax County in northeastern 
North Carolina asked a black applicant to transcribe a dictated section 
of the state constitution. The applicant did so. The registrar asked the 
applicant to read back the dictation. He did so. The registrar then asked 
a series of questions about state government, including, “Which has the 
most force, the militia or the General Assembly?” The applicant aced all 
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questions except for this one. He was not registered. Other unfair ques-
tions reportedly asked by registrars of blacks included, “Who is your 
congressman?” “How many electoral votes does North Carolina have?” 
“How many rooms are in the county courthouse?” “What is habeas cor-
pus?” “Name the signers of the Declaration of Independence,” and, “If 
the NAACP attacked the U.S. government, on which side would you 
fight?”45

One black columnist fumed that “registrars in the eastern part of 
the state” were so “malicious in their anxiety to keep colored people 
from registering” that they kept raising the bar as high as necessary 
to trip up qualified blacks. No evidence suggests that white applicants 
were similarly tested.46 James R. Walker Jr. vowed to end such abuse.

Following his graduation from UNC in 1952, Walker “built up a little 
law practice” in his grandfather’s hometown of Statesville, North Caro-
lina. His subsequent career as a civil rights activist benefited from the 
failure of this law practice to be emotionally rewarding.47

Walker did not find his true calling until 1955, when he accompa-
nied his father on a book tour. The elder Walker had retired from the 
Statesville school system in 1953 and turned to poetry. Two years later, 
he published an original collection, Be Firm My Hope (1955). Reviewers 
praised the collection as “reflecting genuine emotion and deep religious 
conviction.” Indeed, religious devotion was the book’s overriding theme. 
But social justice and racial discrimination—treated in such poems as 
“Race Relations,” “Separate but Equal,” and “Slavery”—were powerful 
subthemes. The elder Walker may have had his son’s World War II ser-
vice in mind when writing,

May all who’ve in her [America’s] battles fought,
Enjoy what life and blood have bought;
It matters not if black or white,
For man is man and right is right.

Another poem concerned voting:

It matters not about your hue,
Nor what you have to eat or wear;
It matters not who scorns at you,
The ballot’s yours, go do and dare.
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According to subsequent press accounts, the senior Walker’s poetry 
inspired “much” of his son’s “devotion to action in civil rights.”48

The book tour took the Walkers to northeastern North Carolina. 
Tiring of the school libraries where his father promoted his books, the 
young lawyer took to visiting surrounding communities. He soon real-
ized that the poor, rural, majority-black northeastern part of the state 
desperately needed legal advocacy of the sort that he could provide. 
Local leaders in the Halifax County town of Weldon implored him to 
lend them a hand: “With a guy like you, what we could do here,” they 
said. In exchange, “we ought to be able to provide a [rent-free] place for 
you to stay and an office place,” though no salary was offered. Father 
and son returned to Statesville at the end of the book tour, but the 
younger Walker soon traveled east on his own “to explore further . . .  
what I might be able to do back in the area where I was born.” Inter-
viewed in Weldon decades later, Walker explained his decision to relo-
cate: “I figured I could be of more service over here than over there.” He 
was home.49

Black lawyers were then in short supply in North Carolina. Accord-
ing to the 1950 Census, compiled five years before Walker’s trip east, 
there were 2,279 members of the legal profession in North Carolina, 
of whom just 26 were African American. Thus, the state contained 
one white lawyer for every 1,300 white residents and one black lawyer 
for every 40,000 black residents. To be sure, white lawyers often rep-
resented African American clients. But in politically explosive matters 
such as voting rights cases, which threatened the foundations of the 
racial caste system, local white lawyers willing to litigate aggressively 
for black clients were scarce. Walker found it moving to see “so many 
people without legal counsel or guidance of the type they wanted.” Des-
perate African Americans “besieged” him “with requests for legal aid.” 
He answered their call.50

When Walker moved east, he became the only African American 
lawyer in a six-county area of northeastern North Carolina. He imme-
diately joined the leadership of the local civil rights movement. His 
background and training had prepared him to lead. He was also free of 
familial and professional commitments. Unlike nine in ten American 
men of Walker’s age at this time, Walker was unmarried. Without a 
family to support, Walker was freer than were most beginning attorneys 
to concentrate on non-revenue-generating cases such as voting rights 
disputes. He was also free of the indirect threats against spouses and 
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children that hate groups sometimes employed against civil rights lead-
ers. Likewise, Walker had no law firm, law partners, or law office to 
protect. He worked in Weldon, in office space donated by the African 
American supporters who had invited him east. His opponents could 
not easily threaten professional reprisal.51

Walker joined the legal battle for voting rights at a critical moment. The 
social and intellectual changes wrought by World War II had sparked 
a dramatic, though temporary, increase in southern black voting. Black 
registration in the South rose from 3 percent in 1940 to 20 percent in 
1952. The white southern backlash against Brown v. Board of Education 
(1954), however, slowed and, in places, reversed this progress. Black 
voter registration in Mississippi fell by more than half between 1954 
and 1956; Virginia, Georgia, and Alabama adopted new laws that made 
voter registration more difficult. In the post-Brown South, white toler-
ance of black voting decreased, even as black electoral aspirations rose. 
Conflict was inevitable. “Register and Vote” meetings in North Caro-
lina and elsewhere inspired unprecedented numbers of blacks to visit 
registration offices. As often as not, they confronted registrars newly 
recommitted to white supremacy. Unjustly rejected black voter appli-
cants needed legal representation.52

For years, the NAACP had led the struggle for African Ameri-
can voting rights. Its greatest achievement in this field was Smith v. 
Allwright (1944), a wartime case in which the Supreme Court of the 
United States struck down the whites-only Democratic primary in 
Texas. In the early 1950s, however, the NAACP turned away from vot-
ing rights litigation in favor of alternatives that seemed more promis-
ing. Between 1955 and 1961, just as voting rights disputes intensified, 
the drop in NAACP voting rights litigation became precipitous, owing 
largely to the many nuisance suits that southern states filed against the 
civil rights group during these years. The nuisance suits failed in the 
courts but put the NAACP on the defensive.53 It was precisely at this 
critical moment that Walker and other grassroots litigators stepped in 
and took up the slack.

In recent decades, scholars have worked hard to explain the civil 
rights litigation strategies of the NAACP and its most famous attor-
ney, Thurgood Marshall. The legal strategies of James R. Walker Jr. 
and other grassroots litigators also deserve attention. Walker experi-
mented with a variety of legal approaches. He probed the political foun-
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dations of white supremacy, seeking soft spots. Although he lacked the 
NAACP’s resources and personnel, he did surprisingly well.54

One of Walker’s techniques was to litigate in his own name. This 
enabled him to avoid the ethical and practical complications of using 
surrogate clients. In June 1956, he challenged in his own name the 
legitimacy of a “single-shot” voting law that applied to local elections in 
Halifax County, his home county. The previous year, largely in response 
to Brown v. Board of Education, North Carolina, like several other south-
ern states, had prohibited “single-shot” voting in many local elections. 
North Carolina’s anti–single-shot law, which applied in select “at-large” 
local elections, including many school board elections, required voters 
to cast as many votes as there were seats to fill. 

The unstated purpose of this 1955 law was to minimize African 
American voting strength, at a time when black voting, especially 
in cities, was moving from “negligible” to “measurable” and when 
black candidates for local office were appearing for the first time in 
decades. No African American had held elective office in Halifax 
County since 1898, yet three black candidates for local positions ran 
in the Democratic primary in the spring of 1956. (Walker, inciden-
tally, managed all three campaigns, none of which resulted in vic-
tory.) One of these African American candidates was Dr. Salter J. 
Cochran, a physician and “decorated war hero” who sought at-large 
election to the Halifax County Board of Education. His prospects 
for victory were greatest if his supporters, who were overwhelm-
ingly—perhaps exclusively—African American, could vote for him 
alone, without also having to vote for any of his rivals, all of whom 
were white. The “single-shot” law prohibited such voting by requir-
ing full slates from each voter. (In some counties, indeed, voting 
machines were literally returned to factories to be “one-shotted,” 
guaranteeing that they would accept only full slates in at-large elec-
tions.) Given the day’s political realities, the single-shot measure 
decreased the likelihood that black candidates would prevail in at-
large elections.55

Acting as both plaintiff and plaintiff ’s counsel, Walker sued the 
Halifax County Board of Elections for “throwing out his ballot on which 
he had voted [for] only one candidate in a race in which seven out of 
eight were to be elected.” Walker sought to strike down the “single- 
shot” voting law. The state legislature, however, deftly mooted his law-
suit in the spring of 1957 by converting board of education positions 
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from elective to appointive. North Carolina’s “single-shot” ban persisted 
until voided by federal judges early in the 1970s.56

Walker could attack the single-shot rule in his own name because the 
law affected him personally. He was, after all, a registered voter. Pre-
cisely for that reason, however, he could not attack the literacy test in his 
own name. That law had not prevented him from registering or voting. 
In order to challenge the literacy test in court, he would need to find cli-
ents who had fallen victim to the literacy test. Challenging the literacy 
test and finding affected clients necessitated organization.

As he planned his strategy for attacking the literacy test, Walker’s 
first impulse was not to establish an independent, grassroots organiza-
tion but to work through the NAACP. He was already a dues-paying 
member. He attended local meetings and was a regular at the annual 
state conference. Soon after settling into Halifax County, he “tried to 
make the NAACP work.” Doing so, he later explained, “would have 
saved me the trouble of setting up something independent.” But the 
lawyer and the organization were mismatched. As of 1955, Walker’s 
eyes were locked on voting rights; the NAACP, in contrast, focused 
largely on implementing the recent Brown ruling. Walker considered 
the NAACP’s narrow focus on school integration to be badly “out of 
step” with local African American concerns and needs.57

Walker’s eagerness for direct action also clashed with the NAACP’s 
instinctive moderation. “I was too aggressive for them,” Walker later told 
an interviewer. “I couldn’t get them to get up and fight any issues that 
needed to be fought. . . . They weren’t ready for that type of action.”58

Speed was also a divisive issue. With registration for the 1956 elec-
tions fast approaching, Walker itched for action. The NAACP’s delib-
erate procedures were not designed for speed. “At the state conference 
[of the NAACP],” he later complained, “you would never get anything 
[done] for the next year or two.” He elaborated: “I had just come out 
of Carolina [the newly integrated state law school]. . . . I was already 
out from under any yoke of segregation myself. I’m trying to free other 
people. And I’m impatient.” Walker conceded that the NAACP, given 
its nature, may have had no choice but to “go through the state confer-
ence and do this, that, and the other.” But he was not so encumbered. “I 
was going to file my suits and do whatever I was going to do before they 
got an answer from anybody. I was a punch man. I hit now.”59

Perhaps most importantly, the NAACP demanded closer super-
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vision and control than Walker was prepared to cede. According to 
Walker, “I didn’t want it [the NAACP] to tell me what to challenge or 
what not to challenge or how to practice my law. I used my legal pro-
fession to raise and fight . . . legal issues as I saw them.” The result was 
predictable: the NAACP “wouldn’t give me any money” and “would not 
take the cases I was handling.” Walker realized that, in order to advance, 
“I had to have something else.”60

Concluding that the NAACP “just didn’t meet the local needs,” 
Walker founded an independent group to support his grassroots litiga-
tion campaign: the Eastern Council on Community Affairs (ECCA). 
Widespread suffrage abuses and a local tradition of black mobiliza-
tion made organizing easy. “[T]here was a big need for the [ECCA] 
before we got it set up,” Walker recalled. With elections drawing near, 
the organization “built up out of necessity.” “I didn’t have any problem 
organizing blacks over here,” Walker explained. “They were willing and 
ready.”61

The ECCA covered twenty-five counties in eastern North Carolina, 
with special focus on the majority-black northeast. Walker appointed 
representatives in each county, being sure to name people whose lead-
ership in other organizations was likely to make them well known in 
their communities. The group had a newsletter, occasional meetings, 
and little else. Primarily, it served as a communications network. Blacks 
who were unjustly denied suffrage in any of the covered counties were 
urged to contact their local ECCA representatives, who would forward 
the news to Walker in Weldon. “[W]ithin twenty-four hours after they 
got turned down,” Walker claimed, “I would know it through the net-
work we had had set up.”62

Walker’s first impulse was to respond to a voting rights denial with 
direct action. “See, I didn’t start in court,” he recalled. “I went straight 
in and handled the thing direct. Direct action and civil protest . . . I did 
that so many times. I’d get a number of people to protest . . . just go 
on down and push for something.” One of the first voting rights com-
plaints that Walker received came from the Halifax County town of 
Enfield, where a local voting registrar, under suspicious circumstances, 
had rejected the applications of several African Americans. Walker vis-
ited Enfield and “asked for the registrar’s resignation for being so arbi-
trary and unfair.” Instead of getting rid of the registrar, Enfield got rid 
of Walker. The police ordered him to leave town, and Walker recalled 
that they “tried to bring some charges against me.”63
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Walker learned from the experience. In the future, although he 
would not abandon what he called “civic action,” he would combine 
it with litigation. If direct action did not work, he said, “I’d come back 
with a [law]suit.”64

In those lawsuits, statistics demonstrating that the literacy test, as 
applied, had a racially discriminatory effect would have been most per-
suasive. Statistical evidence of this sort would later become a standard 
feature of employment discrimination cases. In 1956, however, state-
wide voter registration statistics simply did not exist in North Carolina. 
Compiling them would have required two things that Walker did not 
have: the cooperation of county- and precinct-level electoral officials 
and the money to hire statisticians. Instead, Walker employed other legal 
techniques. A series of cases from his busiest period of grassroots litiga-
tion, 1956–1961, illustrates these techniques and highlights his creativ-
ity, resolve, and flexibility in light of changing legal circumstances.

The first and simplest of Walker’s legal techniques was to sue unjust 
registrars personally. In 1956, Walker initiated a civil suit on behalf of 
Ernest Ivey, a sixty-two-year-old African American preacher. Three 
times Ivey had tried but failed to register in Halifax County’s Littleton 
precinct before the Democratic primary in May 1956. His problem was 
not illiteracy. Walker alleged that Ivey had “the equivalent of a high 
school education and ha[d] done academic work in extension classes 
in the Ministry.” He was “well able to read, write and understand any 
non-technical matter in the English language and is for all purposes a 
literate person.” Ivey could pass any fair literacy test. But he could not 
pass an unfair “literacy” test administered by registrar T. W. Cole. Cole 
administered an “academic test . . . on matters pertaining to the Consti-
tution of the United States and United States history and government.” 
Questions included “On what date each year does [the U.S.] Congress 
convene?” and “What would be the total vote of two-thirds of the [U.S.] 
House and Senate?” This test was neither improvised nor clandestine. 
A typewritten version of it appears as exhibit A in the Ivey v. Cole case 
file. Walker reminded the court that North Carolina required only that 
voters be able to “read and write.” Cole’s civics test, he argued, was “not 
even a token attempt at compliance” with state law.65

Ivey’s complaint, filed in federal district court in Raleigh, alleged 
that Cole’s “literacy” test was malicious, arbitrary, and unlawful and 
that, among other things, it violated Ivey’s rights under the Fourteenth 
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and Fifteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. It alleged that 
Cole administered his “humiliating, harassing, degrading and unlawful” 
test “only to applicants of . . . the Negro race” and that “persons of . . . 
the white race . . . are registered without” having to take it. Ivey claimed 
to know “many other persons of his race who were denied registration 
by the defendant solely . . . because of the academic test” and further 
alleged that Cole “ha[d] not denied registration to any white person by 
reason of the academic test.” Ivey sued Cole for five thousand dollars in 
compensatory and punitive damages.66

It was no accident that Ivey sued in federal court, not state court. 
Civil rights litigators in the South during this period uniformly pre-
ferred federal to state courts. Segregationists preferred state courts. As 
one African American noted in 1957, opponents of African American 
civil rights sought “to avoid federal courts whenever possible.”67

The U.S. District Court in Raleigh was a comparatively congenial 
venue in which to present civil rights claims. Raleigh was a Piedmont 
city; civil rights generally fared better in the cities than in the country-
side and generally fared better in North Carolina’s Piedmont than in 
its northeastern counties. Raleigh was also home to Samuel S. Mitchell 
and Herman Taylor, two black lawyers whom Walker had met during 
the battle to integrate UNC’s law school. Both Raleigh lawyers were 
impressive. Mitchell had been a top student at Howard University Law 
School, where Thurgood Marshall had studied. Taylor’s résumé showed 
stints with the NAACP Legal Defense Fund and the North Carolina 
College for Negroes Law School faculty. When the two formed a law 
partnership in Raleigh in 1952, they quickly became the state’s leading 
civil rights attorneys. Their willingness to collaborate on civil rights cases 
would prove extremely helpful to Walker over the next few years. As 
Walker fondly recalled, “I would hold conferences with them as though 
we were getting ten thousand dollars for a case. And it wasn’t ten cents.” 
The Raleigh lawyers also generously donated the services of their legal 
secretaries, providing Walker with needed administrative support.68

Ivey’s suit sought monetary damages from the registrar. Similar suits 
had succeeded elsewhere in the South in the 1940s and early 1950s. 
Such suits had some advantages. Even before reaching court, they could 
attract media attention and publicize voting rights abuses. Courtroom 
victories, or out-of-court settlements, would produce much-needed 
money for reinvestment in the struggle. Here, a victory would force a 
racist registrar to pay five thousand dollars for his misdeeds, a sum hefty 
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enough to make other racist registrars think twice before abusing their 
authority.69

Individual suits for damages, however, also had disadvantages. Ivey 
v. Cole did not directly challenge the literacy test as an institution or seek 
to enjoin the use of Cole’s civics test. Even a favorable result would have 
left intact all of North Carolina’s voting laws. Follow-up litigation, seek-
ing monetary damages on a registrar-by-registrar, precinct-by-precinct, 
county-by-county basis was simply not affordable or feasible. Further-
more, civil lawsuits for money damages and no injunctive relief can drag 
on in the courts for years.

That is indeed what happened. The defense managed to deny jus-
tice by delaying it, again and again. In July 1963, a full seven years after 
it began, Ivey v. Cole was dismissed.70

In the second front that Walker opened in his legal war, he challenged 
the literacy test directly rather than challenging the registrar who admin-
istered it. His attack began in Northampton County, a northeastern 
county where whites accounted for about 36 percent of the population 
but where registered whites, as late as 1960, outnumbered registered 
nonwhites by more than a 5-to-1 ratio.71 In the weeks preceding the 
Democratic primary on 26 May 1956, numerous Northampton County 
blacks contacted Walker with voter registration complaints. Several law 
cases resulted.

One of these cases featured an unexpected criminal defendant: 
Walker himself.

On 12 May 1956, two African Americans—a female nurse and 
a male college student—tried to register at the Seaboard precinct in 
Northampton County. After the registrar, Helen Taylor, rejected their 
applications, these two would-be voters contacted Walker, who accom-
panied them to the general store where the registrar conducted her offi-
cial business. Taylor told Walker that she had not registered his clients 
because they had not satisfactorily answered her questions regarding the 
constitution. Walker protested that those questions were illegitimate 
and insisted that Taylor register the two applicants. The registrar asked 
him to leave. Walker pressed his registration arguments, underscoring 
his points with decisive hand motions. At that juncture, Walker later 
recalled, W. H. Taylor, the registrar’s husband and the proprietor of the 
general store, called the police. Walker was arrested on two charges: 
disorderly conduct and trespassing.72
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In Northampton County Recorder’s Court, Walker’s lawyer argued 
that the prosecution had failed to prove either of the charges. Walker 
had done nothing more “disorderly” than point his finger during an 
argument. Regarding trespassing, the defense contended that a voter 
registration office, even when located in a privately owned store, is 
inherently a public place. Walker had every right to be there.73

Trial judge Ballard S. Gay found Walker guilty as charged. Since 
Walker lived out of district and was not a potential voter in the Seaboard 
precinct, Judge Gay reasoned, he had no right to be in the registrar’s 
office. “When outsiders start to interfere with the affairs of Northamp-
ton County,” Gay declared from the bench, “we are not going to stand 
for it.” He sentenced Walker to ninety days at hard labor on the roads 
and a one-hundred-dollar fine.74

Walker appealed for a de novo jury trial. When he got to superior 
court, he found that his criminal charge had mutated from “trespassing 
and disorderly conduct” to “assaulting a female.” The evidence remained 
the same. Registrar Taylor testified that Walker had “sh[aken] his finger 
as he pointed across the desk.” The jury found Walker guilty of “assault-
ing a female.” Although Walker attempted to appeal once again, the 
North Carolina Supreme Court ruled that the deadline for filing an 
appeal had passed. Walker was fined five hundred dollars (plus court 
costs) and sent briefly to jail.75

Still the state did not rest. Citing the very same incident, prosecu-
tors charged Walker with yet another crime: “disturbing an elections 
registrar in the performance of h[er] duties.” Walker again was found 
guilty, briefly jailed, and fined again. Over the next couple of years, he 
was also arrested for property tax evasion in Halifax County, notwith-
standing his protests that he owned no property there, and the seats 
and upholstery of his fifteen-year-old car were slashed beyond repair. 
Local whites, Walker declared, “don’t intend to have any Negro lawyers 
practice in this section. They threw the book at me to try to cripple me 
and to drive me out. They used the criminal law to interfere with my 
practice of the law and as a psychological weapon to scare away cli-
ents and keep me broke.” But Walker’s grassroots litigation campaign 
continued.76

On 5 May 1956, one Saturday prior to the finger-shaking incident, 
Louise Lassiter entered the same W. H. Taylor general store in the Sea-
board precinct of Northampton County and attempted to register to 
vote. She did so, she said, because she wished to help create a freer and 
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fairer world for her three children. She had been inspired by the exam-
ple of her husband, Lloyd, a local civil rights activist who had been reg-
istered to vote since 1950. Lloyd and Louise Lassiter were not wealthy. 
(The U.S. Supreme Court would later grant Louise “pauper” status, 
which Walker had requested so that the government would waive the 
printing costs associated with her federal appeal.) The Lassiters, how-
ever, were not the poorest of the poor. Indeed, they owned a farm, albeit 
a small one, near Seaboard. About three out of every four Northamp-
ton County black men worked on farms; relatively few blacks, however, 
owned the land they worked. Land ownership protected the Lassiters 
from economic intimidation. As Walker explained, “A lot of persons 
were denied [voter registration] but did not want their names attached 
[to test cases] for they were tenant farmers . . . or something.” The 
Lassiters, in contrast, “had a little twenty-five-acre farm” and vowed to 
“fight it all the way.”77

Between “farm wife” Louise Lassiter (as the press called her) and 
the ballot box, however, stood the registrar, Helen Taylor, who deemed 
Lassiter illiterate and refused to register her. Lassiter was not illiterate. 
She had completed a year of high school, which meant that she had 
more formal education than 70 percent of Northampton County adults 
at that time. Later, she was said to be able to read the U.S. Supreme 
Court opinion in her own case. Her alleged failing in Taylor’s store was 
to mispronounce a few words from the North Carolina constitution, 
including the word indictment.78

Walker filed a lawsuit on behalf of Louise Lassiter against the 
Northampton County Board of Elections challenging the constitution-
ality of North Carolina’s literacy test. Lassiter was not Walker’s first 
choice for a test-case plaintiff, however. He preferred and had first sued 
on behalf of Alexander Faison, one of the two African Americans whose 
registration denial on 12 May had provoked Walker’s finger-shaking 
argument with Helen Taylor. Faison’s educational qualifications were 
less assailable than Lassiter’s. She had finished just one year of high 
school; he was an undergraduate at the North Carolina College for 
Negroes, Walker’s alma mater. Faison had the additional advantage of 
being a U.S. Air Force veteran, a credential that may have sat well with 
patriotic judges and jurors. But Faison’s case tripped on a technicality. 
He apparently lived on the wrong side of a road and thus was ineli-
gible to register in the Seaboard precinct. By March 1957, this defect 
had surfaced, the Faison case had collapsed, and Walker, along with his 
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Raleigh collaborators Taylor and Mitchell, had filed Louise Lassiter v. 
Northampton County Board of Elections in federal district court.79

Although Lassiter was not Walker’s top choice, he had reasons to 
select this “farm wife” from the “churchfull of folks” in Northampton 
County who might have served as a test-case client. She was willing. 
She was poised enough to make a good witness. And, as Walker later 
noted, she “was a mother” who was “typical enough” to be effective in 
the national court of public opinion. (Although Walker acted locally, he 
thought nationally.)80

Walker hoped that the Lassiter challenge to the constitutionality of 
the literacy test would induce federal judges to rewrite North Carolina’s 
electoral law. One week before Lassiter was to be heard by a three-judge 
federal court, however, the case induced state legislators to do some 
rewriting. On 12 April 1957, the North Carolina General Assembly, 
fearing that Walker might well prevail in court, removed some of the 
most obviously unfair elements from the state’s literacy test. Prior to the 
1957 revision, would-be registrants had to demonstrate literacy “to the 
satisfaction” of registrars. Rejected applicants had no recourse other than 
civil court appeal—a cumbersome procedure that could rarely provide 
relief before election day. The 1957 revision deleted the phrase “to the 
satisfaction of the registrar.” It also opened new avenues for appeal. The 
rejected applicant now had rapid recourse to the local board of elections 
and, if still unsatisfied, to the local superior court. Both county-level 
bodies could reverse the local registrar’s decision. The 1957 revision also 
deleted North Carolina’s grandfather clause, which had remained on 
the books even though the U.S. Supreme Court had ruled grandfather 
clauses unconstitutional in 1915.81

For Walker, the 1957 revision was a mixed result. On the positive 
side, the revision appeared to reduce the discretionary authority of reg-
istrars and to facilitate timely literacy test appeals. In the future, blacks 
would sometimes win these appeals, both in local boards of election and 
in the North Carolina Supreme Court. Although Walker hoped that 
Lassiter would ultimately achieve much more, he could rightly have felt 
proud that, even before a court hearing, his grassroots litigation cam-
paign had achieved tangible results.82 On the negative side, however, 
the 1957 revision offered a deeply flawed remedy to persons denied the 
right to register to vote. According to the new measure, a person denied 
the right to register could appeal to the local board of elections but had 
to initiate this procedure “by 5:00 p.m. on the day following the day of 
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denial”—an extraordinarily short period of time. Would-be voters who 
missed this deadline apparently would lose the right to appeal.83 In addi-
tion, the 1957 revision made it much less likely that Lassiter would win 
her test case. The measure was clearly a preemptive response to Walker’s 
litigation. Legislative supporters of the revision warned that, unless the 
bill passed, the state’s literacy test “would likely be declared unconstitu-
tional” in Lassiter. After passage of the revised law, the state’s attorney 
general observed that the measure would “strengthen the hand” of the 
defense (the board of elections) in Lassiter. He was right.84

Lassiter resumed. The ideal test case, from Walker’s perspective, 
would presumably have featured a diabolically racist registrar and a per-
fectly literate applicant. In Helen Taylor and Louise Lassiter, Walker 
had neither. When a defense lawyer at the federal court hearing asked 
Taylor if she gave “everyone—white, black and Indian—the literacy 
test,” the “stout smiling registrar” replied, “Yes sir.” Two white defense 
witnesses from the Seaboard precinct testified that Taylor had indeed 
made them take the literacy test. Taylor even recalled rejecting an illit-
erate white registrant back in 1952. Walker did not challenge this 
evidence.85

Doubts also emerged regarding Louise Lassiter’s literacy. On the 
stand, she was asked to read part of the state’s constitution. She did so, 
but “somewhat haltingly.” A demeaning spelling quiz followed. Lassiter 
answered “c-h-a-r-t-y” for “charity” and declined to attempt some more 
difficult words.86

It is possible that the evidentiary weaknesses in Lassiter reflect 
Walker’s inexperience and lack of resources. He was new to civil rights 
litigation and was learning on the job. He lacked the time and staff 
needed to sift through the “hundreds” of possible test cases open to him, 
looking for the perfect one.87 Perhaps, however, the evidentiary weak-
nesses in Lassiter were deliberate. After all, much stronger fact situations 
existed, as Walker well knew. The Ernest Ivey case discussed previously 
featured a more literate plaintiff and, in the absurd civics exam, a far 
more abusive application of the literacy test than was evident in Lassiter. 
Yet when Walker sought a test case for his constitutional challenge, he 
chose Lassiter, not Ivey. For Walker, the danger of too strong a fact situ-
ation was that it could divert attention from the larger issue: the inher-
ent injustice, and unconstitutionality, of the literacy test. If Ivey had 
been his client, Walker could have won the case on the facts but still lost 
his bid to strike down the literacy test as a matter of law.
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Walker’s decision to downplay the particular abuses suffered by 
Louise Lassiter arguably mirrored the NAACP’s approach in Brown 
v. Board of Education. In that case, civil rights lawyers emphasized the 
inherent inequality and general destructiveness of segregated school-
ing rather than any particular examples of inequality in specific school 
districts. Had the attack emphasized particular disparities in funding 
and facilities, courts could have remedied those inequalities without 
addressing the underlying problem of de jure racial segregation. In a 
similar fashion, Walker and company sought to demonstrate not that 
the literacy test had been unjustly applied against Louise Lassiter but 
rather that it was intrinsically unjust and unconstitutional. As the court 
understood it, the “contention of counsel for plaintiffs . . . is not that 
the literacy test was discriminatingly applied . . . but that it is inherently 
void.”88

Because Lassiter alleged that a state law violated the federal Con-
stitution, it was heard by a three-judge federal court panel. (One of the 
three was Wilson Warlick, who, as a superior court judge, had presided 
over the Greenwich Village padlocking trial.) That panel found that 
North Carolina’s original literacy test was indeed “violative of the . . . 
14th and 15th Amendments to the Constitution of the United States.” 
But that original literacy test no longer existed; the 1957 revision had 
superseded it. Was the new literacy test, like the old one, unconsti-
tutional? The federal panel would not say. Instead, it directed Louise 
Lassiter to exhaust the new state-level administrative remedies that 
the 1957 revision had established. If still unsatisfied, she should then 
take her case to the North Carolina Supreme Court for an authoritative 
interpretation of the new law, in light of the state constitution. Only 
after passing through all of these state-level steps without obtaining 
relief, the panel said, could Lassiter return to federal court.89

Less than two weeks after this ruling, Louise Lassiter returned to 
Helen Taylor’s office and sought, once again, to register to vote. Lassiter 
may have dreaded failing another literacy test. Walker, who accompa-
nied his client, feared just the reverse: that the registrar would deem 
Lassiter literate this time and register her to vote, thereby mooting her 
test case. Determined to return to federal court, Walker advised his cli-
ent to refuse the test.

Lassiter declined to take the literacy test, claiming that it was uncon-
stitutional. She thereby kept her case alive, but it now was a different 
case. Future appeals, including the one heard by the Supreme Court of 
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the United States, would not even mention Taylor’s 1956 rejection of 
Lassiter for mispronouncing “indictment” and a few other words. Her 
case now concerned the constitutionality of the (comparatively reason-
able) 1957 revision and Taylor’s quite reasonable decision to reject Las-
siter for declining to take a required test.

In order to return to federal court, Lassiter first had to exhaust all 
of the new state-level remedies. She did so, appealing in turn to the 
Northampton County Board of Elections, the Northampton County 
superior court, and the North Carolina Supreme Court.90 Her lawyers’ 
principal argument was that the North Carolina literacy test violated 
federal guarantees against discrimination and disfranchisement, espe-
cially those contained in the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments.91

Lawyers for the Northampton County Board of Elections denied 
that Lassiter’s case had anything to do with racial discrimination or 
disfranchisement. They called the suit “an action brought for the 
advancement of illiteracy.” They argued that the 1957 revision was 
valid under both the U.S. and the North Carolina constitutions and 
that it was consummately fair. After all, Lassiter had received—but had 
declined—three different invitations to prove that she could read. And, 
in a polemical discussion of Reconstruction history, they argued that 
the literacy test was urgently needed. “Prior to 1900,” they asserted, 
“the Constitution of North Carolina contained no express requirement 
of  literacy.” But the “outrages perpetrated upon the people of this State 
during the Tragic Era of Reconstruction” taught North Carolinians 
“what it means to have the power of the ballot placed in the hands 
of illiterate people controlled by unscrupulous men supported by the 
armed might of the Federal Government.” Fortunately, they argued, 
wise North Carolinians remedied this “intolerable” situation by adopt-
ing the literacy test in order to “safeguard elections from the power of 
illiteracy.”92 This historical argument cast doubt on their denial that the 
case had anything to do with race.

The North Carolina Supreme Court ruled against Lassiter in April 
1958. Chief Justice Wallace Winborne’s opinion cited Guinn v. United 
States, a 1915 U.S. Supreme Court case, to support the proposition that 
literacy tests were constitutional. “No time need be spent on the ques-
tion of the validity of the literacy test,” the Court opined in Guinn, 
“since . . . its establishment was but the exercise by the state of a lawful 
power . . . not subject to our [federal court] supervision.”93

Having exhausted all North Carolina appeals, Walker set his sights 
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on the Supreme Court of the United States. In order to get there, 
however, he would need help. Once again, he called on his Raleigh 
collaborators Mitchell and Taylor. The three lawyers worked together 
on the U.S. Supreme Court brief; Mitchell, a more experienced lawyer 
than Walker, would argue the case in Washington. But Walker also 
needed money. His local civil rights group was no NAACP; it had 
neither formal membership nor dues. Financially, it was a dry well. 
And by the time of the Lassiter appeal, Walker’s willingness to litigate 
civil rights cases gratis—not to mention his need to fend off personal 
legal attacks (and replace his slashed automobile upholstery)—had 
taken its toll.

Walker contacted the national office of the NAACP in the fall of 
1957 and requested three thousand dollars “to make it possible . . . to 
continue . . . efforts to secure civil rights for the Negro people in Eastern 
North Carolina.” The NAACP responded coolly. The group had many 
competing priorities. It was also understandably reluctant to fund grass-
roots litigators who operated independently rather than in concert with 
NAACP strategists. Privately dubbing Walker a “lone wolf,” the group 
respectfully declined his funding request.94

Walker then looked locally. He convinced the Reverend Alexander 
Mosely, a black pastor in Weldon, to head what he called the Walker-
Lassiter Defense Fund. (Walker believed that he “could not ethically be 
connected with fundraising for my own cases . . . they would take my 
license.” He happily left the fundraising to others. “I never bothered 
with the money,” he later quipped. “That’s one reason I stayed pretty 
clean.”) Mosely was the vice president of Walker’s local civil rights 
group. He also chaired a local group that was affiliated with the South-
ern Conference Educational Fund (SCEF), an interracial civil rights 
organization that opposed “all forms of segregation and discrimination 
. . . in all southern states.” Mosely persuaded SCEF’s national field sec-
retaries, the white husband-and-wife team of Carl and Anne Braden, 
that Lassiter had landmark potential. SCEF joined the Walker-Lassiter 
Defense Fund in an “advisory capacity for publicity and fund raising.” 
In 1958, the organization produced and distributed a pamphlet enti-
tled “North Carolina Mother Is Denied Right to Vote,” which related 
the Lassiter-Walker saga and solicited financial contributions to their 
legal defense fund. The pamphlet elicited responses from as far away as 
Oklahoma and generated some much-needed funding for the appeal to 
the U.S. Supreme Court.95
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That appeal failed. In June 1959, the U.S. Supreme Court unani-
mously rejected all of Louise Lassiter’s constitutional claims. Justice Wil-
liam O. Douglas, writing for the Court, noted that states traditionally 
enjoyed broad discretion to set nondiscriminatory suffrage standards. 
Age, criminal records, and length of in-state residency were examples 
of reasonable, race-neutral factors that states could legitimately consider 
when determining suffrage eligibility. Literacy was another. “[I]n our 
society where newspapers, periodicals, books, and other printed mat-
ter . . . debate campaign issues,” the Court reasoned, “a State might 
conclude that only those who are literate should exercise the franchise.” 
Justice Douglas also noted that, at the time of his writing, nineteen 
states—spanning a cultural and geographical range from Alabama and 
Mississippi to Massachusetts and Oregon—used literacy tests. Express-
ing no opinion concerning the wisdom of such tests, Douglas held that 
they were not inherently unconstitutional.96

Lassiter was, at best, a mixed result for Walker. The case’s negative 
consequences were conspicuous. Far from slaying the literacy test, Las-
siter had inadvertently strengthened it by eliciting a unanimous Supreme 
Court seal of approval. Coming as it did from the highest court in the 
land—a unanimous court at that—Lassiter appeared to entrench liter-
acy tests in all states that employed them, not just in North Carolina. 

But the ruling also contained some subtle silver linings. Justice 
Douglas’s opinion affirmed the Court’s previously stated finding that 
Congress had the authority to oversee state suffrage requirements. Years 
later, supporters of the bill that became the Voting Rights Act of 1965 
invoked this passage from Lassiter in defense of that far-reaching bill’s 
constitutionality. Lassiter also may have persuaded civil rights activists 
that, as a practical matter, it was the U.S. Congress that had to destroy 
the literacy test, since the courts had refused to do so.97

Following Lassiter, Walker did not quit. “See, you had to keep com-
ing back,” he reasoned. “You can’t stop . . . when you’ve [got] mas-
sive state resistance.” Although he could no longer argue that North 
Carolina’s literacy test was unconstitutional per se, he could argue that 
state officials enforced the literacy test unconstitutionally. Indeed, mul-
tiple passages in Lassiter warned that “a literacy test, fair on its face, 
may be employed to perpetuate that discrimination which the Fifteenth 
Amendment was designed to uproot.” Walker read these passages as an 
implicit invitation to challenge unfair applications of the literacy test. 
He soon would do just that.98
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In May 1960, one year after the U.S. Supreme Court decision in Lassiter, 
North Carolina’s voter registration books were opened once again, for 
that year’s primary elections. Nancy Bazemore, a forty-seven-year-old 
African American woman, tried to register in the Woodville precinct 
of Bertie County. Like other northeastern counties, Bertie County had 
a high percentage of nonwhite residents but a low percentage of non-
white registered voters. Blacks outnumbered whites in Bertie County 
in 1960 by a 3-to-2 ratio. Among registered voters in the county that 
year, however, whites outnumbered blacks by almost 9 to 1, reflecting 
both a strikingly low percentage of nonwhite potential voters registered 
(11 percent), and a strikingly high percentage of white potential voters 
registered (104 percent), the latter figure reflecting the county’s failure 
to remove dead or departed voters from the rolls.99

A particularly artful application of the literacy test helped Ber-
tie County whites suppress nonwhite registration. Recall that Louise 
Lassiter, in Northampton County, had been asked to read aloud from 
the state’s constitution. In contrast, Nancy Bazemore and others in the 
Woodville precinct had to take dictation as the registrar, William H. 
Hoggard, recited from the state’s constitution. Spelling counted. Hog-
gard graded.

This “dictation” form of the literacy test had long rankled African 
Americans in northeastern North Carolina. Walker’s local civil rights 
group had repeatedly asked the state’s attorney general for “an official 
statement of policy on methods of administering literacy tests.” In par-
ticular, the group wanted to know “whether registrars could require pro-
spective voters to spell from dictation,” as many northeastern registrars 
did. Early in 1960, with the primaries approaching, the group renewed 
its longstanding request. The attorney general finally opined in March 
1960 that dictation tests in which spelling counted were “illegal” and 
could not be “a requirement or prerequisite for the registration of vot-
ers” in North Carolina. Bertie County, however, ignored the ruling. In 
May 1960, just two months after the attorney general’s announcement, 
Nancy Bazemore and other black registrants had to take precisely the 
sorts of tests that the attorney general had banned.100

The Bertie County registrar graded the dictation test harshly. Hog-
gard found some misspellings in Bazemore’s transcription and declared 
that she had failed the test and was thus ineligible to vote. Bazemore 
was prepared for this outcome. Quite likely, Walker had coached her 
on how to respond. The 1957 revision of the literacy test law, which 
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Walker’s previous litigation had provoked, allowed registrants to appeal 
their rejections to local boards of elections but required that a written 
notice of appeal had to be filed with the rejecting registrar by 5:00 p.m. 
on the day following the denial. Bazemore did not wait that long. She 
gave Hoggard “immediate written notice of appeal . . . in her own hand 
writing.” (The irony of someone writing well enough to file an appeal 
in her own hand after failing the written portion of a literacy test was 
surely lost on the registrar.)101

The following Saturday Bazemore entered the Bertie County Board 
of Elections to appeal her registration denial. Walker accompanied her. 
A member of the board sat down and took out a copy of the state’s con-
stitution. Across the table, paper and pencil in hand, Nancy Bazemore 
“assumed a position of readiness to try to write.” The board member 
began to read from the constitution and “directed the applicant to write 
down what he read to her.” Bazemore’s pencil had scarcely begun to 
scratch when her attorney announced that his client refused to submit 
to such a test. Bazemore put her pencil down. The board rejected her 
application. Walker appealed and appealed again, until he reached the 
North Carolina Supreme Court.102

Walker’s brief for the North Carolina Supreme Court, which he 
prepared along with Samuel S. Mitchell, attacked the literacy test as 
applied in the Woodville precinct and Bertie County. He reminded 
the court that the state’s literacy test merely required that prospec-
tive voters be able to “read and write.” It required proficiency neither 
in the taking of dictation nor in spelling. To allow registrars to add 
transcription and spelling proficiency tests to the simple reading and 
writing test prescribed in state law would constitute an illegitimate del-
egation of legislative power to local executive branch officials, Walker 
argued. This would violate the separation of powers mandated by the 
state’s constitution. It would also empower local officials to act in ways 
that were unconstitutionally “arbitrary, discriminatory, oppressive and 
unreasonable.”103

Walker also argued that Bertie County officials applied the literacy 
test in racially discriminatory ways. Whereas white applicants were not 
“required to submit to dictation,” Bazemore and other African Ameri-
cans had to take the dictation and spelling test “solely because of [their] 
race, to wit: the Negro race.”104

Then Walker called upon his experience as an African American 
man in the Jim Crow South. He implicitly invited the justices to close 
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their law books for a moment and consider the demeaning nature of 
a dictation test administered to a black registrant by a white regis-
trar in Bertie County. It was “harassing” and “embarrassing,” Walker 
contended, to have to “play ‘secretary’ while the elections official dic-
tates from the Constitution.” Even assuming that all registrars read 
fluently—an assumption that Walker was not ready to concede— 
inconsistent pronunciations and speech habits could complicate tran-
scribers’ tasks. With no copy to check, the registrant had “no way of 
knowing the correctness of the elections official’s reading or calling of 
words.” Dictation could be given “at a rate of speed to the satisfaction 
of the officials.” Applicants with hearing impairments faced additional 
humiliation. When the time came to grade the test, standards of eval-
uation were “left entirely to the whims and caprices of the elections 
officials.” To make matters worse, the skill evaluated in these tests—
transcription—bore no reasonable relationship to the act of voting. To 
vote, the citizen merely had to “make a cross mark (x) in a square in the 
proper place on the ballot.”105

Walker and Bazemore won. Although the North Carolina Supreme 
Court assumed the legitimacy of the state’s literacy test, it found Bertie 
County’s application of that test to be unreasonable. The key issue for 
the court was the definition of the verb “to write.” By statute, registrants 
had to be able to “read and write.” Walker’s appellate brief had urged 
the justices to look up the word “write” in their dictionaries. They did 
so and found, as Walker had, that the most widely accepted meaning of 
the verb was “to form, as characters, or to trace the letters or words of, 
on paper, parchment, etc., with a pen or pencil.” The court concluded 
that the only reasonable way in which a registrar could apply the “writ-
ing” portion of the literacy test was to ask the applicant to copy “in his 
own handwriting any section [of the North Carolina constitution,] with 
such section before him for reference.” After all, the court reasoned, it 
was a literacy test, “not a spelling test. Furthermore,” the court added, 
“the taking of dictation, even in longhand, requires skill, learning and 
practice over and beyond the ordinary process of writing.” The court 
concluded that the literacy test, “as administered by [Bertie County 
officials,] is unreasonable and beyond the intent of the statute.”106

In addition to invalidating the specific form of the literacy test 
employed in Bertie County, the court sought to establish uniform state-
wide standards for the literacy test—standards that Walker and other 
activists had long sought. The court decreed that, in the reading por-
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tion of the test, applicants could be asked to “utter aloud,” in English, 
any section of the North Carolina constitution, from a legible copy 
furnished by the test giver. In the writing portion, applicants could be 
asked “to write in a reasonably legible hand any section of the Consti-
tution put before him or her.” The grading standard for these tests was 
to be “reasonable proficiency,” not perfection. “The occasional misspell-
ing and mispronouncing of more difficult words should not necessarily 
disqualify.”107

The court went further, well beyond the issues raised by Bazemore. 
Responding to activist complaints that some registrars deliberately 
slowed down the registration process in order to obstruct large-scale 
black registration, it ruled that the “length of the [literacy] tests should 
not be such as to unnecessarily delay others waiting to register.” Finally, 
the court hinted that the state’s Board of Elections in Raleigh might 
wish to finish what the court had begun by prescribing additional state-
wide “rules and regulations for administering” the literacy test.108

Bazemore was a clear victory for Walker and voting rights. To be 
sure, plenty of room for discrimination remained. Perhaps most trou-
bling was the matter of who had to take the literacy test in the first place. 
Many whites in the region “took it for granted” that they could register 
without submitting to a literacy test. The Bazemore ruling somewhat 
confirmed that assumption. “It would be unrealistic,” the court wrote, 
“to say that the [literacy] test must be administered to all applicants for 
registration.” A political science professor of “known and recognized 
capabilities,” for instance, need not be forced to take the literacy test 
when registering to vote. The statute “only requires that the applicant 
have the ability” to read and write, the court noted (emphasis in origi-
nal). “If the registrar in good faith knows that applicant has the requi-
site ability, no test is necessary.” Although the court warned registrars 
not to abuse this discretion in discriminatory ways, racist registrars, 
even after Bazemore, still had wiggle room.109 But that wiggle room was 
narrowing.

The “favorable decision” in Bazemore, reported the black press, 
struck “another blow at using the literacy test to discriminate against 
a registrant on the basis of color.” James Walker deserved much of the 
credit. Reporting enthusiastically on the Bazemore outcome, Durham’s 
Carolina Times, an African American newspaper, hoped that “Negro 
citizens will soon awaken to the fact that many of the freedoms they 
now enjoy have been secured by the determination of hard working and 
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sacrificing Negro lawyers.” Praise did not come from African Americans 
alone. The North Carolina Supreme Court’s Bazemore ruling explicitly 
complimented Walker for having “well advised” his client.110

“A people who vote is a people with hope,” wrote African American 
journalist John W. Fleming in an optimistic 1961 survey of the black 
“political awakening” then under way in North Carolina. Black Tar 
Heels were voting, running for office, and even winning local elections 
in numbers not seen since Reconstruction. One of the main architects of 
this black political renaissance, Fleming thought, was James R. Walker 
Jr., who had “led the fight for voting and other rights” in northeastern 
North Carolina since his arrival there in 1955. “Mr. Walker,” Flem-
ing wrote admiringly, “is fast becoming ‘Mr. Civil Rights’ in Eastern 
Carolina.”111

Walker’s program blended two activities that civil rights historians 
generally treat separately: grassroots mobilization and appellate litiga-
tion. Unlike most grassroots activists, Walker was a trained lawyer who 
worked within the legal system at its highest levels. Unlike most civil 
rights litigators, Walker operated at the grassroots level in the commu-
nity that he served. This strategy enabled him to work closely with cli-
ents and add sympathetic, personal touches to his appellate advocacy.

Walker’s operations were poorly funded but not unsophisticated. 
He consciously framed individual test cases to fit an overarching, 
though ever-evolving, legal strategy. Although some of his decisions 
can be second-guessed, he achieved impressive results. His litigation 
showcased the professional skills of black lawyers. It publicized vot-
ing rights abuses. It inspired civil rights supporters to continue fight-
ing for justice. More tangibly, it prompted both the General Assembly 
and the Supreme Court of North Carolina to make the state’s voter 
registration rules less discriminatory. The resulting reforms, even 
when discounted for unenthusiastic implementation, were substantial. 
They reduced registrar discretion, clarified the rules governing the lit-
eracy test’s administration, and made it easier for rejected applicants 
to appeal. Even Walker’s greatest defeat had beneficial consequences. 
The U.S. Supreme Court’s endorsement of the literacy test in Lassiter v. 
Northampton County Board of Elections (1959) helped to spur passage of 
the Voting Rights Act of 1965.112

Indeed, pound for pound and dollar for dollar, James R. Walker Jr. 
may have been as effective as any civil rights lawyer in the country in 
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expanding African American voting rights. The NAACP’s legal team 
unquestionably produced far more, but it enjoyed obvious advantages: 
a comparatively huge budget, an extensive network of local affiliates, a 
large staff of experienced civil rights lawyers, and plenty of academic 
experts willing to assemble sociological arguments for forensic use. 
But Walker’s grassroots litigation had some less obvious countervail-
ing advantages. Some NAACP cases stumbled due to the unreliability 
of the local lawyers with whom the national office had to collaborate. 
Walker had no such worries; he was the local lawyer. Other NAACP 
cases foundered due to divisions or weaknesses within local African 
American communities. Walker, a leader of the local African Ameri-
can community, did not have this problem either. Grassroots litigation 
might not have been a viable stand-alone alternative to the litigation 
program of national civil rights groups. But, as Walker’s story suggests, 
it was an important supplement. Scholars should take grassroots lit-
igation more seriously. In North Carolina alone, the accomplisments 
of such grassroots civil rights litigators as Harry E. Groves, Samuel S. 
Mitchell, and Herman Taylor—all contemporaries of Walker—deserve 
further study.

Walker’s grassroots litigation campaign won modest national recogni-
tion. Lawyers’ groups as far away as California and Michigan invited 
him to speak about “the Negro Lawyer in the South” and similar topics. 
The National Lawyers Guild, a group of liberal legal activists, named 
him Lawyer of the Year in 1978. Even the North Carolina branch of 
the NAACP, the organization that dismissed Walker as a “lone wolf ” 
during the Lassiter case, later honored Walker with its Distinguished 
Service Award.113

The voting rights movement that Walker helped to organize in 
northeastern North Carolina remained active through the mid-1960s. 
Walker, however, moved on to other pursuits, disillusioned by what he 
called the “intrusion” of too many competing civil rights organizations, 
groups that had funds and national profiles but little feel for local con-
ditions and little respect for local leadership. The legal team that rep-
resented Halifax County blacks in a 1964 voting rights suit did not 
include Walker. It did, however, feature prominent attorneys from the 
North, including William Kunstler, a celebrated legal activist from New 
York City whose other clients included Martin Luther King Jr., Mal-
colm X, and the “Chicago Seven” activists arrested at the 1968 Dem-
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ocratic National Convention. Walker’s grassroots litigation, in other 
words, gave way to the more traditional arrangement whereby distant 
civil rights lawyers provided legal representation for local civil rights 
activists.114

As for the literacy test, the federal Voting Rights Act of 1965 gravely 
wounded it and follow-up measures, passed by Congress in 1970 and 
1975, laid it to rest. Louise Lassiter did not have to wait so long. In May 
1960, four years after her first attempt, she passed the literacy test and 
successfully registered to vote.115
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Chapter 8

Native Americans and 
School Desegregation

The Chavis Case in Robeson County

The post–World War II battles of African American civil rights activ-
ists such as James R. Walker Jr. inspired a host of other individuals, 
including many who were not African American, to resist what they 
viewed as oppression. Braxton Chavis, a housepainter and construction 
worker from Robeson County, North Carolina, is a case in point. As of 
mid-1978, when Robeson County education officials prepared school 
assignments for the next academic year, Chavis had been sending his 
children to Prospect School for seventeen years. He was determined 
to see his three youngest children continue at Prospect, where he, too, 
had studied. Acting under federal desegregation mandates, however, 
county officials reassigned the Chavis children to Oxendine School, six 
miles away. Chavis and his family would not be moved. When classes 
started, they engaged in an act of civil disobedience, defiantly returning 
to Prospect day after day, even though the school withheld books and 
instruction from them. By late September 1978, county officials could 
take no more. They arrested Braxton Chavis and seven other parents for 
“failing to cause their children to attend the school to which they were 
assigned.”1

By no means were the Chavises the only opponents of school deseg-
regation in the post–Brown v. Board of Education South. As historians 
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have carefully documented, southern white opposition was, if not uni-
versal, certainly “massive.” The historical literature is rich with images 
of white legislators signing segregationist manifestos, white governors 
standing in schoolhouse doors, white mobs engaging in “massive resis-
tance,” and white parents hustling their children off to private schools 
and moving to homogeneous suburbs.2

Not one of these stock images fits the Robeson County case. The 
Chavises were not white. They were Native American. A fervent sense 
of ethnic particularity underlay their opposition to school desegrega-
tion. It also informed their understanding of the legal issues in their 
case. They insisted that their ethnicity exempted them from desegrega-
tion orders.

The story of State v. Chavis has never been told. It deserves telling, 
however, for it casts new light on the social and legal history of school 
desegregation. Chavis contributes intriguing new hues to the tradition-
ally black-and-white portrait of school desegregation. Recent studies 
of such groups as Mexican Americans and Chinese Americans have 
deepened historical understanding of civil rights and public education 
in the United States. The present study continues this productive schol-
arly trend.3

Chavis challenges the assumption that all nonwhites during the civil 
rights era supported school desegregation. Recent studies have revealed 
pockets of African American opposition. Chavis reinforces these stud-
ies’ important message: that opposition to desegregation, like support 
for it, was multicultural.4

This chapter also highlights the centrality of public schools to com-
munity identity in twentieth-century America. It demonstrates again 
how complex and difficult it was to achieve the worthy dream of racial 
justice through school desegregation. It illustrates how the rise of eth-
nic particularism in the mid-1960s complicated the integrative ideal of 
the mainstream civil rights movement. It shows how elite, white sym-
pathy for ethnic particularism during the 1970s amplified separatist 
voices within such marginalized communities as the Native Americans 
of southeastern North Carolina. It also illuminates a “testimonial-
therapeutic” function of litigation, whereby courtroom protest, when 
received respectfully, can help reconcile protestors to unwanted policies. 
The willingness of North Carolina lawyers and judges to listen atten-
tively to Native American separatist grievances enhanced the protestors’ 
esteem for the legal system and calmed their protests.
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Finally, this chapter reinforces two related points from the previous 
chapter. First, the federal government played a much larger local role in 
the post–World War II period than it did in the years covered in part 
I of this book. Even cases litigated in state courts, such as State v. Cha-
vis, occurred in the shadow of federal law. Second, the enlarged federal 
presence during the decades following World War II amplified the legal 
voices of minority groups in the South. This was obviously true in the 
case of James R. Walker Jr., whose civil rights efforts accorded with 
trends in federal law. But even groups, such as the defendants in Chavis, 
whose legal objectives clashed with the pro-integration thrust of fed-
eral law, were able to present legal claims more assertively as a result of 
federal developments. Read alongside the story of James R. Walker Jr., 
then, the Chavis story suggests that “top-down,” Washington-led civil 
rights history and “bottom-up” grassroots civil rights history were not 
dichotomous. They were mutually reinforcing.

Robeson County sits in southeastern North Carolina, close to the South 
Carolina state line. In the 1960s and 1970s, about 75 percent of Robe-
son County residents lived in rural areas. Farming and nondurable- 
goods manufacturing failed to deliver prosperity. Only 52 percent of 
the county’s homes had flush toilets; 65 percent of its houses were rated 
“substandard.”5

The county’s most distinctive feature was probably its triracial com-
position. No racial group held a majority. Whites accounted for about 
42 percent of the 1970 population; they predominated in the eastern 
part of Robeson County and in most sizable towns. African Americans 
accounted for 26 percent of the county’s population but were so widely 
dispersed that no township had a black majority. Native Americans—
whom we shall call the Lumbee, the name that most of them used for 
much of the twentieth century—accounted for more than 31 percent 
of the county’s population. They were the most segregated of the three 
groups. Most Lumbees lived either in rural communities in the western 
part of the county or in the west-central town of Pembroke.6

Although the three groups shared the county, one group—whites—
enjoyed a virtual lock on political power, at least through the early 1960s. 
Disfranchisement helped to perpetuate white political power.

Robeson County’s distinctive mix of people produced a distinctive 
brand of segregation. Movie theaters reserved main floor seating for 
whites and divided the balconies into separate black and Indian sections. 
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Neither Native Americans nor blacks could sit down at soda fountains. 
According to a 1962 report, three-way segregation in Robeson and sur-
rounding counties prevailed in “most tax supported institutions and 
public facilities,” including hospitals, recreation facilities, eating places, 
barbershops, churches, and public schools.7

When contemplating Native American history, most people think 
of such federally recognized tribes as the Navajo, Sioux, and Cherokee; 
they think of headdresses and reservations, treaties and tepees. None of 
these images fits the twentieth-century Lumbee. The Lumbee had no 
traditional language, no traditional dress, and no distinguishing physical 
features. They never signed a treaty. They never lived on a reservation. 
They received no benefits from the Bureau of Indian Affairs. Nonethe-
less, they had no doubt that they were Native Americans. Their “Indi-
anness” may have been, as several observers phrased it, “a state of mind, a 
self-concept,” but this “self-concept” was universally accepted in south-
eastern North Carolina. All locals, regardless of race, recognized certain 
communities, speech patterns, and surnames as distinctly “Indian.”8

The Lumbee are of murky descent. Some scholars consider them 
offshoots of the Eastern Sioux. Others propose Cherokee descent—or 
Iroquois. Or Algonquin. Or Waccamaw, Waxhaw, Cheraw, or Sissipa-
haw. Some scholars trace part of the Lumbee lineage to runaway slaves; 
to Spanish or Portuguese stragglers; or, most famously, to the inhabit-
ants of the Lost Colony of Roanoke Island, an English settlement that 
mysteriously vanished shortly after its founding in 1587 off the coast of 
today’s North Carolina.9

Unlike such southeastern tribes as the Cherokee and Choctaw, 
the Lumbee were not subject to forced removal in the 1830s, perhaps 
because they held land individually, not communally. Nonetheless, the 
Lumbee, like other North Carolina Indians, suffered legal disabilities, 
beginning in the colonial era and intensifying during the Age of Jack-
son, when the distinctions between whites and “people of color” inten-
sified. By the middle of the nineteenth century, on issues ranging from 
suffrage to marriage to the right to bear arms, “Indians,” like free blacks, 
were second-class citizens.10

Discrimination reinforced solidarity. It also generated militancy. 
In the 1860s and 1870s, a Lumbee named Henry Berry Lowry led a 
swamp-based guerrilla band on a decade-long, antiwhite thieving-and-
killing spree. Lowry became—and remains—a Lumbee hero.11

The Lumbees’ long and only partially successful struggle for tribal 
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recognition further reinforced group identity. In 1885, North Caro-
lina officially recognized the group as the “Croatan Indians of Robe-
son County.” The state renamed them “Indians of Robeson County” in 
1911 and “Cherokee Indians of Robeson County” in 1913. Finally, in 
1953, the state’s General Assembly settled on “Lumbee Indians,” after 
the county’s Lumber River.12

Lumbee pleas for full federal recognition fell short. In the Lumbee 
Act of 1956, Congress formally acknowledged the group’s designation 
as the “Lumbee Indians of North Carolina” but refused to loosen the 
purse strings for them. “Nothing in this Act shall make such [Lum-
bee] Indians eligible for any services performed by the United States for 
Indians because of their status as Indians,” the act specified, “and none 
of the statutes of the United States which affect Indians because of their 
status as Indians shall be applicable to the Lumbee Indians.”13

Segregated schools reinforced Lumbee identity. Post–Civil War 
Robeson County operated separate schools for whites and nonwhites. 
Indians and African Americans shared the nonwhite schools. That 
changed in 1885, when the North Carolina General Assembly recog-
nized Robeson County Native Americans as a distinct group and estab-
lished separate schools for them. The 1885 legislative act empowered 
Native Americans to establish “school committees of their own race and 
color” and to “select teachers of their own choice.” Much of the land, 
money, materials, and labor necessary for the construction and opera-
tion of segregated Indian schools came from Robeson County Lum-
bees. With every acre, dollar, and day’s work contributed, the Lumbees’ 
emotional investment in “their” schools increased.14

Schools were central to Lumbee identity. They provided commu-
nity groups with meeting places; offered much-needed employment to 
Lumbee teachers, administrators, and staff; and facilitated the trans-
mission of Lumbee culture to new generations. “It meant something 
having Indian teachers standing in front of Indian students,” the daily 
Robesonian reported in the early 1970s. “The schools gave identity to 
the Lumbee Indians.”15

Brown v. Board of Education (1954) famously held that de jure public 
school segregation was inherently unconstitutional. In North Carolina, 
however, two early post-Brown statutes—the Pupil Assignment Act of 
1955 and the Pearsall Plan of 1956—made quick and effective desegre-
gation impossible. These acts deliberately scattered authority for pub-
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lic education among the state’s 140-plus school districts. They offered 
subtle support to anti-integrationists statewide and established com-
plicated administrative procedures that discouraged voluntary student 
transfers. The legislature’s clear intent was to perpetuate segregation.16

Inspired by Brown, integrationist Lumbees challenged school seg-
regation in Robeson and surrounding counties. Lumbee activism of this 
sort was rare. Previously, according to a 1962 report, there had been 
“little or no organized activity among the Lumbees.” School debates, 
spurred by the federal courts, awakened Lumbee activism.17

Lumbee attacks on school segregation in the decade following 
Brown mirrored the era’s black civil rights movement. Lumbees orga-
nized sit-ins that recalled the famous Greensboro protests, both in 
tactics (peaceful civil disobedience) and objective (integration). Like 
integrationist blacks, integrationist Lumbees received extensive support 
from national advocacy groups, most importantly the Philadelphia-
based American Friends Service Committee (AFSC) and the New 
York–based Association on American Indian Affairs (AAIA). Lumbee 
activists won support from high-profile liberals and litigated success-
fully in federal courts.18

Clearly, many Lumbees were sincere integrationists. “[T]he only 
way to really solve this school problem,” one Lumbee father observed 
in 1962, “is for all the children in our community, white, Negro and 
Indian, to go to school together.” Many other Lumbees, however, 
opposed desegregation. “There was some resistance on the part of some 
of the Indian community to these [integrationist] efforts,” one lawyer 
privately reported in 1963. AFSC staffers similarly noted that the Lum-
bee “were not fully determined to seek desegregated schooling for their 
children. They were still thinking somewhat in terms of . . . an Indian 
school for their children.”19

Although Lumbee opinion split between integrationist and segrega-
tionist during these years, only integrationist voices were heard publicly. 
Three factors explain this imbalance. First, the persistence of segrega-
tion for years after Brown nurtured integrationist outrage. Segregation-
ist Lumbees, satisfied with the status quo, had no reason to stage sit-ins. 
Integrationist Lumbees, dissatisfied, had ample reason to do so. Second, 
the contemporary African American civil rights movement provided an 
influential model of protest. Through the early 1960s, this model was 
almost entirely integrationist. Third, both of the national organizations 
that supported the Lumbee school campaigns of the early 1960s—the 
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AFSC and the AAIA—were unwavering advocates of integration. 
Their participation amplified the voices of Lumbee integrationists. 
Through “counseling and work with the Indians,” the AFSC sought to 
strengthen Lumbee integrationism. Similarly, the AAIA, which paid 
the Lumbees’ legal bills, made sure that its contributions aided integra-
tion. As Richard Schifter, AAIA general counsel, explained in a 1960 
letter to the local North Carolina lawyers who would handle the details 
of the Lumbee school litigation, “We can only support a request for full 
integration, not for separate but equal facilities.”20

The AAIA’s unswerving commitment to school integration is rep-
resentative of a brand of civil rights liberalism—call it “mid-century lib-
eralism”—that dominated American reform thought from World War 
II through the mid-1960s. In large measure, it was a principled reaction 
to the Nazis’ “master race” ideology abroad and the mistreatment of 
Japanese Americans and African Americans at home during the war. 
Sensitized as never before to the potentially appalling consequences of 
racial and ethnic legal distinctions, many Americans embraced a uni-
versalized notion of humanity and a color-blind conception of the U.S. 
Constitution. Mid-century liberal internationalists espoused world-
wide human connectedness and commonality in books such as One 
World (1943) and The Family of Man (1955). They cheered when the 
United Nations—brainchild of the United States—proposed to pro-
tect “all members of the human family” in its Universal Declaration 
of Human Rights (1948). Their intuition that racial identity was but 
skin-deep seemed confirmed when white writer John Howard Griffin, 
in Black Like Me (1961), disguised himself as an African American and 
experienced hateful prejudice in the Jim Crow South. In 1954, the U.S. 
Supreme Court gave powerful legal expression to these universalistic, 
color-blind ideals in Brown.21

General counsel Schifter of the AAIA epitomized mid-century 
civil rights liberalism. He was a Jewish émigré from Austria whose 
parents had perished in Nazi extermination camps. Recalling how 
degraded he felt as a youth when segregated classrooms and streetcars 
were decreed for Austrian Jews, Schifter later remarked, “Growing up 
Jewish in Vienna in the 1930s was like growing up black in Mississippi 
prior to 1954.” “I know what [discrimination] is all about,” he added. 
“I know what it means to be discriminated against on the grounds of 
ancestry.”22

Schifter, like other mid-century liberals, consistently supported 
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school integration. When disgruntled Lumbees asked him to contrib-
ute to their fight for school integration in the early 1960s, he enthu-
siastically volunteered. As we shall soon see, however, when different 
Lumbee parents later asked him to contribute to their battle against 
school integration, Schifter refused. Lumbee agitation shifted; Schift-
er’s mid-century civil rights liberalism did not.23

During Brown’s second decade, Lumbee legal activism continued. Its 
emphasis, however, shifted decisively from integrationism to separatism. 
In part, this shift reflected the quickened pace of desegregation, which left 
integrationists with fewer complaints and separatists, such as the Cha-
vis litigants, with more complaints. In addition, as integration advanced 
nationally, a countervailing ethos of ethnic particularism emerged.

The Civil Rights Act of 1964 quickened the pace of desegregation 
nationally. Title VI of that act threatened to withhold federal education 
money from school districts that failed to desegregate to the satisfaction 
of the U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare (HEW). 
This financial threat was especially powerful in poor counties such as 
Robeson, where federal money accounted for a substantial portion of 
total education spending.24

Most North Carolina school districts, including all six of Robeson 
County’s, responded to Title VI by adopting “freedom of choice” student- 
assignment plans. In theory, these plans enabled students of all races to 
attend schools of their choice. In practice, however, very few students 
crossed traditional color lines, even after the removal of explicit con-
straints. Schools effectively remained segregated.25

The U.S. Supreme Court sought to close this “freedom of choice” 
loophole in Green v. School Board of New Kent County (1968). The Green 
decision declared that “freedom of choice” student-assignment plans 
were unacceptable unless they created actual progress toward “unitary” 
systems, meaning districts containing not “white” schools and “Negro” 
schools, “but just schools.”26

Robeson County failed the Green test. In 1970, sixteen years after 
Brown, HEW declared the county’s schools in violation of Title VI. 
Since Robeson County received $2 million a year—more than a quar-
ter of its education budget—from the federal government, local offi-
cials felt compelled to negotiate a desegregation plan with HEW. The 
resulting plan called for the county to bus students and shuffle employ-
ees as necessary to achieve “racial balance” within each of its six school 
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districts. The plan also banned district-line crossing. No longer would 
the county’s five white-dominated city units be allowed to bus urban 
Lumbee students to Indian schools in the surrounding “county” dis-
trict. HEW hoped that this 1970 plan would enable Robeson County’s 
schools to operate on a “nondiscriminatory, desegregated basis.”27

Some Robeson County whites muttered segregationist objections. 
Their mumbles, however, were mild compared to the indignant pro-
tests of separatist Lumbees. National trends in liberal thought, begin-
ning with the African American civil rights movement, help explain 
this Lumbee response.28

In the second half of the 1960s, the center of gravity within the rap-
idly splintering African American civil rights movement shifted from 
integrationist nonviolence toward separatist militancy. The African 
American model influenced Native American activists. Native Ameri-
cans quickly translated the empowering language of “black national-
ism” into their own vernacular. Native American advocate Vine Deloria 
described “Black Power” as a “godsend” to Native Americans, for it had 
validated the “concept of self-determination.”29

In the late 1960s and early 1970s, Indian activists, including many 
Lumbees, sought to put Deloria’s theory of self-determination into prac-
tice. They founded the militant American Indian Movement (AIM), 
which mounted a series of dramatic protests, including a seventeen- 
month takeover of Alcatraz Island in California and a week-long occu-
pation of the Bureau of Indian Affairs in Washington, D.C. AIM 
selected Robeson County as its East Coast headquarters. Dean Chav-
ers, a Lumbee, was a leader at Alcatraz. Southeastern North Carolinians 
were reportedly the rowdiest contingent among those participating in 
the occupation of the Bureau of Indian Affairs in the nation’s capital.30

Back in Robeson County, there was considerable awakening of pan-
Indianism and Native American pride. Previously, one anthropologist 
observed in 1971, the Lumbee tended to define themselves in negative 
relation to neighboring groups: “not white, not black.” During the early 
1970s, however, Lumbees engaged in a “deliberate and growing search 
for what it means to be an Indian.” Although the Lumbees had “com-
pletely adopted the ways of the white man,” another writer observed 
in 1971, they were “very proud of being Indian, probably more so now 
than ever before.”31

Amid this surge of Indian pride in the early 1970s, the Lumbee 
identified as never before with other Native American groups. They 
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also engaged in a “great scramble,” in one reporter’s phrase, to preserve 
and celebrate Lumbee heritage. Books on Lumbee history proliferated. 
Strike at the Wind, a long-running outdoor summer drama celebrating 
the nineteenth-century exploits of “Lumbee hero and outlaw” Henry 
Berry Lowry, debuted. Other manifestations of the new Lumbee pride 
included an annual Miss Lumbee pageant; a “Lumbees and Friends” 
musical ensemble (whose repertoire, though “not traditionally Lumbee,” 
emphasized “authentic rhythmic chants of other tribes, principally ‘war 
songs’”); the Carolina Indian Voice, a bimonthly journal; and “Lumbee 
Homecoming,” an annual celebration of Lumbee Indianness (complete 
with “Indian dances,” a “Pow Wow,” and an “Indian rally”).32

The cultural awakening of the early 1970s predisposed many Lum-
bees to oppose school desegregation. A 1970 community gathering in 
the auditorium of the traditionally Lumbee Prospect School illustrates 
the connection between Lumbee cultural nationalism and the prefer-
ence for all-Lumbee schools. At this gathering, Lumbee-themed enter-
tainment, calculated to reinforce group identity and pride, comfortably 
shared the spotlight with an antidesegregation protest: the reigning 
“Miss Lumbee,” Vicky Ransom, sang; the Magnolia Indian dancers per-
formed; Lumbee historian-activist Lew Barton played his electric gui-
tar; and a protester lay down on a bed of nails to dramatize the suffering 
that school integration would inflict on the Lumbee community.33

Many Lumbee objections to desegregation in Robeson County 
were identical to those of other contemporary critics of desegregation. 
Lumbee activists lamented the demise of neighborhood schools and the 
prospect of long bus rides. They resented the power of distant bureau-
crats to make local school-assignment decisions. And like racist whites, 
some (though not all) Lumbees reportedly objected to desegregation 
because they did not want to associate with blacks.34

Other Lumbee objections were distinctive. Robeson County Lum-
bees argued that segregated schooling was essential to maintaining their 
Native American identity. All-Indian schools were, they contended, 
“part of a rich cultural heritage shared by the region’s Lumbee tribes-
men.” Ripping Lumbee children away from these schools would “pro-
voke a cultural jolt and rob the children of their own folkways.” Lumbee 
activists feared that their unique “racial identity might be lost in the 
integration process.” “Keep our schools and live,” one Indian dramati-
cally declared; “leave them and die.”35

In the early 1960s, integrationist Lumbees mounted sit-ins and 
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lawsuits. A decade later, anti-integrationist Lumbees employed the 
same tactics. Sit-ins came first. Robeson County’s 1970 desegregation 
plan required about two thousand of the system’s nine thousand Lum-
bee students to be transferred to other schools. The families of five hun-
dred of these students refused. Demanding that “their” schools be “left 
alone,” they vowed to defy desegregation orders and return their children 
to Lumbee schools in the fall, “whatever the cost.” “We will sacrifice our 
lives, if necessary,” one firebrand declared in August 1970, “to continue 
to stand united for our rights and our Lumbee Indian Schools.” When 
classes started in the fall of 1970, these students staged defiant sit-ins in 
their former schools.36

Two weeks into the sit-in campaign, the school board announced 
that it would “reluctantly” arrest—for trespassing—all persons not 
authorized to be on school property. The protest dwindled. Attention 
turned to litigation. Over the previous summer, protest leader Luther 
Oxendine had written to Richard Schifter, the Austrian-born general 
counsel of the Association of American Indian Affairs, the New York–
based group that had financed the Lumbees’ earlier litigation. “[T]he 
Federal Government seems determined to wrest our Robeson County 
schools away from us,” Oxendine explained. “We protest this. We are 
writing to formally request your legal assistance.”37

Schifter refused to help Lumbee separatists. He was dismayed that 
the Lumbees, a group that recently and heroically had championed 
school integration, now opposed it. “Our basic problem here,” Schifter 
wrote to an AAIA colleague, “is that the Lumbees are opposed to inte-
gration.” That was troublesome for two reasons: “(1) It is highly unlikely 
that the law suit will succeed; and (2) . . . the law suit has overtones of 
Lumbee opposition to integration with Negroes; involvement in such 
a suit might damage the reputation of the Association [of American 
Indian Affairs].” Schifter identified the bottom line: “the Association 
should not involve itself in the litigation.”38

Lumbee protesters pursued litigation, even without AAIA support. 
They retained Tally, Tally & Bouknight, the Fayetteville firm that had 
handled the previous school cases. But the resulting federal lawsuit—
locally known as the “Prospect Suit”—went nowhere. Filed in 1970, it 
languished until mid-1978, when a federal judge finally dismissed it.39

Native American opposition to school desegregation in Robeson 
County simmered throughout the 1970s. Occasionally, it came to a boil. 
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In the spring of 1973, for instance, representatives of the Tuscaroras, 
a militant offshoot of the Lumbees whose top objective, beside fed-
eral recognition, was “to get our schools back,” planned protest meet-
ings at all of Robeson County’s “historical Indian schools,” in order 
to win, as the protestors phrased it, “the return of Indian control to 
schools that were under Indian control before desegregation.” The first 
protest was to take place at the Prospect School. County authorities, 
however, prohibited the Prospect meeting, citing construction work on 
campus. Howard Brooks, the Tuscarora chief, defiantly announced that 
the meeting would occur as planned. If necessary, he announced, he was 
“willing to die at the steps of the school.” Brooks also warned that any 
law enforcement officer who tried to prevent Indians from gathering at 
Prospect—a public school—would be guilty of “trespassing on Indian 
property.” The meeting occurred and resulted in fifty-eight arrests.40

Chief Brooks and his followers opposed desegregation with loud 
protests, but a greater number of Native Americans opposed deseg-
regation through quiet defiance. Disregarding desegregation orders, 
they continued to send their children to their preferred schools. Under 
the administration of Robeson County school superintendent Young 
H. Allen, who was white and who served from 1965 to 1977, Indian 
parents had little difficulty violating desegregation orders. Parents who 
wished to send their children to unassigned schools within their dis-
tricts did so with impunity. Those wishing to send their children across 
district lines, in defiance of explicit HEW mandates, simply submitted 
affidavits to the Robeson County Board of Education, stating that their 
children resided with relatives in their preferred districts. “These affida-
vits,” the press later reported, “were never questioned and the number of 
children crossing district lines was astronomical.”41

Enforcement stiffened in the second half of the 1970s. Ironically, an 
increase in local Indian political power facilitated the crackdown. Tra-
ditionally, Lumbees controlled individual “Indian” schools in Robeson 
County, but whites controlled all of the county’s school boards. Whites 
sustained this domination because they accounted for a plurality of the 
county’s registered voters and also because they benefited from a sus-
pect electoral scheme known to critics as “double voting.” In this prac-
tice, city residents, who were predominantly white, voted both for their 
city-specific school boards and for the countywide school board, even 
though the latter exercised no jurisdiction over the five independent 
“city” school districts. Rural residents, who were predominantly Indian 
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and black, voted only for the “county” school board. In the mid-1970s, 
a group of Robeson County Indians challenged this arrangement’s con-
stitutionality. Their victory in federal court vanquished double voting 
and democratized the county’s educational leadership.42

In 1977, a moderate Lumbee, Purnell Swett, became the Robe-
son County Board of Education’s first Native American school super-
intendent. Perhaps because he was a Native American, Swett lacked his 
predecessor’s timidity in the face of militant Indian school-assignment 
violators. (Superintendent Allen, Swett’s white predecessor, allegedly 
ceased enforcing school-assignment rules following an intimidating 
1973 anti-integration protest, during which militant Lumbees occu-
pied school board offices.) The Swett administration’s pathbreaking 
willingness to enforce federally mandated integration caused “quite a 
stir” in the county, according to press reports, “especially for those fami-
lies where [a student] had attended a particular school all his life” and 
now was forced to attend a different school. Such was the case with the 
defendants in State v. Chavis.43

At the time of the Swett administration’s crackdown in the summer 
of 1978, the children of Braxton Chavis had, despite their assignment 
elsewhere, attended the Prospect School for so many years that school 
administrators wrongly assumed that they belonged there. County offi-
cials charged with belatedly enforcing HEW desegregation orders dis-
covered this irregularity just prior to the start of the 1978–1979 school 
year. Gently but firmly—in personal home visits, followed by certified 
letters—officials informed the Chavises and other similarly situated 
parents that their children would have to transfer from Prospect to their 
duly assigned schools.44

Officials treated parents in a gingerly fashion because they recog-
nized the situation’s political volatility. They also sympathized with the 
people involved. When several Indian parents pleaded for permission 
to continue sending their children to schools to which they were not 
assigned, the Robeson County Board of Education spent more than 
two hours “trying to find a legal way” to grant their requests. Given 
HEW mandates and the risk of losing federal funding, however, the 
school board concluded that “[t]here [was] just no legal way to do it.” 
The press reported that “several” school board members left the meet-
ing with “[m]isty eyes” and “lumps in the[ir] throats.”45

Home visits failed to placate the Chavis parents, who continued to 
insist that, as parents and Native Americans, they had, in the words of 
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Chavis defendant Sanford Barton, “freedom of choice to send [their] 
children to whatever school [they] desire[d].” (In a 2003 telephone 
interview, Barton stood by this view: “I believed I was right [then], and 
I still believe I was right.”) Although Swett disagreed with the parents’ 
legal analysis, he responded sympathetically. The superintendent took 
the trouble to ask HEW whether or not he could grant Native Ameri-
cans “special exemptions” to school-assignment rules. HEW said no 
and reminded Swett that federal funding could be withheld if Robeson 
County failed to desegregate.46

On the first day of the 1978–1979 school year, the Chavis chil-
dren and dozens of other unassigned pupils appeared at Prospect. The 
school board, anticipating such defiance, had instructed Prospect prin-
cipal James A. Jones to allow such students to remain on campus in 
order to avoid open conflict and bad press. But Jones was to provide no 
class materials or classroom instruction. Following orders, Jones sepa-
rated the thirty “Prospect Sit-ins” from the rest of the student body and 
assigned a teacher’s aide to sit with them. Day after day, these children 
reappeared, although they received neither instruction nor course credit. 
Some children abandoned the protest fairly quickly. Thirteen, however, 
remained at Prospect for the entire year.47

About one month into the fall term, eight parents of the thirteen 
persistent protesters were arrested and charged with violating compul-
sory school-attendance laws by failing to cause their school-age chil-
dren to attend the public schools to which they had been assigned. The 
parents pleaded not guilty. Their cases were consolidated into State v. 
Chavis et al. for a single jury trial in Robeson County superior court.48

The Chavis defendants retained Bruce T. Cunningham Jr., a young 
white lawyer. Cunningham practiced law two counties away from 
Robeson, a major plus in the eyes of his clients. The defendants did 
not trust the local bar to stand up to Robeson County district attorney 
Joe Freeman Britt, a bulldog of a lawyer whom the Guinness Book of 
World Records had recently dubbed the “World’s Deadliest Prosecutor” 
because of his unrivaled record of obtaining death-penalty convictions. 
Cunningham practiced law in Moore County, well beyond Britt’s reach. 
He also appealed to the defendants because he was well-credentialed, 
liberal, and familiar with Native American issues, having represented 
Robeson County Indians in previous disputes.49

The Chavis case engaged Cunningham’s liberalism. As an under-
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graduate at the University of North Carolina in the late 1960s and a law 
student at the University of Virginia in the early 1970s, Cunningham 
had absorbed the liberal values that, later in life, would inspire him to 
become a leading advocate for capital punishment reform. He sympa-
thized with the Chavis defendants and eagerly took their case.50

Cunningham’s enthusiasm contrasts revealingly with AAIA gen-
eral counsel Richard Schifter’s previous refusal to help the Lumbees 
fight school integration in the Prospect suit of 1970. Cunningham, like 
Schifter, was a civil rights liberal; he sympathized with minority groups 
and fought to improve their situations. Years later, when recalling the 
Chavis defendants, Cunningham voiced “mid-century” civil rights sen-
timents: “These [were] guys that grew up laying brick on buildings that 
they couldn’t go into, experiencing segregation where they weren’t good 
enough.” But Cunningham, who graduated from law school in 1973, 
was from a later generation of civil rights liberals. Cunningham’s gen-
eration was as quick as Schifter’s had been to diagnose the disease of 
racism but was more open to race-conscious remedies of the sort sought 
by the Chavis defendants. This difference reflected broader intellectual 
trends.

During the 1970s, the universalism that underlay mid-century civil 
rights liberalism declined. Reform thought underwent a “re-tribalizing” 
trend. Liberals focused increasingly on what social scientists called 
“descent-based communities.” They spoke less of “unity” and more of 
“diversity”; less of “melting pots,” more of “mosaics.” Species-centered 
works such as One World and The Family of Man gave way to “ethnos-
centered” works, such as The World of Our Fathers (Irving Howe’s best-
selling 1976 exploration of the Jewish American experience) and Roots 
(Alex Haley’s mega-best-selling 1976 exploration of the African Amer-
ican experience, a book that suggested, John Howard Griffin’s Black Like 
Me notwithstanding, that black identity was much more than skin deep). 
Historical writing on immigration and ethnicity flourished; writing on 
American political history took an ethno-cultural turn. “Kiss me, I’m 
Irish”—or Italian, or Polish, etc.—buttons proliferated. Black nation-
alists rejected integrated schooling and embraced what later would be 
called “Afrocentric” education, either in all-black private schools or in 
newly black-controlled public schools in black communities.51

The ethnic turn of the 1970s helped Robeson County Native Ameri-
cans find legal counsel willing to support their separatist aims. Although 
Cunningham personally favored integration (he later expressed happi-
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ness that his own daughters had been able to attend integrated public 
schools), he nonetheless sympathized with the Chavis defendants’ argu-
ment that mandatory integration, if taken to an extreme, threatened 
to replace valuable diversity with, in Cunningham’s phrase, “generic, 
homogenized people.” Cunningham’s late-century liberalism also pre-
disposed him to accept the argument that the Native American tradition 
of elder worship gave special weight to requests that Indian children be 
allowed to attend their forebears’ schools.52

As a late-century civil rights liberal, Cunningham was also more 
open than Schifter had been to the notion that racial distinctions could 
legitimately be used to compensate minority groups for past mistreat-
ment. For centuries, the white-dominated legal system in Robeson 
County had used Indianness against Native Americans. It was only fair, 
Cunningham believed, that the legal system now enable Native Ameri-
cans to use Indianness to their advantage.53

Years later, Cunningham told an interviewer, “What we were doing 
[in Chavis] was . . . resisting desegregation to the extent that it homoge-
nized a culture into oblivion. Democracy is a great form of government, 
as long as you’re in the majority. But if you are a small segment . . . that 
has [its] own sets of beliefs and priorities, democracy is not necessar-
ily the best form of government because it tends to treat everybody the 
same without recognizing [differences].” Differences in mind-set—in 
“how you use the Earth, how you respect tradition,” and so forth—did 
separate “Indians [from] white Europeans,” Cunningham believed. His-
tory and justice demanded special regard for Indian concerns. “You’ve 
got to understand,” Cunningham explained. “They were here first.”54

Besides considering the Prospect suit of 1970 objectionable, Rich-
ard Schifter of the AAIA had considered it unwinnable. By the fall of 
1978, however, the law had changed enough to convince Cunningham 
that victory was possible. The use of racial classifications to benefit pre-
viously subjugated groups was much more common in schools and else-
where in the late 1970s than it had been at the decade’s outset. In June 
1978, just three months before the Chavis arrests, the U.S. Supreme 
Court ruled in its famous Bakke “affirmative action” decision that 
government-funded schools could treat minority applicants preferen-
tially, as long as those schools did not employ numerical quotas. Robe-
son County took note. The Robesonian explained Bakke’s significance 
this way: henceforth, “minority groups are entitled to special consider-
ation” and “reverse discrimination is legally permissible” in educational 
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settings under some circumstances. Native American opponents of 
school desegregation likely took heart.55

To Cunningham, however, the key precedent for Chavis was not 
Bakke. It was Wisconsin v. Yoder (1972), another school-related U.S. 
Supreme Court case that, like Bakke, had been unavailable to Schifter 
at the time of the Prospect suit. In Yoder, the Supreme Court ruled that 
the First Amendment’s free-exercise-of-religion clause exempted cer-
tain Amish children from Wisconsin’s compulsory school-attendance 
laws. Education of the sort compelled by the state, the Amish litigants 
successfully argued, threatened their ability to sustain some of their 
community’s most cherished customs and beliefs. Although Yoder did 
not concern race, it reflected the late-century liberal belief that cultur-
ally distinctive communities were valuable and deserved protection. 
Bruce Cunningham believed that Yoder applied directly to Chavis. “Our 
argument” in Chavis, he explained years later, “was that, under the Wis-
consin v. Yoder case, if there are strongly held beliefs that would impact 
the decision of whether or not to send your kid to school [as in Yoder] 
or where to send your kid to school [as in Chavis], then you could be 
exempt” from general school-attendance laws.56

Braxton Chavis and the other Native American parents analyzed 
the law differently. To them, the key legal context was neither Bakke 
nor Yoder but a recent trend in American public life supporting Native 
American self-determination. During the 1950s, the dominant theme 
of U.S. Indian policy had been “termination.” This policy sought the 
eradication of tribal identity and the assimilation of Native Americans 
into the mainstream. By 1970, however, termination had been soundly 
repudiated as being, in President Richard Nixon’s words, “morally and 
legally unacceptable.” The new polestar of federal Indian policy was 
“self-determination.” Nowhere did this star shine more brightly than 
in education policy. “Education of Indians should be controlled by 
Indians,” a federal report announced in 1970. Federal laws such as the 
Indian Education Act of 1972 and the Indian Self-Determination and 
Education Assistance Act of 1975 sought to put the theory of Indian 
educational self-determination into practice.57

The federal government’s “self-determination” policy toward Native 
Americans during the 1970s emboldened Robeson County opponents 
of school integration. When urging the creation of a separate Indian 
school system in Robeson County in 1972, for instance, separatists para-
phrased President Nixon’s alleged declaration that “any Indian group 
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that wanted to control its own schools should have the right to do so.” 
Two years later, an HEW grant funded the establishment of three “Lum-
bee Longhouse Learning Centers” in Robeson County. These were half-
day preschools designed to expose Native American youngsters to Indian 
culture and history. “We want to teach the children who they are and 
to be proud of their heritage,” one Lumbee proponent explained. “This 
is an Indian education project,” she added, “not just an education proj-
ect.” Native American parents in Robeson County may have perceived 
mixed messages in HEW’s willingness to fund these Indian-only “Long-
house Learning Centers” for three-to-five year-olds while simultaneously 
enacting a countywide desegregation plan for older children.58

The federal government sent similarly mixed messages in 1973. In 
that year, Washington denied Robeson County’s request for $273,000 
in Emergency School Assistance Act money on the ground that some 
of the county’s schools remained “racially identifiable.” But at the same 
time, the federal government gave Robeson County almost $500,000 
in Indian Education Act (IEA) money precisely because “[s]ome of 
the racially identifiable schools have a largely Indian enrollment.” (By 
the time of the Chavis case, Robeson County’s annual IEA take had 
increased to nearly $900,000. According to the Robesonian, only one 
county in the nation—Gallup County, New Mexico—received more 
IEA money than Robeson did.) The Prospect School’s huge Indian 
enrollment enabled it to receive more IEA money than any other school 
in the county. School administrators at Prospect had little incentive to 
promote desegregation, since Indian enrollment declines would cause 
IEA funding to decrease.59

Federal support for Indian educational autonomy inspired the 
Chavis defendants and other separatists to argue that their Indianness 
entitled them to distinctive legal treatment, especially in the area of 
education. Throughout the 1970s, Lumbee separatists, citing the IEA 
and other federal measures, argued that Robeson County’s Indians 
“should be allowed to attend the Indian schools of Robeson County.” 
Since none of the county’s schools, thanks to desegregation, remained 
exclusively Indian, Native Americans “should be allowed to attend the 
schools of their choice, regardless of present school boundaries.”60 This, 
in a nutshell, was the argument of the Chavis defendants.

In State v. Chavis, as in many criminal trials, jury selection was key. 
Defense attorney Cunningham sought to prepare prospective jurors for 
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his Yoder defense. On voir dire, he asked potential jurors, “Do you accept 
that there can be a belief higher or more important to [the criminal 
defendants] . . . than the guidelines and policies set by a school board and 
HEW?” Prosecutors made more productive use of their time. Wield-
ing peremptory challenges like race-conscious chisels, they sculpted the 
jury to six whites, five blacks, and only one Indian. Native Americans 
accounted for one-third of the county’s population, but just one-twelfth 
of the Chavis jury.61

On 21 January 1979, a large crowd gathered in the Robeson County 
superior court in Lumberton to witness State v. Chavis. “There was 
huge interest,” presiding Judge Anthony Brannon recalled years later. 
“The courtroom was filled.”62

School superintendent Purnell Swett and two school principals tes-
tified for the prosecution. They affirmed that the defendants, though 
clearly aware of the schools to which their children had been assigned, 
“were not sending their [children] to the properly assigned school[s].” 
“There was a ton of evidence,” Judge Brannon remembered thinking, 
“that the defendants had in fact violated the . . . law.” The state rested.63

Prior to the trial, defense attorney Cunningham, with Yoder in mind, 
hinted to the press that he planned to emphasize religious freedom. One 
defendant toed this line by testifying in court that it was his “Christian 
belief ” that parents had the right to control their children’s upbring-
ing. On the whole, however, defendants emphasized Indian rights, not 
religious freedom. They maintained that, as Indians, they were exempt 
from all desegregation orders stemming from the Civil Rights Act of 
1964. “Martin Luther King’s Law,” they explained, applied to blacks 
and whites only. “I consider myself an American Indian,” Bertha Oxen-
dine testified. “The Civil Rights Act [of 1964] was not passed on an 
Indian. It was on the black and white. The Civil Rights Act does not 
apply to Indians.” Braxton Chavis similarly argued that he had the right 
to defy desegregation orders “because I am an American Indian.” “The 
federal law in 1964 might have fallen on the rest but it did not fall on 
the Indian,” he explained. “It just doesn’t apply to an Indian.”64

That the Chavis defendants would make such arguments in court 
reveals a good deal about their core beliefs. That they could make such 
arguments in court reveals an equal amount about the lawyers and the 
judge in the case. Cunningham helped his clients to voice their unorth-
odox views. He interrogated with a light touch, allowing them to speak 
their minds. Cunningham personally would have preferred a Yoder-
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style approach, stressing communal customs and spiritual beliefs, not a 
blood-based approach stressing Indian exceptionalism. In light of the 
jury’s ethnic composition, Cunningham’s preference made sense. But 
Cunningham respectfully deferred to his clients’ preferences.

Judge Brannon also helped the defendants to air their deeply held 
grievances in court. Brannon, who was white, knew that centuries of 
legal mistreatment had alienated many Robeson County Indians. He 
feared that stifling the defendants’ testimony, even for legally legitimate 
reasons, might confirm their suspicion that the white-dominated legal 
system was hopelessly biased against them. “It is extremely important,” 
Brannon reasoned, explaining his decision to allow essentially unfet-
tered Native American testimony in Chavis, “that . . . the Indian popu-
lation understand that their case is being handled in accordance with 
the law—that nothing is cooked up in the back room to screw them.”65

Brannon’s decision to relax the usual rules of evidence in Chavis 
facilitated what might be termed the “testimonial-therapeutic” function 
of protest litigation. In politically charged cases such as Chavis, Bran-
non believed, disaffected groups, in addition to seeking legal victory, 
often simply want to have their say. They want powerful people to sit, 
listen, and take their grievances seriously. In Chavis, Brannon insisted 
that the parents have their full say—and that all others in the courtroom 
listen respectfully.

The parents’ desire to have their say, and the bench and bar’s will-
ingness to listen, accord with the “human-potential” movement of the 
1970s—a pop-psychology trend that, as one critic lamented, “invaded 
just about every level of society” during the decade. At the core of this 
movement lay “encounter groups” and “sensitivity training” sessions, 
during which “facilitators” urged participants to express frank emotions 
in a group setting. Race relations presented especially fertile ground for 
this movement. The federal government spent hundreds of thousands 
of dollars per year organizing “race awareness meetings” for its workers. 
Both the U.S. Army and Navy sponsored “race relations seminars” at 
which black and white service members of all ranks “go at each other 
over the emotional issue of race.” By the time of the Chavis trial, the 
race awareness meeting, where (among other things) minorities were 
encouraged to vent and whites were encouraged to listen and learn, was 
a familiar institution.66

Race awareness meetings were designed to produce therapeutic 
venting of pent-up grievances. Judge Brannon hoped that the parents’ 
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testimony in Chavis would do so. “In large measure,” he reflected years 
later, “what [the Chavis defendants] wanted, I think, was . . . to tell their 
story and express their complaints and not be cut off.” An expert on the 
rules of evidence, Judge Brannon knew that, in most trials, as he put it, 
“You can’t just get up there [on the witness stand] and run your mouth.” 
But he also knew that, as a trial judge, he had wide discretion over the 
implementation of these rules.67

Brannon allowed the Chavis defendants the widest possible testi-
monial latitude. When the parents took the witness stand, “[t]he rules 
of evidence went right out the window, as far as I was concerned,” he 
recalled. “Whatever they wanted to say, they could be my guest.” Law-
yers on both sides agreed with this approach. “We were all trying to get 
this job done right,” Brannon explained, “so that everybody got to sing 
their song.”68

After the testimony, Assistant Attorney General Woodberry Bowen 
delivered closing remarks for the prosecution that invoked the story of 
Pandora’s box. If you let one group of people pick and choose where 
they are going to send their children to school, Bowen warned, then you 
will have to let everybody do so.69

Cunningham, in presenting his closing remarks to the 92 percent 
non-Indian jury, pulled back from his clients’ racial essentialism. He 
stressed family values, education, and the best interest of the children. 
He also played to antibureaucratic sentiments, which he knew crossed 
political and ethnic lines in Robeson County. Use your vote in this 
case, he urged jurors, to say that “you have had enough and you are not 
going to let an outside government agency tell you what to do with your 
family.”70

Judge Brannon suspected that the jury would vote to convict, but he 
wanted to assure the Native American parents that the legal system was 
not deaf to their concerns. To that end, he and Cunningham agreed that 
the latter would distill the parents’ principal contentions into a request 
for a jury charge, a request that Brannon would deny. Brannon’s refusal 
to charge the jury as requested would give the defendants an automatic 
ground for appeal should they be convicted. “This is the way,” Brannon 
reasoned, “for [the defendants] to put the whole theory of their case in 
written form and take it up to . . . appellate court so that that precise 
question can be a question of law that will be answered one way or 
another.” After appellate judges in Raleigh and perhaps Washington, 
D.C., ruled in their case, Brannon thought, the defendants, win or lose, 



186  Law and Society in the South

could at least rest assured that “it wasn’t someone in Robeson County 
putting the fix on them.”71

As planned, Cunningham requested particular jury instructions. He 
asked Judge Brannon to tell jurors that they should return a verdict 
of not guilty if they concluded that the defendants had failed to send 
their children to assigned schools “because of their good faith belief that 
as American Indians they are exempt from school board attendance 
guidelines established at the direction of the Department of Health, 
Education and Welfare.”72 Judge Brannon refused this request. Before 
delivering his own jury charge, however, he asked the jury to leave the 
courtroom for a moment, so that he could explain his actions to the 
defendants and their sympathizers. He announced that he would not 
instruct the jury to acquit if they found that the defendants had held a 
good faith belief that their ethnicity exempted them from desegrega-
tion orders. “I understand your contention that it should be the law,” he 
told the parents from the bench. “Obviously, this is an issue bigger than 
those of you here, whether your status as an American Indian entitles 
you to certain things, if you have rights outside of the general statutes.” 
Should the jury convict them, Brannon assured them, their “test case” 
would not end. They could—and, he implied, should—use his refusal to 
instruct the jury as requested as a ground for appeal.73

It took the jury thirty minutes to find the defendants guilty. 
Although the parents received sentences of fifteen to twenty days in jail, 
Judge Brannon promised to suspend those sentences as long as the par-
ents promised to send their children to assigned schools the following 
fall. In the meantime, Brannon declared in his February 1979 ruling, 
the defendants’ children could remain at Prospect School for the rest of 
the school year, even though this would violate HEW rules. Brannon 
ordered school officials to provide the children with books, instruction, 
and academic credit.74

After announcing this generous sentence, Brannon assured the defen-
dants of his belief that their case concerned a “serious principle.” He hoped 
that an appellate court would soon resolve their case’s central question. “If 
I am wrong in my [jury] charge, based on your status as Native American 
Indians,” Brannon told the defendants, an appellate court would overturn 
their convictions and “you will not have lost but won.”75

The North Carolina Court of Appeals heard State v. Chavis in the fall 
of 1979. The one and only issue was whether the trial court had erred 
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in refusing the defendants’ requested jury instructions. “That was the 
only assignment of error,” Judge Brannon proudly recalled. “Folks, that’s 
almost unique in a criminal case. . . . I let in every last thing the defense 
wanted . . . because it was an important case to be heard.”76

Cunningham’s appellate brief sought to distinguish Chavis from In 
re McMillan, a 1976 North Carolina appeal that resembled Chavis in 
many respects, including defense attorney. (Cunningham represented 
Indian families in both cases.) In McMillan, two Native American par-
ents from Robeson County had refused to allow their children to attend 
school “because the children were not taught about Indians, Indian 
heritage and culture in the school.” On appeal, Cunningham argued 
that the Robeson parents’ “deep-rooted conviction for Indian heritage,” 
much like the Amish parents’ deep-rooted beliefs in Wisconsin v. Yoder, 
justified their refusal to send their children to school. The North Caro-
lina Court of Appeals disagreed and upheld the parents’ convictions.77

Three years later, Cunningham attempted to distinguish Chavis 
from McMillan. The McMillan parents had refused to send their chil-
dren to any school whatsoever. In contrast, the Chavis parents had scru-
pulously sent their children to school every day. Clearly, Cunningham 
argued, “each parent [in Chavis] is concerned with his children’s welfare 
and wants to see them get a good education. . . . [E]ach parent sent his 
child to a public school and continued to send his child to school for 
the entire year.” Cunningham’s elaboration on this argument empha-
sized “late-century” multicultural themes. “[I]n this case the parents 
wanted not only for their children to receive an education in the basic 
subjects, but also to have instilled in them a sense of history and pride 
that comes with being from a part of tradition,” he argued. “Such feel-
ings should not be labeled as criminal in the State of North Carolina.”78 
Cunningham also contended that the Chavis parents held a “good faith 
belief ” that their Indianness exempted them from school-assignment 
laws. This belief, Cunningham suggested, constituted “a defense to the 
offense charged.”79

He lost. The North Carolina Court of Appeals’ 1980 ruling rejected 
all of Cunningham’s arguments. The court conceded that, under fed-
eral law, the legal status of Native Americans was indeed “unique.” But 
this uniqueness applied only to “American Indian as a political classi-
fication,” not “American Indian as a racial classification.” Members of 
federally recognized tribes who lived on reservations enjoyed “politi-
cal classification” as Native Americans and qualified for distinctive 
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legal treatment in areas such as “political sovereignty and tribal self-
government.” As a “racial classification,” however, “American Indian” 
warranted no special legal treatment. Native Americans such as the 
Chavis parents—who were not members of a federally recognized tribe 
and who did not live on a reservation—had to comply with all gener-
ally applicable laws, including desegregation orders. The HEW plan 
for Robeson County affected the Chavis parents “as it affects all other 
county residents,” the court ruled. “The trial court properly refused to 
give the tendered instruction. No error.”80

The Chavis parents appealed and appealed again, hoping that their 
voices would be heard in Raleigh and Washington, but both the North 
Carolina Supreme Court and the Supreme Court of the United States 
declined to hear their case. Attorney Cunningham speculated that the 
upper courts sidestepped Chavis because it concerned some of the most 
nettlesome questions in American public life: How color-blind should 
our government be? How can we publicly acknowledge “diversity and 
cultural heritage” while at the same time “not allowing things over 
which a person has no control to determine governmental benefits and 
status?” In Cunningham’s view, these questions remained just as vexing 
at the dawn of the twenty-first century as they were at the time of the 
Chavis trial.81

The defendants in State v. Chavis failed to change the law. Their 
experiences in the legal system, however, appeared to change them. The 
respectful treatment that they encountered from sympathetic lawyers 
and judges took the edge off of their militancy and reduced the suspi-
cion with which they had regarded the legal system. Although Judge 
Brannon had presided at the trial that resulted in the parents’ criminal 
convictions, he won their respect. Braxton Chavis commented at pro-
ceedings’ end that Brannon “was a fine judge, an honest man.” When 
the U.S. Supreme Court ended all hope of victory by refusing to grant 
certiorari in the fall of 1980, the Chavis parents accepted their defeat. 
Braxton Chavis, absent any of the fire that just two years previously 
had inspired him to defy the law by refusing to send his children to 
Oxendine School, remarked, “I’ve got to abide with what they say. We’re 
sending our children to Oxendine.”82

Following Chavis, Robeson County’s heated education debate 
cooled. Superintendent Swett never surrendered to those of his fellow 
Native Americans who opposed integration, but he “kept the dialogue 
going.” He showed antidesegregationists that he had respect for their 
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ideas, even though he did not necessarily agree with them. “I treated 
them like human beings,” he recalled. As a result, “we gradually resolved 
that problem without any conflicts.”83

State v. Chavis was an unusual case. It was a southern school deseg-
regation dispute, yet Native Americans, not whites or African Ameri-
cans, were the protagonists. It was a criminal case, yet the defendants, 
as Judge Brannon told reporters following the jury’s verdict, were “con-
cerned parents, not criminals.” Perhaps most unusually, as Brannon 
noted, State v. Chavis had, “unlike a lot of school desegregation suits,” 
“no villains. . . . I don’t think a single person involved in it has anything 
to regret or hide. . . . That’s not always true. This is an atypical case. . . . 
Everybody was acting in good faith.”84
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Conclusion

The preceding eight chapters challenge two common assumptions 
regarding the nature of American law. The first assumption—no lon-
ger widespread among scholars, perhaps, but influential nonetheless— 
portrays the American legal process (litigation) as an impartial and apo-
litical form of dispute resolution. Reassuringly, the North Carolina legal 
system portrayed in these pages sometimes resembled this “rule of law” 
ideal. Some judges were willing to defy popular (and personal) preju-
dices in order to enforce legal rules and precedents, as when the North 
Carolina Supreme Court in 1877 felt “compelled” to uphold the validity 
of Pinkney and Sarah Ross’s interracial marriage, even though the jus-
tices personally claimed to find such marriages “revolting.”1

Sometimes, however, the North Carolina legal system did not 
reflect the rule of law ideal. Prosecutorial enforcement of longstanding 
laws swung from laxness to vigilance as political winds shifted. Some 
judges used the judicial bench to fire subjective volleys in the culture 
wars of their day. Some of them bent legal rules in controversial cases so 
as to discourage would-be critics from attacking and perhaps weaken-
ing the state’s judiciary. As one unusually candid judge acknowledged 
while delivering an admittedly flawed ruling, “This is a concession to 
the . . . prejudices of the community upon this subject.”2 Such admis-
sions were rare; such actions were not.

The second assumption challenged in the preceding pages is the 
“elite dominance” model, which portrays law as a tool that privileged 
classes use to perpetuate their supremacy. Again, there is some truth 
to this notion. The law indeed reinforced social stratification, as exem-
plified by North Carolina’s long record of legalized racial oppression, 
beginning with slavery. But no “one-size-fits-all” class analysis works. 
Throughout its history, North Carolina’s legal system has been a forum 
in which shifting coalitions clashed. Chapter 3, for instance, details a 
Jim Crow housing segregation dispute between two interclass alliances. 
On the pro–Jim Crow side was a coalition of lower-middle-class whites, 
the Winston city government, and a technocratic solicitor who was a 
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nationally known expert in segregation law. On the anti–Jim Crow side 
were a poor African American tobacco worker, a small-time white real 
estate agent, and two of Winston’s most prestigious lawyers. The local 
trial court ruled in favor of the former coalition. The North Carolina 
Supreme Court reversed the local court’s decision and sided with the 
latter coalition. Disputes in other chapters involved similarly jumbled 
alliances.

The elite dominance model falls short in at least two additional 
respects. It fails to capture the impressive degree of initiative that non-
elite North Carolinians have displayed within their state’s legal system. 
And it fails to predict legal outcomes with any consistency. Consider 
race—one of the key themes of this book and of southern history gen-
erally. Elite dominance theory would presumably envision state-court 
losses for the interracial married couple that faced criminal prosecution 
during the late 1870s, the black tobacco worker who challenged Jim 
Crow in Progressive Era Winston, and the black attorney who sought 
to advance African American voting rights by attacking the literacy test 
in the early 1960s. Yet all three won at least partial victories.

The legal system described in this book was neither an entirely neu-
tral arbiter of social conflict nor a blunt weapon of elite dominance. It 
was a less predictable entity, a forum within which a wide array of North 
Carolinians continually renegotiated basic social values and rules, while 
vying for personal, group, and institutional advantage.

Many of this book’s historical observations hold true to this day. North 
Carolina’s bench and bar are still, on balance, considerably more elite 
than the litigants they serve. The state’s legal system remains neither an 
entirely neutral forum for dispute resolution nor a crude cudgel of elite 
dominance. And state law continues to affect, in fundamental ways, 
innumerable aspects of North Carolina life: crime and punishment 
(including the death penalty), public education, voting rights, medi-
cal malpractice, agriculture, corporations, contracts, business practices, 
labor relations, sexual harassment, marriage, divorce, adoption, child 
custody, domestic violence, zoning ordinances, property rights, envi-
ronmental protection, and many, many more.3

Similarly, many of the changes identified in the preceding chapters 
continue apace. The diversification of the North Carolina bar, noted 
above, continues. Perhaps most remarkable has been the massive entry 
of women into the legal profession. Nell Battle Lewis was a rarity as a 
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female attorney in the early 1930s. Today, the state’s youngest cohort of 
lawyers—those ages thirty and under—is about equally split between 
men and women. Each year, as the fifty-fifty cohort of young lawyers 
gradually replaces retirees from the state’s oldest cohort—among whom 
men, as of the beginning of the twenty-first century, still accounted for 
97 percent of the total—gender balance in the state bar increases.4

Likewise, African American lawyers are much more common today 
than they once were. In 1950, on the eve of desegregation, African 
Americans accounted for about 1 percent of North Carolina’s legal pro-
fessionals. Thirty years later, they accounted for more than 6 percent of 
the state’s lawyers. The recent stagnation of this figure has frustrated 
concerned parties in the state. In a U.S. Supreme Court case of 2003, 
the UNC Law School, which had fought so hard in the mid-twentieth 
century for the right to exclude blacks, fought equally hard for the right 
to continue employing race-conscious admissions procedures in order 
to prevent a drop in its minority student enrollment.5

Changes in the state judiciary mirror those in the state bar. The 
North Carolina bench described in this book was entirely white and 
male. This is no longer true. In 2006, North Carolina Supreme Court 
associate justice Sarah Parker was promoted to chief justice. The most 
significant aspect of Parker’s promotion to the state’s highest judicial 
post may be that nobody much cared that she was female. Two other 
women had preceded her as chief justice. Novelty seekers were more 
interested in Patricia Timmons-Goodson, Parker’s replacement as asso-
ciate justice, who became the first black woman to serve on the North 
Carolina Supreme Court. (The court’s first African American man, 
Henry Frye, became associate justice in 1983 and chief justice in 1999. 
In a story that recalls the career of James R. Walker Jr., Frye allegedly 
was inspired to become a lawyer in the mid-1950s when, although a 
college graduate and a U.S. Air Force captain, he was forced to submit 
to a degrading literacy test as a condition of North Carolina voter regis-
tration. North Carolina election officials judged Frye not to have passed 
the “literacy” test because he was unable name from memory the signers 
of the Declaration of Independence.)6

Another major trend identified in these histories also continues: the 
ever-expanding reach of federal law. This trend is unlikely to be reversed. 
As noted, however, state law retains jurisdiction over many vital areas 
of American life. Moreover, the expansion of federal law into tradition-
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ally state-controlled fields does not necessarily terminate state action in 
those fields. For instance, although the federal judiciary famously colo-
nized abortion law in Roe v. Wade (1973), the North Carolina courts 
continue to decide disputes regarding abortion access, abortion fund-
ing, abortion protests, and the like. Similarly, the existence of the Envi-
ronmental Protection Agency in Washington, D.C., does not preclude 
the parallel presence of—and the frequent state-level litigation initi-
ated by—North Carolina’s Department of Environment and Natural 
Resources.7

Indeed, more federal law sometimes begets more state law. Medic-
aid, a health insurance program for low-income individuals, for exam-
ple, was established in 1965 by federal statute but is administered by 
each state individually. The state-level bureaucracies established to 
implement this federal initiative are prodigiously active. In 2000 alone, 
some 1.2 million North Carolina residents—about 15 percent of the 
state’s total—received Medicaid benefits. Disputes over Medicaid bill-
ing, funding levels, eligibility, and the like frequently reach the North 
Carolina courts.8

Federal court decisions, like federal statutes, also can generate state 
law. This can be true even when federal rulings appear to limit state 
action. In Lawrence v. Texas (2003), the Supreme Court of the United 
States held that states could no longer criminalize homosexual acts 
between consenting adults. Although Lawrence prohibited one class of 
state cases (prosecutions for consensual homosexual acts), such prosecu-
tions were actually quite rare, as Justice Anthony M. Kennedy’s majority 
ruling noted. The loss of this class of state cases was more than offset by 
the creation of another class: litigation designed to determine Lawrence’s 
implications for state law. Among the North Carolina cases of this sort 
was one in which a lower-court judge used Lawrence to strike down the 
state’s age-old “fornication and adultery” statute—the law under which 
Pinkney and Sarah Ross were prosecuted in the 1870s.9

Even in the age of federal law expansion, state law will continue 
to grow, change, and matter. History students generations hence who 
gather around a seminar table seeking insight into the past will be well 
advised to peer closely into the “magic mirror” of state law.
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